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BENICIA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 
City Council Chambers 

January 03, 2012 
7:00 PM 

Times set forth for the agenda items are estimates.   
Items may be heard before or after the times designated.                             

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER (7:00 PM): 
 
II. CLOSED SESSION: 
 
III. CONVENE OPEN SESSION: 
 

A. ROLL CALL.  
 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE.  
 

C. REFERENCE TO THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC. 
 

A plaque stating the fundamental rights of each member of the public is posted at 
the entrance to this meeting room per section 4.04.030 of the City of Benicia's 
Open Government Ordinance. 

 
IV. ANNOUNCEMENTS/APPOINTMENTS/PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS: 
 

A. ANNOUNCEMENTS.  
 

1. Announcement of action taken at Closed Session, if any. 
 

2. Openings on Boards and Commissions: 
 

Library Board of Trustees 
2 full terms  
Application Due Date: January 13, 2012 
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Planning Commission 
3 full terms   
Application Due Date: January 13, 2012 

 
Arts and Culture Commission 
3 full terms 
Application Due Date: January 13, 2012 

 
Community Sustainability Commission  
1 full term Application  
Due Date: January 13, 2012 

 
Benicia Housing Authority Board of Commissioners 
2 full terms 
Application Due Date: January 13, 2012 

 
Economic Development Board 
1 unexpired term 
Application Due Date: January 13, 2012 

 
SolTrans Public Advisory Committee 
3 full terms  
Open Until Filled 

 
Sky Valley Open Space Committee 
1 full term  
Open Until Filled 

 
Building Board of Appeals 
3 full terms  
Open Until Filled 

 
Solano Transportation Authority Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
1 full term  
Open Until Filled 

 
3. Mayor’s Office Hours:  

Mayor Patterson will maintain an open office every Monday (except 
holidays) in the Mayor’s Office of City Hall from 6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. No 
appointment is necessary. Other meeting times may be scheduled 
through the City Hall office at 746-4200. 

 
4. Benicia Arsenal Update: 
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B. APPOINTMENTS.  

 
C. PRESENTATIONS.  

 
D. PROCLAMATIONS.  

 
V. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: 
 
VI. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons wishing to address the Council 
on any matter not on the agenda that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
City Council.  State law prohibits the City Council from responding to or acting upon 
matters not listed on the agenda.  Each speaker has a maximum of five minutes for 
public comment.  If others have already expressed your position, you may simply 
indicate that you agree with a previous speaker.  If appropriate, a spokesperson 
may present the views of your entire group.  Speakers may not make personal 
attacks on council members, staff or members of the public, or make comments 
which are slanderous or which may invade an individual’s personal privacy. 

 
A. WRITTEN COMMENT.  

 
B. PUBLIC COMMENT.  

 
VII. CONSENT CALENDAR (7:15 PM): 
 

Items listed on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be enacted, 
approved or adopted by one motion unless a request for removal or explanation is 
received from a Council Member, staff or member of the public. Items removed 
from the Consent Calendar shall be considered immediately following the adoption 
of the Consent Calendar. 

 
A. Approval of Minutes of the special meetings of December 12, 2011 and 

December 20, 2011. (City Clerk).  
 

B. REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE 
QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 2011. (Finance Director) 
 

 The investment portfolio is in compliance with the City's Investment Policy and 
California Law.  Additionally, the City has adequate investments to meet its 
expenditure needs for the next six months.  The Finance Committee has 
reviewed these reports and recommends acceptance. 

 
Recommendation:  Accept, by motion, the investment report for the 
quarter ended September 2011. 
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C. ADOPTION OF THE 2012 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

CALENDAR. (City Manager) 
 

 The Open Government Ordinance (Section 4.08.040 of Ordinance No. 05-6) 
states that each body established by ordinance shall establish and publish an 
annual schedule of regular meetings.  The proposed calendar lists the City 
Council’s regular meeting dates for 2012. 

 
Recommendation:  Adopt, by motion, the 2012 City Council Regular 
Meeting Calendar. 

 
D. Approval to waive the reading of all ordinances introduced and adopted 

pursuant to this agenda. 
 
VIII. BUSINESS ITEMS (7:30 PM): 
 

A. REVIEW OF PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION REGARDING THREE 
VINYL WINDOWS AT 410 WEST J STREET. (Public Works and 
Community Development Director) 
 

 At its December 8, 2010 meeting the Planning Commission on appeal by the 
applicants overturned an October 27, 2010 HPRC decision denying a portion 
of an application by Julian and Claudia Fraser to replace five single wood 
windows with vinyl windows on the facade of their home. HPRC did allow the 
Frasers to replace two wood windows with vinyl on the sides of the home, 
determining those were less visible from the street. In its application of the 
Downtown Historic Conservation Plan provisions and interpretation of the U.S. 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, 
HPRC generally has not allowed wood windows to be replaced with non-wood 
windows. The front facade at 410 West J Street also has an existing double 
vinyl window that is more visible than the three windows in question.  Mayor 
Patterson called the Planning Commission decision up for review but has 
subsequently asked to rescind that request for review but to continue with the 
policy discussion.  Because the appeal period has passed, the action cannot 
be rescinded without being agendized. 

 
Recommendation:   
1.  Uphold the Planning Commission's reversal of the Historic 
Preservation Review Commission's denial of a request to replace three 
wood windows with vinyl at 410 West J Street, and 
2.  Discuss the process and regulations for administrative permits in the 
Historic Districts, the process for appeals of Historic Preservation 
Commission decisions, and the impact on the Certified Local 
Government status. 
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IX. ADJOURNMENT (9:00 PM): 
 

Public Participation 
 
The Benicia City Council welcomes public participation.   
 
Pursuant to the Brown Act, each public agency must provide the public with an 
opportunity to speak on any matter within the subject matter jurisdiction of the agency 
and which is not on the agency's agenda for that meeting.  The City Council allows 
speakers to speak on non-agendized matters under public comment, and on agendized 
items at the time the agenda item is addressed at the meeting.  Comments are limited 
to no more than five minutes per speaker.  By law, no action may be taken on any item 
raised during the public comment period although informational answers to questions 
may be given and matters may be referred to staff for placement on a future agenda of 
the City Council. 
 
Should you have material you wish to enter into the record, please submit it to the City 
Manager. 
 
                                     Disabled Access or Special Needs 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and to accommodate any 
special needs, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please 
contact Anne Cardwell, the ADA Coordinator, at (707) 746-4211. Notification 48 hours 
prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure 
accessibility to the meeting. 
 

Meeting Procedures 
 
All items listed on this agenda are for Council discussion and/or action.  In accordance 
with the Brown Act, each item is listed and includes, where appropriate, further 
description of the item and/or a recommended action.  The posting of a recommended 
action does not limit, or necessarily indicate, what action may be taken by the City 
Council. 
 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 65009, if you challenge a decision of the City 
Council in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else 
raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence 
delivered to the City Council at, or prior to, the public hearing.  You may also be limited 
by the ninety (90) day statute of limitations in which to challenge in court certain 
administrative decisions and orders (Code of Civil Procedure 1094.6) to file and serve a 
petition for administrative writ of mandate challenging any final City decisions regarding 
planning or zoning. 
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The decision of the City Council is final as of the date of its decision unless judicial 
review is initiated pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedures Section 1094.5.  Any 
such petition for judicial review is subject to the provisions of California Code of Civil 
Procedure Section 1094.6. 
 

Public Records 
 
The agenda packet for this meeting is available at the City Manager's Office and the 
Benicia Public Library during regular working hours.  To the extent feasible, the packet 
is also available on the City's web page at www.ci.benicia.ca.us under the heading 
"Agendas and Minutes."  Public records related to an open session agenda item that 
are distributed after the agenda packet is prepared are available before the meeting at 
the City Manager's Office located at 250 East L Street, Benicia, or at the meeting held in 
the Council Chambers.  If you wish to submit written information on an agenda item, 
please submit to the City Clerk as soon as possible so that it may be distributed to the 
City Council.  A complete proceeding of each meeting is also recorded and available 
through the City Clerks Office. 

http://www.ci.benicia.ca.us/


CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

BENICIA ARSENAL UPDATE 
 

January 3, 2012  
 

1. We will be holding a public update on the project on January 12, 2012.  Representatives 
from DTSC will attend and update the group.  The agenda is attached below.   

 
2. After the public session we will be putting together the working groups which may be 

more focused as a result of the public meeting on January 12.  If you are an interested 
stakeholders who wants to participate on working groups, please contact the City 
Attorney.   

 
3. We will post and notify the Arsenal email list of formal DTSC actions regarding the 

Arsenal.  Please sign up for the email list if you want to be notified. 
 
4. Work continues on developing the strategy and gathering information.  If you have any 

information that you believe is relevant, please get it to the City Attorney.  We are 
continuing to upload pertinent documents to the Benicia web site. 

 
************** 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION MEETING 
BENICIA ARSENAL UPDATE 

City Council Chambers 
January 12, 2012 

4:00 PM – 6:00 PM 
 

A. PURPOSE OF MEETING:  Vice Mayor Schwartzman – 5 minutes 
To update the Arsenal stakeholders about the progress made so far. 

 
B. INTRODUCTION: Mayor Patterson – 5 minutes 

a. City Introductions 
b. Review Rules  
c. Self Introductions 

 
C. DEPARTMENT OF TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL – Presentation – 45 minutes 

a. Review of Environmental Conditions at the Arsenal 
b. Implications and Future Plans 
 

D. QUESTIONS - From the audience – 30 minutes  
  

  

IV.A.4.1



 

IV.A.4.2
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MINUTES OF THE 
SPECIAL MEETING – CITY COUNCIL 

December 12, 2011 
 
 

City Council Chambers, City Hall, 250 East L Street, complete proceedings of which are 
recorded on tape. 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER: 
 

Mayor Patterson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
II. CONVENE OPEN SESSION: 
 

A. ROLL CALL 
 

All Council Members were present. Vice Mayor Schwartzman participated 
remotely from Maui, Hawaii. 

 
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
C. REFERENCE TO THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC: 

 
III. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 

A. WRITTEN COMMENT 
 

B. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
IV. CLOSED SESSION: 
 

A. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR (Government Code 
Section 54957.6 (a))  

Agency negotiators: City Manager, Administrative Services Director 

Employee organizations: City Manager, City Attorney, Benicia Senior 
Management Group, Benicia Middle Management Group, Local 1, Benicia 
Public Service Employees’ Association (BPSEA), Benicia Police Officers 
Association (BPOA), Benicia Firefighters Association (BFA), Benicia 
Dispatchers Association (BDA), Police Management, Unrepresented. 

 
V. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

Mayor Patterson adjourned the meeting at 7:23 p.m. 
 

VII.A.1



 

VII.A.2
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MINUTES OF THE 
SPECIAL MEETING – CITY COUNCIL 

December 20, 2011 
 
 
 

City Council Chambers, City Hall, 250 East L Street, complete proceedings of which are 
recorded on tape. 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER: 
 

Mayor Patterson called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. 
 
II. CONVENE OPEN SESSION: 
 

A. ROLL CALL 
 

All council Members present. Vice Mayor Campbell arrived at 6:10 p.m. 
 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

C. REFERENCE TO THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC: 
 
III. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 

A. WRITTEN COMMENT 
 

B. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
IV. CLOSED SESSION: 
 

A. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
(Government Code Section 54957) 
 
Titles:  City Manager  

 
B. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR 

(Government Code Section 54957.6 (a))  

Agency negotiators: City Manager, Administrative Services Director 

Employee organizations: City Manager, City Attorney, Benicia Senior 
Management Group, Benicia Middle Management Group, Local 1, Benicia 
Public Service Employees’ Association (BPSEA), Benicia Police Officers 
Association (BPOA), Benicia Firefighters Association (BFA), Benicia 
Dispatchers Association (BDA), Police Management, Unrepresented. 

VII.A.3
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V. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

Mayor Patterson adjourned the Closed Session meeting at 7:00 p.m.  
 
 
 
 

VII.A.4



 AGENDA ITEM 
 CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE  -   JANUARY 3, 2012 
 CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
DATE  : December 21, 2011 
 
TO  : City Manager 
 
FROM  : Finance Director 
 
SUBJECT : REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE INVESTMENT REPORT FOR 

THE QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Accept, by motion, the investment report for the quarter ended September 
2011. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   
The investment portfolio is in compliance with the City's Investment Policy and 
California Law.  Additionally, the City has adequate investments to meet its 
expenditure needs for the next six months.  The Finance Committee has 
reviewed these reports and recommends acceptance. 
 
BUDGET INFORMATION: 
There is no effect on the City’s budget. 
 
GENERAL PLAN: 
There is no effect on the City’s general plan. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: 
Relevant Strategic Plan Goals and Strategies: 
 

q Goal 8.00: Build Organizational Quality and Capacity 
Ø Strategy 8.20:  Measure and track service performance 

 
BACKGROUND: 
The City’s investment portfolio consists of cash balances in checking accounts 
(less outstanding checks), Local Agency Investment Fund, treasury bills, federal 
agency notes and trustee accounts which manage the installment payments 
and reserves for bonds issued by the City. 
 
The City has adequate investments to meet its expenditure requirements for the 
next six months.  In addition, the City’s investment portfolio is in compliance with 
Government Code Sections 53600 et seq. and the City's Investment Policy.  The 

VII.B.1



Finance Committee has reviewed these reports and recommends acceptance. 
The attached schedules identify the City’s investments by maturity date, 
investment type, custodian of investment and cost.  The market value 
information is provided by Union Bank and California State Controller’s Office for 
the LAIF investments.   
 
Attachment: 

q Investment Report for September 2011 
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 AGENDA ITEM 
 CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE  -   JANUARY 3, 2012 
 CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
DATE  : December 28, 2011 
 
TO  : City Council 
 
FROM  : City Manager 
 
SUBJECT : ADOPTION OF THE 2012 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

CALENDAR 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Adopt, by motion, the 2012 City Council Regular Meeting Calendar. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   
The Open Government Ordinance (Section 4.08.040 of Ordinance No. 05-6) 
states that each body established by ordinance shall establish and publish an 
annual schedule of regular meetings.  The proposed calendar lists the City 
Council’s regular meeting dates for 2012. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: 
Relevant Strategic Plan Goals and Strategies: 
 

q Goal 8.00:  Build Organizational Quality and Capacity 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Per the City’s Open Government Ordinance, the proposed schedule of regular 
meetings of the City Council for 2012 follows for Council review and approval.  
As reflected on the attached schedule, it is recommended that the first regular 
meeting in August be cancelled.  In previous years, a City Council meeting has 
been cancelled during the summer months as business to be addressed is 
typically lighter during this time of year and residents are more likely to be out of 
town on vacation.  It also provides both Council and staff an opportunity to 
make vacation plans accordingly, if they wish, as well as giving staff an extra 
few weeks prior to the next Council meeting to address various projects.  
 
 
Attachment: 
 

q 2012 City Council Regular Meeting Calendar 
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1 2012 City Council Regular Meeting Calendar 
 
All meetings are on a Tuesday beginning at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers 
at City Hall, unless otherwise noted. 
 
This schedule does not include special City Council meetings, including study 
sessions.  For information on upcoming special meetings, please visit the City’s 
website at www.ci.benicia.ca.us or contact the City Manager’s Office at (707) 
746-4200. 
 
January 
 

r January 3rd 
r January 17th 

 
February 
 

r February 7th 
r February 21st 

 
March 

 
r March 6th 
r March 20th  

 
April 
 

r April 3rd 
r April 17th 

 
May 
 

r May 1st   
r May 15th  

 
June 
 

r June 5th 
r June 19th 
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July 
 

r July 3rd   
r July 17th     

 
August 
 

r August 7th – No Council Meeting 
r August 21st   

 
September 
 

r September 4th 
r September 18th 

 
October 
 

r October 2nd 
r October 16th    

 
November 
 

r November 6th – Election Day 
r November 20th   
 

December 
 

r December 4th    
r December 18th  
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 AGENDA ITEM 
 CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE  -   JANUARY 3, 2012 
 BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
DATE  : December 16, 2011 
 
TO  : City Manager 
 
FROM  : Public Works and Community Development Director 
 
SUBJECT : REVIEW OF PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION REGARDING 

THREE VINYL WINDOWS AT 410 WEST J STREET 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
1.  Uphold the Planning Commission's reversal of the Historic Preservation Review 
Commission's denial of a request to replace three wood windows with vinyl at 
410 West J Street, and 
2.  Discuss the process and regulations for administrative permits in the Historic 
Districts, the process for appeals of Historic Preservation Commission decisions, 
and the impact on the Certified Local Government status. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:   
At its December 8, 2010 meeting the Planning Commission on appeal by the 
applicants overturned an October 27, 2010 HPRC decision denying a portion of 
an application by Julian and Claudia Fraser to replace five single wood 
windows with vinyl windows on the facade of their home. HPRC did allow the 
Frasers to replace two wood windows with vinyl on the sides of the home, 
determining those were less visible from the street. In its application of the 
Downtown Historic Conservation Plan provisions and interpretation of the U.S. 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, HPRC 
generally has not allowed wood windows to be replaced with non-wood 
windows. The front facade at 410 West J Street also has an existing double vinyl 
window that is more visible than the three windows in question.  Mayor Patterson 
called the Planning Commission decision up for review but has subsequently 
asked to rescind that request for review but to continue with the policy 
discussion.  Because the appeal period has passed, the action cannot be 
rescinded without being agendized.  
 
BUDGET INFORMATION: 
There is minimal budget impact associated with this project. 
 
 
 

VIII.A.1



ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 
HPRC determined that if the three front windows remained wood the project 
would qualify for a Categorical Exemption per CEQA Guidelines Section 15331.1 
This exemption applies to restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources 
consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards.  
 
Staff believes that with (either two or five of) the windows changing to vinyl the 
project is also Categorically Exempt under Section 15301.2  This exemption 

                                            
1 § 15331. Historical Resource Restoration/Rehabilitation. 
Class 31 consists of projects limited to maintenance, repair, stabilization, rehabilitation, 
restoration, preservation, conservation or reconstruction of historical resources in a manner 
consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties 
with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring, and Reconstructing Historic Buildings 
(1995), Weeks and Grimmer. 
 
2 § 15301. Existing Facilities. 
Class 1 consists of the operation, repair, maintenance, permitting, leasing, licensing, or minor 
alteration of existing public or private structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, or 
topographical features, involving negligible or no expansion of use beyond that existing at the 
time of the lead agency's determination. The types of “existing facilities” itemized below are not 
intended to be all-inclusive of the types of projects which might fall within Class 1. The key 
consideration is whether the project involves negligible or no expansion of an existing use. 

Examples include but are not limited to: 
(a) Interior or exterior alterations involving such things as interior partitions, plumbing, and 
electrical conveyances; 
(b) Existing facilities of both investor and publicly-owned utilities used to provide electric power, 
natural gas, sewerage, or other public utility services; 
(c) Existing highways and streets, sidewalks, gutters, bicycle and pedestrian trails, and similar 
facilities (this includes road grading for the purpose of public safety). 
(d) Restoration or rehabilitation of deteriorated or damaged structures, facilities, or mechanical 
equipment to meet current standards of public health and safety, unless it is determined that 
the damage was substantial and resulted from an environmental hazard such as earthquake, 
landslide, or flood; 
(e) Additions to existing structures provided that the addition will not result in an increase of more 
than: 
(1) 50 percent of the floor area of the structures before the addition, or 2,500 square feet, 
whichever is less; or  
(2) 10,000 square feet if:  
(A) The project is in an area where all public services and facilities are available to allow for 
maximum development permissible in the General Plan and  
(B) The area in which the project is located is not environmentally sensitive.  
(f) Addition of safety or health protection devices for use during construction of or in conjunction 
with existing structures, facilities, or mechanical equipment, or topographical features including 
navigational devices; 
(g) New copy on existing on and off-premise signs; 
(h) Maintenance of existing landscaping, native growth, and water supply reservoirs (excluding 
the use of pesticides, as defined in Section 12753, Division 7, Chapter 2, Food and Agricultural 

VIII.A.2
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applies to minor alterations to the exterior of existing structures, involving 
negligible or no expansion of use.   CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2 (f) provides 
that a categorical exemption shall not be used for projects involving historical 
resources  if the project “may cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a historical resource.”  The Secretary of the Interior Guidelines 
recommend “Identifying, retaining, and preserving windows--and their 
functional and decorative features--that are important in defining the overall 
historic character of the building. Such features can include frames, sash, 
muntins, glazing, sills, heads, hoodmolds, panelled or decorated jambs and 
moldings, and interior and exterior shutters and blinds.” (Emphasis added.) As 
noted below, the Planning Commission and staff do not believe changing the 
three windows to vinyl will have a substantial adverse effect on the house since 
there is already a prominent front window that is vinyl and since the windows in 
question are not an important feature of this particular building.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
This item involves the replacement of wood clad windows with vinyl clad 
windows.  The item was initially heard by the Historic Preservation Commission 
(“HPRC”) and then appealed to the Planning Commission by the applicants.  
Section 1.44.100(D)(1) provides that decisions of the Historic Preservation Review 

                                                                                                                                             
Code); 
(i) Maintenance of fish screens, fish ladders, wildlife habitat areas, artificial wildlife waterway 
devices, streamflows, springs and waterholes, and stream channels (clearing of debris) to 
protect fish and wildlife resources; 
(j) Fish stocking by the California Department of Fish and Game; 
(k) Division of existing multiple family or single-family residences into common-interest ownership 
and subdivision of existing commercial or industrial buildings, where no physical changes occur 
which are not otherwise exempt; 
(l) Demolition and removal of individual small structures listed in this subdivision; 
(1) One single-family residence. In urbanized areas, up to three single-family residences may be 
demolished under this exemption.  
(2) A duplex or similar multifamily residential structure. In urbanized areas, this exemption applies 
to duplexes and similar structures where not more than six dwelling units will be demolished.  
(3) A store, motel, office, restaurant, and similar small commercial structure if designed for an 
occupant load of 30 persons or less. In urbanized areas, the exemption also applies to the 
demolition of up to three such commercial buildings on sites zoned for such use.  
(4) Accessory (appurtenant) structures including garages, carports, patios, swimming pools, and 
fences.  
(m) Minor repairs and alterations to existing dams and appurtenant structures under the 
supervision of the Department of Water Resources. 
(n) Conversion of a single family residence to office use. 
(o) Installation, in an existing facility occupied by a medical waste generator, of a steam 
sterilization unit for the treatment of medical waste generated by that facility provided that the 
unit is installed and operated in accordance with the Medical Waste Management Act (Section 
117600, et seq., of the Health and Safety Code) and accepts no offsite waste. 
(p) Use of a single-family residence as a small family day care home, as defined in Section 
1596.78 of the Health and Safety Code. 
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Commission are appealed to or reviewed by the Planning Commission.  There 
has been some confusion about who appealed the HPRC decision to the 
Planning Commission.  The applicants were the party that appealed the HPRC 
decision.  Staff at the HPRC hearing did say that they would be required to 
appeal the decision if HPRC required the existing vinyl window to be replaced 
with wood.  See the HPRC transcript at page 44.  It is staffs’ believe that such an 
action is not within the purview of the HPRC.  HPRC did not require this and staff 
did not appeal the decision.  The applicants appealed the decision to the 
Planning Commission. 
 
After the Planning Commission hearing, it was then called up for review by 
Mayor Patterson.  Section 1.44.030 of the Benicia Municipal Code (“BMC”) 
allows Council Members to call items up for review.  Section 1.44.020 defines a 
review as: “reconsideration of the decision of any city employee, committee, or 
commission requested by the city council, on its own motion, or upon request of 
any council member, in order to consider the decision and any broad legislative 
and policy factors involved.”  A copy of Mayor Patterson’s request for review is 
attached.  Mayor Patterson later asked to rescind her request for review of the 
Planning Commission’s decision and to focus the discussion on the policy issues 
noted below.  Unfortunately, the time period for filing an appeal of the Planning 
Commission decision has passed.  This means the hearing should go forward in 
case any other person who wanted to appeal the decision or call it up for 
review and did not do so in reliance of the Mayor’s request for review.  The 
hearing on the Planning Commission decision may be very abbreviated if no 
one wants to speak on the review. 
 
If the review goes forward, the review is to be conducted under the procedures 
set forth in BMC Section 1.44.040.  Subsection D of 1.44.040 provides that the 
hearing is a “de novo” so the Council may consider information submitted at the 
prior hearings or at this review hearing.  The Council’s decision need not be 
based solely on the record from the prior hearings but may consider any 
evidence presented to it.  Copies of the Planning Commission and HPRC 
materials are attached.  Since the original application involves a permit, the 
applicant has the burden of proof that the decision should be upheld in this 
case.  At the conclusion of the hearing, the Council may uphold the Planning 
Commission’s decision, modify, or reverse it , in whole or in part, as appropriate. 
 
410 West J Street is a residence designated as a Contributing Structure within the 
Downtown Historic District. Because 410 West J Street is in the Downtown Historic 
District, design review is required by the Benicia Municipal Code and the 
Downtown Historic Conservation Plan if changes are to be made to the building. 
In the BMC Chapter for the Historic Overlay District, BMC Section 17.54.100 states 
“Except as modified by an adopted conservation plan, design review in an H 
district or of a proposed alteration, enlargement or demolition of a designated 
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landmark shall be conducted as prescribed by Chapter 17.108 BMC. Design 
review and approval shall be the responsibility of the community development 
director or the design review commission, as the case may be.” 
 
BMC Section 17.108.020(A) requires design review in the Historic District “prior to 
issuance of a zoning permit for all projects that involve demolition, construction, 
or changes in exterior colors or materials, except signs.” BMC Section 
17.108.060(B) makes the Historic Preservation Review Commission responsible for 
the design review for projects in the Historic District.  The Downtown Historic 
Conservation Plan (the adopted conservation plan noted in BMC Section 
17.54.100) provides several exceptions to the design review requirement 
including the replacement of existing windows on a “like for like” basis.  See 
page 25 of the Downtown Historic Conservation Plan (attached.) The 
Downtown Historic Conservation Plan specifically addresses windows as being 
exempt from design review when “Replacement of existing windows or doors 
with windows or doors of the same dimension, finish and overall appearance”.  
Windows that are not the same require design review. 
 
The State’s Office of Historic Preservation has a documentation system for 
recording information about historical resources.  This document is called a 
Primary Record and it collects certain fundamental information about a historic 
resource.  The Primary Record for 410 West J Street is a three page document 
that is included as part of the HPRC Staff Report.  It  states that, "Its architectural 
character is principally defined by its arched porch openings and its stucco 
cladding."  The record does not mention the windows behind the arches as 
character defining features.  However, HPRC discussed the idea that front 
windows should always be considered character-defining features.  
  
There has been some confusion over the numbers of windows related to this 
project.  The  project plans for this project included the replacement of 7 
existing vinyl windows.  These windows are marked as stars with a dark outline 
on the attached Project Plans for 410 West J Street.  These windows are not 
subject to design review since they are replacing vinyl for vinyl.  Note that the 
front vinyl window marked with a dark star in the Family Room was the subject 
of much discussion at the commission hearings since it is a prominent feature 
but was already vinyl.  Further discussion of this window is below.  The plans also 
call for the replacement of 5 other windows and changing them from wood to 
vinyl.  These are the windows that are the subject of the HPRC, Planning 
Commission and City Council’s action.  Further details of the application 
process are included in the Planning Commission and HPRC staff reports.  
 
This application marks a unique instance where a significant portion of a staff 
recommendation was not accepted by HPRC. The staff recommendation to 
allow replacement of all five wood windows along the front porch and on the 
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sides of the house was based on the fact that the existing vinyl double window 
on the non-porch portion of the front facade establishes the visual tone of the 
home as viewed from the street. This larger, more prominent window has been 
vinyl for decades (longer than the City has had historic preservation regulations 
which would have required it to be wood).  The City cannot now require it to be 
replaced with wood because building permits for “in-kind” replacements are 
ministerial per the Downtown Historic Conservation Plan (page 25 attached). The 
Downtown Historic Conservation Plan “promotes” the use of original materials 
“wherever possible” for historic structures (including contributors; page 63), but 
the Plan specifically exempts from HPRC and staff design review “Replacement 
of existing windows or doors with windows or doors of the same dimensions, finish 
and overall appearance” (page 25 attached).  Attached are the Secretary of 
the Interior Standards for Rehabilitation as well as the Guidelines on windows.  
Ultimately, the HPRC allowed replacement of two of the windows on the sides of 
the house with vinyl. 
 
The HPRC decision was appealed by the applicant to the Planning Commission. 
 The applicant only appealed the HPRC’s decision to deny the request to 
change the front three windows to vinyl.  The time period for appealing the 
decision to allow the two side windows to be changed to vinyl has passed and 
cannot be changed at this point.  The Planning Commission overturned the 
decision of the HPRC regarding the three front windows and granted approval 
to replace the three windows with vinyl. 
  
Although this matter has been very time consuming and difficult for all involved, 
the review process has operated as designed by the Benicia Municipal Code. 
Staff made a reasonable recommendation based on City regulations and 
interpretation of the Secretary of the Interior's Standards by professionals with 
many years of experience with historic resource preservation. The HPRC’s powers 
and duties are set forth in Section 2.84.80 of the BMC.  (The full code sections on 
the HPRC are attached.) These duties include:  

“A. Conduct design reviews for restoration, remodeling and development 
projects in the historic overlay (H) zones in accordance with Chapter 17.08 
BMC and/or Chapter 17.54 BMC, .... Ensure that restoration, remodeling 
and new development complies with the “Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards for the Treatment of Historical Properties,” the criteria contained 
in the general plan and the criteria in the adopted historic plans for each 
district. Support decisions by specific findings based on the “Secretary of 
the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historical Properties,” the 
general plan and the adopted historic plans for each district, as detailed 
in the relevant sections of the Benicia Municipal Code....”   

The HPRC acted within its charge in disagreeing with staff's recommendation 
and applying  its interpretation of the Secretary of the Interior's Standards.  
 

VIII.A.6



 
In turn, the Planning Commission operated appropriately under its purview in 
overturning the HPRC decision.  Appeals, like items called up for review, are 
handled under BMC Section 1.44.040.  The hearing is de novo and the 
procedures allow the Planning Commission to affirm the decision, modify the 
decision or overturn the decision of the HPRC.  Based upon the evidence 
presented at the Planning Commission hearing, the Planning Commission 
approved the replacement of the three remaining windows with vinyl.  At the 
hearing, three HPRC members spoke about the HPRC action.  The HPRC 
members acted within their rights as citizens in expressing their opinions and 
explaining their reasoning at the Planning Commission hearing. An allegation 
has been made that this is a violation of the Brown Act.  See the letter from the 
applicants’ attorney.  A copy of the City Attorney’s email is also attached.  The 
HPRC has seven members so that a quorum of the commission is four.  There is 
no evidence that the three HPRC members who did attend and speak at the 
meeting had conversations about their attendance at the Planning Commission 
with another HPRC member.  It is not a violation of the Brown Act for members to 
speak to each other unless a quorum of members does so. 
  
As stated above, in the opinion of staff, the process operated appropriately 
under the City's rules and regulations governing the replacement of windows in 
a historically designated structure.  However, a significant amount of time and 
energy by the applicant, staff, commissioners and community stakeholders has 
gone into debating the intent and application of those rules and regulations, in 
particular whether they conform to the Secretary of the Interior's standards for 
the treatment of historic properties and guidelines for preserving, rehabilitating, 
restoring and reconstructing historic buildings. 
  
This permit has placed both the process and Council policy governing the 
preservation, rehabilitation, restoration and/or reconstruction of historical 
structures under scrutiny.  While there remains disagreement whether the 
process was properly followed, it can be argued that the process has "worked", 
in that a request was made and a final decision reached.  However the degree 
of interpretation that this permit and others have required creates, in staff's 
opinion, an excessive use of staff resources given the multitude of other 
significant budgetary and service issues facing the City.   
  
In the end it is the responsibility of City staff and our boards, commissions and 
committees to implement Council policy.  To the extent that such policy is 
unclear or interpretable the more time and resources that must go into resolving 
disputes.  While it is believed there is overall support in the community for the 
preservation of Benicia's historic buildings and character, there appears to be 
significant disagreement over what degree of preservation, rehabilitation, 
restoration and/or reconstruction of historic buildings should be achieved. 
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Therefore, in addition to resolving the matter at hand, it is staff's 
recommendation that the City Council seriously consider either reconfirming or 
reevaluating the Council's expectations in implementing GOAL 3.1 of the 
Benicia General Plan, which states: ": Maintain and enhance Benicia's historic 
character".  In doing so the Secretary of the Interior's historic standards and 
guidelines and the numerous other documents that the City has prepared and 
adopted must also be taken into consideration. 
 

The Mayor requested in her call for review that the policy issues regarding the  
application of Secretary of Interior Standards, CEQA, vinyl versus wood windows 
and role of staff, Historic Preservation Review Commission and Planning 
Commission be discussed by the Council.  This staff report includes copies of 
relevant ordinances and regulations.  Finally, the application of these policies 
may raise concerns of the State Office of Historic Preservation regarding the 
City’s certification as a Certified Local Government (“CLG”).   The CLG is a 
program that encourages cities to identify, evaluate, register and preserve 
historic properties. It also “promote[s] the integration of local preservation 
interests and concerns into local planning and decision-making processes.”  The 
City is eligible for grants and The CLG program is a partnership among local 
governments, the State of California-OHP, and the National Park Service (NPS) 
which is responsible for administering the National Historic Preservation Program. 
As a CLG, the City is eligible for funding and technical assistance.  Copies of 
information on the CLG are attached. 
 
 
Attachments:  

1.  Proposed Resolution 
2.  Mayor Patterson’s Request for Review 
3. Planning Commission Material 

a. Planning Commission Staff Report for the December 8, 2011 
Meeting 

b. December 8, 2011 Planning Commission Resolution 
c. DRAFT MINUTES OF THE December 8, 2012 Planning Commission 

Meeting 
d. Transcription of the December 8, 2011 Planning Commission 

Hearing 
e. December 7, 2011 Letter from Leann Taagapera (Handed Out at 

Meeting) 
4. HPRC Material 

a. HPRC Staff Report for the October 27, 2011 Meeting 
b. HPRC Resolution of October 27, 2011 
c. Approved Minutes of the October 27, 2011 HPRC Meeting 
d. Transcription of the October 27, 2011 HPRC Hearing 
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5. Pages 25 and 63 from the Downtown Historic Conservation Plan 
6. Project Plans for 410 West J Street 
7. Secretary of the Interior Standards for Rehabilitation 
8. Secretary of the Interior Guidelines for Windows 
9. BMC Sections related to the HPRC 

a. Chapter 2.84 Historic Preservation Review Commission 
b. Chapter 17.54 Historic Overlay District 
c. Chapter 17.108 Design Review 

10. Applicants’ Attorney’s Letter 
11. City Attorney’s Email 
12. Certified Local Government information 

 
* Please note that the transcripts do not name each speaker and have some 
words like “Meals Act” instead of “Mills Act” which have not been changed due 
to time constraints. 
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RESOLUTION NO. 12-  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BENICIA 
UPHOLDING (OR OVERTURNING) THE PLANNING COMMISSION’S 
DECISION REVERSING THE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION’S 
DENIAL OF A REQUEST TO REPLACE THREE WOOD WINDOWS WITH 
VINYL AT 410 WEST J STREET   
 

WHEREAS, Julian and Claudia Fraser, requested Design Review 
approval to replace five windows on the side and front façades of the existing 
single-family residence at 410 West J Street; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Historic Preservation Review Commission at a regular 
meeting on October 27, 2011conducted a public hearing and reviewed the 
proposed project and 
 

WHEREAS, the Historic Preservation Review Commission denied the 
replacement of the three front windows but approved the replacement of the two 
side windows; and 

 
WHEREAS, Julian and Claudia Fraser appealed the denial of the 

replacement of the three front windows to the Planning Commission; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the appeal to replace 

three wood windows with vinyl windows on the front façade of the existing single-
family residence at 410 West J Street; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Benicia granted the 
appeal and approved replacement of the three front wood windows to the 
building at 410 West J Street, based on the following findings: 

 
a) The Planning Commission finds that the three wood windows behind the 

front porch arches do not represent “character defining” features of the 
property at 410 West J Street, as the arched porch and stucco are as 
listed in the property’s historic documentation; and, 

 
b) The property was approved by the HPRC to install vinyl windows on the 

sides of the structure, which are visible from the public right of way while 
remaining consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards; and, 

 
c) The proposed vinyl windows behind the porch are not more visible from 

the street than the side windows and are less prominent than the large 
front double window that is already vinyl; and, 
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d) The proposed vinyl windows are high quality and paintable, will not alter 
the existing frame and sill, and have similar frame dimensions to the 
existing wood windows; and, 

 
e) The proposed project is a Section 15331(Class 31) Categorical Exemption 

from the CEQA Guidelines. Class 31 exemptions allow restoration and 
rehabilitation of historic resources so long as any work is completed 
consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards. The proposed 
project, including the decision of the HPRC, is consistent with the 
Secretary of the Interior Standards based on the analysis in this report. 
 

f) The project will be consistent with the Downtown Historic Conservation 
Plan policies and design guidelines and the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards, as described in the staff report, if the conditions of approval 
are adhered to.  

 
g) The design of the project is consistent with the purposes of Title 17 of the 

Benicia Municipal Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Benicia Planning Commission approved the project 
subject to the following conditions (as approved by the HPRC): 
 

1. This approval shall expire two years from the date of approval unless 
made permanent by the issuance of a building permit. 

 
2. Any other alteration of the approved plans, including substitution of 

materials shall be requested in writing for consideration of approval by 
the Historic Preservation Review Commission prior to changes being 
made in the field. 

 
3. The project shall adhere to all applicable ordinances, standard plans, 

and specifications of the City of Benicia. 
 

4. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless 
the City of Benicia or its agents, officers, and employees from any 
claim, action, or proceeding against the City of Benicia or its agents, 
officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul an approval 
of the Historic Preservation Review Commission, Planning 
Commission, City Council, Public Works & Community Development 
Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City 
concerning a development, variance, permit or land use approval 
which action is brought within the time period provided for in any 
applicable statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s or 
permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall be 
subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any 
said claim, action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the 
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applicant’s or permittee’s defense of said claims, actions, or 
proceedings. 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the record and considered the 

testimony presented to it and accepts/does not the findings of the Planning 
Commission and further finds: 

1. That the replacement of the three front wood windows with vinyl 
windows is consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards 
for restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources” since 
changing the three windows to vinyl will not have a substantial 
adverse effect on the house since there is already a prominent front 
window that is vinyl and since the windows in question are not an 
important feature of this particular building.  

2. This project qualifies for a Categorical Exemption per CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15331. This exemption applies to restoration 
and rehabilitation of historic resources consistent with the Secretary 
of the Interior's Standards.  These vinyl windows will not cause a 
substantial adverse change on the structures historical character 
because of the placement of the windows under the covered porch 
and behind the arched minimizes their visual impact on the 
structure. 

3. This project also qualifies for a Categorical Exemption under 
Section 15301 as a minor alterations to the exterior of existing 
structures, involving negligible or no expansion of use.   

4. The design of the windows is/is not consistent with the 
requirements of Benicia Municipal Code Chapter 17.108 and the 
Downtown Historic Conservation Plan and will be compatible with 
and help achieve the purposes of the H district by helping to 
preserve a Contributing Structure without damaging the integrity of 
the District. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City 

of Benicia hereby upholds (or overturns) the Planning Commission’s decision 
reversing the Historic Preservation Commission’s denial of a request to replace 
three wood windows with vinyl at 410 West J Street subject to the conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission.   

 
 

* * * * * 
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 On motion of Council Member                        , seconded by Council 
Member                             , the above Resolution was adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Benicia at a regular meeting of  the City Council  held on 
January 3, 2012, by the following vote: 
 
Ayes:     
Noes:    
Absent:    
Abstain:    
 
 

         
     ______________________________ 

    Elizabeth Patterson, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________ 
Lisa Wolfe, City Clerk 
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Heather McLaughlin - Re: Council Call for Review 

  
Heather,  
 
Call up request of the 410 West J Street Single-Family Residence window replacement project: 
 
The purpose of my request is to review the process, facts and compliance with existing law regarding 
window replacement of a contributing structure within the Downtown Historic Overlay District: 
 
This window replacement matter was brought to the attention of  the City Council with a complaint by 
the property owner about unnecessary delays and confusing city process regarding replacing windows 
in a Historic District designated contributing residence.  Council directed staff to address the 
issue.  Subsequent events have created community confusion about existing city policy regarding the 
application of Secretary of Interior Standards, CEQA, vinyl versus wood windows and role of staff, 
Historic Preservation Review Commission and Planning Commission.  
 
By seeking council review, I seek to clarify the facts, understand the requirements of existing law and 
apply these requirements in a manner that is consistent with city policy and practice. 
 
Specifically, there should be a full review by a qualified historic architect qualified to provide 
professional services to Local Certified Governments (indeed, it may be possible to seek advice from 
SOHP). 
 
Furthermore, there should be clarity in the CEQA review based on existing law. 
 
To be clear, this council review request is not for the purpose of second guessing the Planning 
Commission nor the HIstoric Preservation Review Commission. The purpose is as stated - to reconcile 
the different decisions by the respective commissions and determine the accuracy of facts, policy and 
the law.  Depending in this information, council may give direction to staff for further policy review 
and refinement to achieve the purposes of the General Plan and the Historic District and comply with 
the Local Certified Government requirements. 
 
Therefore, a complete record is requested including actual electronic recordings of both the HPRC and 
PC hearings, as well as the official record of staff reports and supporting documents, and written 
comments. 
 
Elizabeth Patterson 
Mayor 
 
On Dec 14, 2011, at 5:18 PM, Heather McLaughlin wrote: 
 

Elizabeth, to call an item up for review, please reply back to this email.  I have copied Lisa since 

From:    Elizabeth Patterson <elopato@comcast.net>
To:

   
Heather McLaughlin <Heather.McLaughlin@ci.benicia.ca.us>, Brad Kilger 
<Brad.Kilger@ci.benicia.ca.us>

Date:    12/14/2011 9:34 PM
Subject:   Re: Council Call for Review
CC:    Lisa Wolfe <Lisa.Wolfe@ci.benicia.ca.us>
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the request needs to be filed with her.  I have included the code language so you will see you need 
to state reasons for the requested review.  This will be a public document.  Thanks, H   

  

1.44.030 City council review requests. 

Within the time limits set forth in BMC 1.44.060, the city council or any council member may request 
that a decision, pertaining to BMC Title 17, of any city employee, committee, or commission be 
reviewed by filing an application with the city clerk stating the reasons for the requested review. Said 
review will be conducted according to the procedures specified in BMC 1.44.040 and 1.44.100. The 
person or body to hear the review will be designated in the application by the person or body seeking 
such review and shall be as specified in BMC 1.44.100, unless the council as a whole specifies a 
higher level of review in the first instance. (Ord. 07-11 § 2). 
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RESOLUTION NO. 11- 7  (PC) 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF BENICIA GRANTING AN APPEAL OF THE DECISION OF THE 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION REVIEW COMMISSION, AND APPROVING THE 

REPLACEMENT OF THREE WOOD WINDOWS WITH VINYL WINDOWS AT 410 
WEST J STREET 

 
WHEREAS, Julian and Claudia Fraser, have requested Design Review 

approval to replace five windows on the side and front façades of the 
existing single-family residence at 410 West J Street; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Historic Preservation Review Commission at a regular 
meeting on October 27, 2011conducted a public hearing and reviewed 
the proposed project and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Historic Preservation Review Commission denied the 
replacement of the three front windows but approved the replacement 
of the two side windows; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Julian and Claudia Fraser have appealed the denial of 

the replacement of the three front windows to the Planning Commission 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the appeal to 

replace three wood windows with vinyl windows on the front façade of 
the existing single-family residence at 410 West J Street. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Planning Commission of 
the City of Benicia hereby grants the appeal and approves the 
replacement of the three front wood windows to the building at 410 West 
J Street. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the Planning Commission finds that: 

 
a) The Planning Commission finds that the three wood windows behind 

the front porch arches do not represent “character defining” 
features of the property at 410 West J Street, as the arched porch 
and stucco are as listed in the property’s historic documentation; 
and, 

 
b) The property was approved by the HPRC to install vinyl windows on 

the sides of the structure, which are visible from the public right of 
way while remaining consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards; and, 
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c) The proposed vinyl windows behind the porch are not more visible 

from the street than the side windows and are less prominent than 
the large front double window that is already vinyl; and, 

 
d) The proposed vinyl windows are high quality and paintable, will not 

alter the existing frame and sill, and have similar frame dimensions 
to the existing wood windows; and, 

 
e) The proposed project is a Section 15331(Class 31) Categorical 

Exemption from the CEQA Guidelines. Class 31 exemptions allow 
restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources so long as any 
work is completed consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards. The proposed project, including the decision of the 
HPRC, is consistent with the Secretary of the Interior Standards 
based on the analysis in this report. 
 

f) The project will be consistent with the Downtown Historic 
Conservation Plan policies and design guidelines and the Secretary 
of the Interior’s Standards, as described in the staff report, if the 
conditions of approval are adhered to.  

 
g) The design of the project is consistent with the purposes of Title 17 of 

the Benicia Municipal Code. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the Benicia Planning Commission 
hereby approved the proposed project subject to the following 
conditions (as approved by the HPRC): 
 

1. This approval shall expire two years from the date of approval 
unless made permanent by the issuance of a building permit. 

 
2. Any other alteration of the approved plans, including substitution 

of materials shall be requested in writing for consideration of 
approval by the Historic Preservation Review Commission prior to 
changes being made in the field. 

 
3. The project shall adhere to all applicable ordinances, standard 

plans, and specifications of the City of Benicia. 
 

4. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Benicia or its agents, officers, and 
employees from any claim, action, or proceeding against the 
City of Benicia or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set 
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aside, void, or annul an approval of the Historic Preservation 
Review Commission, Planning Commission, City Council, Public 
Works & Community Development Director, or any other 
department, committee, or agency of the City concerning a 
development, variance, permit or land use approval which 
action is brought within the time period provided for in any 
applicable statute; provided, however, that the applicant’s or 
permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall 
be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or 
permittee of any said claim, action, or proceeding and the 
City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s defense 
of said claims, actions, or proceedings. 

 
* * * * *  

 
 On motion of Commissioner Sherry, seconded by Commissioner 
Oakes, the above Resolution was adopted by the Planning Commission of 
the City of Benicia at a regular meeting of said Commission held on 
December 8, 2011 by the following vote: 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Ernst, Oakes, Sherry, Syracuse, and Chair 

Thomas   
Noes:  Commissioner Dean  
Absent:   Commissioner Smith 
Abstain:  None  
 
 
______________________________ 
Brad Thomas 
Planning Commission Chair 
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Planning Commission Meeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

203 Columbus Avenue · San Francisco  94133 
toll-free 877-TIGERFISH 

 

www.tigerfish.com 
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 Planning Commission Meeting 

 

[Start at 00:25:50 recorded material]  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Roll call, please.  

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Dean? 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Ernst?  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Oakes? 

 

Commissioner George Oakes: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Sherry? 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Syracuse? 

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: And Chair Thomas?  
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 Planning Commission Meeting 

Page 2 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yes. Okay, thank you. We will now move to the regular agenda 

items. We have three this evening. The first one is in appeal of the 

HPRC's denial of a design review request to replace three wood 

windows with vinyl windows on the front façade of the existing 

single-family residence located at 410 West J Street. Who in from 

the staff is going to present?  

 

Mark Rhoades: I will, Mr. Chair. Thank you.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Thank you.  

 

Mark Rhoades: Um, good evening, uh, Mr. Chair, members of the commission. 

Um, my name's Mark Rhoades. I'm the Interim Land Use and 

Engineering Manager, um, in the Public Works and Community 

Development Department. Uh, the request that's before you this 

evening is the consideration of an appeal by the applicant, uh, Julian 

Fraser of 410 West J Street.  

 

 His request, uh, to the Historic Preservation Review Commission 

was to replace a total of five windows, um, on his existing historic 

structure, um, with, uh, high-quality vinyl windows. The Historic 

Preservation Review Commission reviewed that request last month 

and, uh, strongly disagreed, uh, with staff's recommendation, uh, for 

the reasons that, um, are outlined in Ms. Taagepera's letter, uh, this 

evening, and, uh, as well in the report.  
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 Staff -- although it's not customary, staff included draft minutes 

from the HPRC's meeting because there wasn't time to have those 

minutes approved by the HPRC in time for the, um, Planning 

Commission's hearing, but wanted to -- wanted the Planning to -- 

Commission to have, uh, some idea of the discussion that went on. 

So they are draft and, uh, um, just want the Commission to know 

that. 

 

 So the Historic, uh, Preservation Review Commission has a 

standing policy consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's 

Standards that, uh, wood windows, uh, should not be replaced, uh, 

with vinyl windows, uh, especially, uh, if we're talking about front 

façades, things that are visible from the public right away. They did 

approve the applicant's repl-request to replace two windows, one on 

each of the sides of the structure, uh, with the vinyl windows, but 

denied the portion of the r-- the request relevant to the three 

windows that are on the front façade behind the arched porch.  

 

 Um, and that's -- uh, the-the reasons for staff's, uh, original 

recommendation are contained in the report, along with some 

overview of the HPRC meeting. And with that, I'm happy to answer 

any questions that you might have.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I'll open it up to the commissioners. Do you have any questions of 

staff?  
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Commissioner Rod Sherry: So the-the [coughs] -- excuse me. The two windows on the 

sides that were, um, permitted or approved to be replaced, were-

were they wood?   

 

Mark Rhoades: They were wood, yes. But-but not visible from the public right-of-

way.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: So -- and maybe this is -- I mean, I'm claiming ignorance on 

the -- on all the details of the Secretary of the Interior's Standards -- 

is there something in th-- in there that says that there's a difference 

between a window that's visible from the street and one that's not?  

 

Mark Rhoades: Well, and this what -- this is what gets into, uh, I think, some of the 

differences that, um, s-- differences in opinion that staff may have 

with the -- uh, some of the commission. And I believe we have a 

couple of commissioners here tonight. But, um, the Secretary of the 

Interior's Standards, um, have very strong language about wood 

windows, um, and-and windows as prominent features, uh, of a 

historic resource.  

 

 And-and that is sort of where, um, the opinions differ. In the staff's 

opinion, um, th-those three windows, because of their location on 

the façade -- and they're not readily visible -- um, those were not, in 

staff's opinion, prominent features. And when you look at the, um, 

historic report on file, it talks about the stucco, the arches 

themselves, um, and more general, broader, uh, elements of-of that 

architecture as being the prominent features.  
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 Um, HPRC commissioners, um, stated that windows are always 

prominent features on a structure, especially when they're viewed 

from a public right-of-way. And I think that that's the fundamental 

difference in-in the two opinions.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: So I-I'm just trying to get this straight in my head, that we're-

we're holding people to the Secretary of the Interior's Standards, but 

only on the front façade?  

 

Mark Rhoades: The, uh, HPRC has been, uh, pretty -- has given a good amount of 

consideration in the past to allowing people to change windows 

where they're not readily visible from the public right-of-way. Yes.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Okay.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Commissioner Dean. 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Yeah, thank you. Uh, first, just a clarification. You 

said five windows were in the proposal for change. And I'm just 

looking at the project plans that were presented in the staff report. 

So all the windows were along the front façade? Or there's -- it 

looks like three on the front and then one on each side?   

 

Mark Rhoades: That's correct.  
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Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. And then in the st-- in the, um -- at the HPRC 

meeting, reading through the minutes, there was a lot of discussion 

about a vinyl window in the front?  

 

Mark Rhoades: Yes. 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Is-is that -- was that proposed to be changed or not?  

 

Mark Rhoades: That-that's the most prominent window on the residence, that-that 

double sash.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Right.  

 

Mark Rhoades: And, um, it was not proposed -- it's proposed to be changed, but it is 

already vinyl. And so changing it in kind, uh, which is allowed with 

a simple building permit, um, would allow that one to be changed to 

another vinyl window, but not the wood sash windows, the other 

three that are on the front façade.  

 

 And so the-the, uh, HPRC did recommend to the applicant that in 

addition to, uh, retaining the three wood windows on the porch, that 

they look at, uh, replacing the existing vinyl window, because of its 

prominence from the street, uh, with a wood sash, as well.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. And-and the note on the plan here says, 

"Replace seven windows," so a total of seven windows would repla-

- be replaced, and five were, um -- 
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Mark Rhoades: Five were wood. 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Were wood, okay.  

 

Mark Rhoades: Right.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: And then you just mentioned that, um, "replace in 

kind." Uh, is that a -- is that a written city policy? I mean, where 

does that policy come from?  

 

Mark Rhoades: Well, "replace in kind" is-is, um, sort of a term of art for historic 

preservation. And it's v-- it's very significant, uh, that when you 

have a historic resource and you have to replace uh, important 

features, that they re-- be replaced with the same size, color, 

material, uh, et cetera, as the original, exactly as it was.  

 

 Um, and so that's what we look to when we're doing rehabilitation, 

uh, for historic resources. It -- in addition to it being policy of the 

Secretary of the Interior, it's adopted policy, um, of, uh, the HPRC, 

as well.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. Uh, and let me ask you, because the staff 

report makes a lot of reference to the, um, Downtown-Downtown 

Historic Conservation Plan. And, uh, there's a couple of -- and they 

go in-into some detail about integrity of materials and-and 
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replacement. And, uh, my question is, um -- let me see if I can find 

the exact quote here. If you'll bear with me for a second here. 

 

 And it has to do with replacing, uh -- the HPRC talked a lot about 

the vinyl window and whether or not it could be or should be 

replaced with a -- with a wood window. And I'm looking at -- under 

"Historic Buildings," page 61 of the Downtown Historic Plan.  

 

 It says, um, "Since some of the buildings in the historic district have 

already undergone major design changes which may be difficult to 

reverse or are inconsistent with the guidelines, the decision to apply 

them will have to be made on a discretionary case-by-case basis. 

However, whenever feasible, any inappropriate modifications 

should be reversed, and additional modifications should follow the 

guidelines to the extent that a consistent design will result."  

 

 So how does that language play into the-the, uh, "replace in kind" 

language? I mean, I read that to say that if -- or-or I interpret that to 

mean that if there's an opportunity to replace an inappropriate or-or, 

uh, design or window or material, then maybe you should take that 

opportunity. It seems to me that's maybe what HPRC was after in 

that whole discussion. What-what would you say about that?  

 

Mark Rhoades: Well, I-I think I would, um, I would agree with that. Um, the 

operative word there is "should." And the thresholds of discretion 

are set such that, um, if you're not replacing "in kind," um, even 

though you might be asking to replace something that was badly 
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done with something that's "in kind," it requires the discretion of the 

HPRC. And a reason for that is that we would want to make sure 

that if you're going back to original, that you're going back to 

appropriate original. Um, so that's where the threshold of discretion 

lies.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: So then you wouldn't dis-- so the whole discus-- part 

of the discussion at HPRC was whether they had purview over that 

vinyl window, and could it be replaced, and should it be replaced? 

So -- 

 

Mark Rhoades: That's correct. 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: So what I'm hearing you say is that, yes, they-they do 

have purview over that, and that there would be some rationale for 

replacing that with wood?  

 

Mark Rhoades: There would be rationale for it, but they don't have the authority to 

require it, um, as such. And it wasn't the writ-- the ap-- in the 

applicant's request.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. Uh, and they have no authority to replace it 

because the -- would you --? 

 

Mark Rhoades: Uh, they-they -- the -- because "in kind" replacement is allowed. 

And replacing that extant vinyl window, even though it's not 

original and appropriate, would fall under the requirement that if 
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you're replacing it with a similar vinyl window or the same kind of 

vinyl window, that you would be able to do that with a building 

permit.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. Well, I guess my-my dilemma is, on one hand, 

we're saying that -- or I read the guideline -- or the Conservation 

Plan to say that, uh, if you have an opportunity to replace, uh, an 

inappropriate material with an original material, then you should 

take the opportunity to do that. And you're saying that the g-- the-

the, um, uh, standards say that you can replace "in kind" and there's 

nothing wrong with that.  

 

Mark Rhoades: Uh, even though it might not be the most appropriate way to go, uh, 

that is how the language is written.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. 

 

Mark Rhoades: If-if it said "shall replace," uh, we'd be having a different discussion 

about it.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay.  

 

Female Voice: Chair Thomas, if I may? 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yes, please.  
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Female Voice: If the actual size of the window was being changed, there could be 

requirement that would be used. 

 

[Mark Rhoades]: That's correct.  

 

Female Voice: But in this particular case, there is nothing being changed with the 

actual structure. The window size is remaining exactly the same. 

And therefore, because it's already vinyl, it can be replaced with 

vinyl. Hopefully that helps. If it was a larger addition or something, 

that's when you can actually require the use of more appropriate 

historic materials.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: So if there was a real change to the window?  

 

Female Voice: That's right. If they were enlarging it or doing something, then the 

HPRC could actually look at the actual architectural look of the 

window as well as the materials that were being used.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Mm-hmm. Okay.  

 

Female Voice: This is more like a repair/maintenance.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. And so last question. And maybe this is for the 

city attorney. Is our purpose here tonight -- uh, we're -- the 

application has appealed the decision of the HPRC. So is -- are we, 

uh, looking to affirm or-or, uh, over-- uh, affirm the HPRC decision 

or affirm an appeal, or do we have latitude and discretion to, uh, 

VIII.A.92



 Planning Commission Meeting 

Page 12 
 
 
 
 

 

actually change the requirements of their, uh, of the HPRC 

decision?  

 

Mark Rhoades: The appeal is of the HPRC's decision not to approve the three front 

façade windows. So your purview tonight is to either, um, overrule 

the HPRC's decision or to, uh, uh, affirm it.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. So it seems like there's not a lot of discretion. 

We either, uh, confirm or deny.  

 

Mark Rhoades: I think that you can -- you could modify as well.  

 

Female Voice: If I may?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Please.  

 

Female Voice: Um, our appeal hearings are de novo.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay.  

 

Female Voice: Um, but the entire application is not before you. Just the windows 

that were not approved for vinyl. So you don't get to look at all 

seven windows. You're looking at the-the-the ones in front, um, uh, 

that -- uh, I believe it's three in front, if I'm not mistaken.  

 

Mark Rhoades: Mm-hmm. 
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Commissioner Donald Dean: So-so it's the ones that have been required to be 

wood, and now -- 

 

Female Voice: Required to be wood and in the front façade. And, um, the 

applicant, uh, is requesting that the Planning Commission look at 

that decision, and overturn it, and allow for them to be vinyl.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay. Thank you. That's what I needed to know.  

 

Female Voice: Mm-hmm. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: And a point of clarification. So it is -- this is a partial appeal, 

because they've accepted a portion of the decision, authorizing the 

replacement of the two side windows. But it's a partial appeal of 

the-the -- of the HPRC decision, but it is a de novo appeal in 

connection with those three.  

 

Female Voice: That is correct.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay, thank you. Any other questions from the commissioners? 

Yes, please.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Well, this, uh, actually, uh, may not be part of the purview 

that we're allowed to discuss. But, um, how-how was that -- the 

main window, uh, changed to vinyl? When-when -- and I have two 

questions. When was that changed, and-and how was it changed? 

Uh -- 

VIII.A.94



 Planning Commission Meeting 

Page 14 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Mark Rhoades: I don't know. We don't -- it-it, uh -- it hasn't been changed since the 

requirements, uh, that were -- are in front of us tonight, uh, were put 

in place, as far as we've been able to ascertain from, uh, our 

building permit records.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Okay. 

 

[Julian Fraser]: Uh, excuse me. [I'd like to --] it-it actually was, uh, done 

[unintelligible] prior owner [unintelligible] -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. 

 

[Julian Fraser]: -- any record [unintelligible] years and years and years ago. And, 

uh, [unintelligible] --  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: We'll-we'll have -- we'll give you an opportunity to speak to that 

specifically, but thank you. Um, any-any other questions from the 

commissioners?  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: So the three windows that were -- that are on the table at -- 

for us to review are the three that are, I-I would say, on the porch, 

uh, partially, uh, concealed by the-the front of the porch or 

overhang -- and/or overhang. But they're-they're very visible from 

the street, uh, I must say. I-I don't think they're hidden or -- I-I 

wouldn't use that term, "hidden." Uh, they're maybe not even 
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partially hidden. You can see them from the street, almost the full 

window, under the porch. So -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: -- that's what's -- that's what's on the table.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. Any other questions of-of staff? Okay. Then why don't we, 

uh, close this conversation and move to the, uh, to the public 

involvement. Does the applicant have a presentation they would 

like to make?  

 

Claudia Fraser: Thank you. Hi, I'm Claudia Fraser, owner of 410 West J. 

 

Female Voice: Microphone, please.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: My fault. Your mic is now on.  

 

Claudia Fraser: Am I on now? 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yes. 

 

Claudia Fraser: Can you hear me now? 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yes. 
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Claudia Fraser: Okay. Um, I'm Claudia Fraser, owner of, uh, 410 West J. And, um, 

this whole thing has been really frustrating, because when, uh, we 

first wanted to replace our single-pane windows that are full of 

condensation, and mold, and rotting, and, you know, we went to a 

very reputable window company, and we told them that we were in 

the historic district and that they would have to go down to the City 

and gather a permit in order to get these windows, which they did. 

We have a permit to replace all the windows with vinyl. The 

application says vinyl. Everything says vinyl.  

 

 And we went ahead and paid for these windows, which are now 

sitting for the last six months in their warehouse, waiting for 

someone to please allow us to put these windows in. The vinyl 

window that's in front was existing when we bought the property, 

was put in, permitted, a-and over years and time, because it is in the 

front exposure, is cracked and needs to be replaced.  

 

 So what we are asking you is that you would please consider that 

we would have a uniform look of all vinyl windows that are going 

to be, um, energy-efficient and keep my house warm in the su-- in 

the winter, and cool in the summer. We have already been out 

$8,000. The company is at its wits end. I don't think they'll ever do 

business here in Benicia, because they've lost any profit that they 

could come up with with our house.  

 

 So what has been so frustrating is I would have never paid for and 

hired this company to put my windows in if I knew that I was going 
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to be denied and have to go through all of this. Um, the, um, person 

representing the company, when they went down and got the 

permit, it has all over it "vinyl, vinyl, vinyl." He was very, very 

clear that we were going to replace the vinyl windows with vinyl, 

and the wood windows with vinyl. We have the documentation that 

it was approved. We were issued a permit. And then we go, okay?  

 

 They ordered the windows. They're all custom, so if we can't use 

them, they're going to be destroyed, and we are going to be out a lot 

of money. So I'm-I'm just asking for the consideration to, uh -- I 

don't know what happened, if there was a miscommunication 

downtown, but we-we'd love to go through and just get our house 

up-to-date, energy-efficient, and, um -- we're -- we-we-we're doing 

this. We have a permit to do this.  

 

 So, um, I don't know what the Historical Society wants with-with 

the wood versus the vinyl. It would be nice if we had all similar 

types of window, the similar type of look. The three windows are 

set back. Um, the original vinyl window in front is permitted, um, 

vinyl. When we bought the house it was already in. It just needs to 

be replaced. So I thank you for your time. And, um, I would just 

like to move forward.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. Thank you. Yes.  

 

Julian Fraser: Hi, I'm-I'm Julian Fraser, and thank you for your time. Um, one of 

things I've been pointing out to the City for a quite a while is, first 
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off, they have our information incorrect in all their documentation, 

you know, the research on our property, in two different surveys 

that you've done. And from what I understand, to be considered, uh, 

one of these houses that is a historic house, it has to be, uh, from the 

1940s back. Our house is built in the late '40s. It does not qualify. 

And I've said it several times. So first off, the Historic Preservation 

Society does not have jurisdiction over this. That's the first thing. 

 

 All the neighbors -- we are in a little T. We have a historic house on 

one side and another side, and then we have a complete block this 

way and a complete block this way of all 1800s, 19-- you know, 

early 1900s houses that are not part of it. They should be, if-if-if it's 

from pre-1940. So that's the first thing. They don't have jurisdiction, 

no doubt about it, because our house is the late '40s. I believe it was 

'47, according to the records.  

 

 Um, my wife's very emotional about this, as-as am I, at this point. 

What-what happened is we wanted -- we've been trying to fix up the 

house. We bought it a few years ago. Uh, we painted everything 

inside, refinished the floors, that kind of stuff. And we're trying to 

fi-- replace the windows. We called a reputable company. They 

came out, gave us quotes. We said, "Hey, we're in a historic district, 

from what I understand. It may be tough to get permits." We said, 

"We'll go with it if you go down and get the permits."  

 

 They went down there. They came back with a permit. It's stamped. 

It's vinyl. We ordered the custom windows. So about two, maybe 
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three weeks later, somebody comes by and puts a sticky-note -- not 

an official notice -- a sticky-note saying that we can't put them in. 

Actually, it said something to the effect of, I believe, that the 

windows we put in were the wrong kind of windows. It hadn't been 

done yet. So that's [the only] notice we've actually received on it. 

 

 Bottom line is, we've got these windows bought. They're sitting in a 

warehouse. We're going to be out of the money -- out the money. 

And in the agenda item here, there are so many incorrect items in 

here.  

 

 Budget information. Who's it going to cost? It says, "There are no 

budget impacts associated with this project." Well, there is. 

Obviously, if you're going to deny it, doesn't that mean the City is 

going to help us w-- pick up the cost of that, or maybe pick up the 

cost of the wood windows? There-there's-there's a budget impact 

with that, um, including the window treatments we bought.  

 

 I've gone through here several times on the issue that the summary 

here, again -- if there was some kind of miscommunication down at 

City Hall, I don't know what it would be. The only thing I can think 

of is that the contractor would say that, "We're going to try to make 

the house uniform. There is one vinyl window in the very front of 

the house. It's the biggest" -- you probably have a picture of our 

house right there. It's a big, giant ugly vinyl window. It's already 

there. He's saying, "We're going to make it uniform."  
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 That's the only w-- thing I can think that there'd be any 

miscommunication, where they're thinking kind-for-kind or like-

quality, whatever it is. We're just trying to make it all the same.  

 

 The back half of the house, there was a fire years ago. The whole 

back of the house is double-pane vinyl windows. So probably what, 

about three-quarters, Mark, is that right? Three-quarters? At least 50 

percent or better are already vinyl windows, double-paned. We're 

just basically ma-making them match.  

 

 So this is -- first off, the Historic Preservation Society does not have 

jurisdiction. Our house is after that date. Please look it up. Uh, the 

next thing is we just want to get these windows done. They're 

already bought and paid for and sitting in a warehouse. It's going to 

cost money. I don't know what else to say on that. And we did it all 

in good faith. 

 

 I mean, everything says -- your printing right here, it says "vinyl." 

The-the receipt says "vinyl." Uh, this right here, stamped by your 

compliance committee or compliance person, "vinyl." It's-it's all 

vinyl. I don't understand the problem. It's, uh, a big issue here, and 

we got to get this resolved. I appreciate your time, and-and I hope 

you guys make the right decision. Thank you.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. Thank you. I want to see -- give the commissioners an 

opportunity. Do you have any questions of the applicant before we 

open this up to the public? Does anybody?  
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Commissioner Rod Sherry: I have some questions about these windows. So they're-

they're a, um -- they're a replacement window, so you pu-- basically 

pull out the old sashes and then they slide into the place, so it's the 

same framing and everything for the old -- for the old windows?  

 

Julian Fraser: The average person, walking along the sidewalk or driving down 

the street, will not be able to tell the difference. They will look nice 

and clean, and they're paintable. They're a type of vinyl that is 

paintable. So that's the next step, is we wanted to paint our house. 

So [laughs] -- 

 

 Commissioner Rod Sherry: But, I mean, my question is you're not -- you're not having to 

remove the molding or anything? That exterior molding, it's-it's 

basically you pull out the -- you-you pull out the --  

 

Julian Fraser: Yeah. But from what I'm understand, it's going -- I'm not an expert -

- 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Okay. 

 

Julian Fraser: -- but it's going to pop right in, and it's supposedly going to look 

very s-- very similar. And then we'll be able to paint the whole thing 

to match. So.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I-I have a question. Um, the current vinyl window in the front is-is a 

fairly wide-framed in the-the, um -- 
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Julian Fraser: Exactly.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- typical-typical large-framed vinyl window. As I was reading, uh, 

I understand that this -- these are a narrower frame. Do you know 

the dimension of that frame? From the win-- from the pictures, it 

does appear to be closer in size to the existing wood windows. Um, 

but i-if you're replacing the existing vinyl window in the front, it 

would take -- it would have a narrower, um, frame to the window 

itself, correct?  

 

Julian Fraser: I believe it would, yeah. I believe it would.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay.  

 

Julian Fraser: I would ma-- well, then it would match up, too, with the other 

windows, too, and it would -- because it does look -- because they 

have these -- th-these big huge, uh, trim on it, and it looks terrible, 

as you've no-- as you can see.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. Yeah. Okay. Any other questions of the applicant? Okay. 

Thank you very much.  

 

Julian Fraser: Thanks. I appreciate your time.  
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Chair Brad Thomas: I'd like to open the conversation up to the public. Do we have any 

cards from people who have indicated they want to speak? No 

cards, but I'll welcome you right on up. Thank you.  

 

John Van Landschoot: Thank you very much. I have a prepared statement, and I 

hope I can indulge you. But I-I wanted to answer a few questions. 

Uh, I'm sorry. My name is John Van Landschoot. I am a member of 

the His-- uh, Historic, uh, uh, Preservation Review Commission.  

  

 Um, I've been told by the city attorney that I cannot represent the 

commission, nor can any of us, because we haven't had a meeting 

since we made the decision at the end of October. And there's a few 

points about that. So I am speaking solely as a commissioner telling 

you my reasoning and why I voted that wood should prevail over-

over vinyl -- I call them plastic windows.   

 

 First off, um, the minutes of the meeting have not been approved.  

 

Julian Fraser: I-I'm sorry. I don't want to interrupt, but didn't you just say that the 

city attorney said you're not supposed to be here?  

 

John Van Landschoot: No. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: No, no. 

 

John Van Landschoot: I cannot speak as -- for the entire commission.  
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Chair Brad Thomas: He can speak as a -- as a citizen of the City of Benicia.  

 

John Van Landschoot: As an individual. Yeah. Uh, because the minutes haven't 

been approved, I'm not sure that you should put a lot of credence in 

them. Reading some of what the minutes are, some of the 

statements attributed to unnamed commissioners, I think, hold no 

weight. Um, also, I-I want to answer a-a question that -- or a 

comment that the applicant had.  

 

 Um, the City and the HPRC and the Planning Commission, and all 

of the guidelines that we are under, does, uh, uh, affect that house. 

That is, uh, a contributing structure. Um, the fact that it was built in 

-- sometime in the '40s, the period of influence does not mean that 

it's not historic. It's over 50 years old. It's in the book as a historic 

contributing building. So the jurisdiction, uh, matter is, um, uh, uh -

- I-I'm sorry to inform you that, but that's the way it is.  

 

 Um, I'll-I'll conti-- I'll start my presentation. Um, you've probably 

all seen that movie "Cool Hand Luke," uh, back in the '70s or '80s. 

Remember when the jailor used to say, "Failure to communicate"? 

That was one of the major problems we had in the HPRC on 

November -- on October 27th. First off, none of -- the applicants 

were not there, so some of the information we found out tonight, it's 

the first time we've found that out. It would have been really nice 

had they had been there. 
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 Um, we did not know, uh, if they had purchased the windows 

before they went down. That was -- wa-was the understanding, that 

they had purchased the windows before they went down to the 

Planning, uh, Department to get a permit. Now we hear that it might 

be the other way around.  

 

 Uh, we didn't know if the applicant knew if they were in the historic 

district or had been informed that they had a-a-a requirement to 

check with the, uh, Planning Department for any, uh, exterior 

alterations to their houses. Uh, we also had no, um -- as ha-- of-

often happens, people bring the actual windows in so we can take a 

look at them for thickness and-and-and, as the Chair said, whether 

the width -- whether it matches and stuff. We did not know that at 

all. 

 

 Um, the staff report was written, uh, but the person who wrote the 

staff report wasn't there. And Lisa and Charlie were there, and there 

was a lot of back-and-forth about exactly what was meant. And so 

the meeting put us in a situation where we knew what our 

guidelines were and were going to follow them, but really didn't 

understand how this all happened. I'm very sorry that they spent the 

money. Personally, I -- as an ex-lawyer, I think you got a case 

against the City -- not against us, but if-if you want to go that way. 

 

 Um, also, we've had no HPRC meeting for us to talk over to get a-a-

a generalized statement. That's why I'm speaking for myself. The 

HPRC follows historic guidelines. We have, as has been talked 
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about, we have the Secretary of the Interior's Standards. And the 

Secretary of the Interior's Standard Number Five says, "Distinctive 

materials, finishes, construction technique, or examples of 

craftsmanship that characterize property will be preserved."  

 

 We also have other things from the national government. We have 

Preservation Briefs, Number Nine. And I have to do this quickly. I 

hope you'll give me a few minutes extra. "After all the factors have 

been evaluated, windows should be considered significant to a 

building if they are original." We are talking about the three original 

bui-- uh, wo-wooden windows on the façade facing the street.  

 

 Now, you say, "Well, gee, why did you approve the plastic or vinyl 

windows on the side?" They're not seeable. This was a compromise. 

There were some commissioners -- I was one of them -- that said, 

"Wood is wood in re-- uh, rehabilitating a building." Now, you 

could say, "Well, why-why would you care about that?" We have 

the Mills Act in this town.  

 

 If a person -- let's say these folks here -- decide that they want to go 

to the Mills Act. They fix their house up real well and they go to the 

Mills Act in a few years. Then they come back and say, "Well, wait 

a minute. The Mills Act said I got to have wooden windows, and 

you allowed me a few years ago to have the vinyl windows. So you 

are speaking out of both sides of your mouth?" That's why we 

require -- one of the reasons why we require wooden windows. And 

the Preservation Brief talks about it. 

VIII.A.107



 Planning Commission Meeting 

Page 27 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 We also have a context statement that we got from the State of 

California. And we got an award almost two months ago to the date. 

And in it, it talks about -- I don't have time to read it, because my 

time is running out -- that we have been outstanding in protecting 

our historic assets. And part of that is the façade of the building, 

with original materials, including wooden windows. 

 

 We also have, as Commissioner Dean and others of you have talked 

about, this document. This is the governing document. All these 

other are state and local guidelines. This is the law. You guys have 

to go by the zoning. You don't have that ability to be subjective to 

say, "Gosh, you know, the law says this, but, golly, I think I'll" -- 

you know, "They're really nice people," as they are -- "But I think 

we'll let them do it." This is the law. I'm going to read just two or 

three things from here. 

 

 It says, "Historic buildings," which got muddled between -- it's on 

page 6 -- "Historic buildings and contributing" -- um, come on it's -- 

"contributing" and "historic" is the same; it's a word game -- "used 

throughout this plan refers to those structures which meet the three 

criteria described above and which therefore are significant within 

the district" -- whether this is slightly off the district but it's still in 

the district, whether they got modern buildings around it, they're in 

the district -- "located within it shall be placed in four categories as 

described below." And then they describe the categories. One of 

them is Mediterranean. 
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 Another part of this same document, which is the law, is on page 

number 62 -- "Where inappropriate" -- and this has to do with that 

front window that many years ago was replaced; it was undoubtedly 

wood and was replaced with, uh, vinyl -- "Where inappropriate or 

later materials have been removed, they should be replaced with 

original material" -- i.e. wood. They did not have vinyl back when 

this building was built. All right? 

 

 Also on page 63, from the same document that is the law in this 

town as far as historic preservation, under the guidelines, policy 4, 

page 63, "Use of original materials" -- read wood -- "there -- 

whenever possible, in restoration/renovation" -- this is restoration -- 

"uh, repair work, use the same material for the bu-- uh, uh, 

buildings." And then number 4.3 on page 63, "Wooden window 

sashes is preferred for historic buildings."  

 

 Now, I want to think that our town is a town that believes that we're 

going to do the best we can. Why do we want to do that? Because 

historic buildings tend to hold their value better than any other 

building. And I want to read one last thing. This is our internal 

document. We've had two workshops on windows over the last few 

years. This is an update, the most recent one, I want to read you. 

 

 The Historic Preservation Commission hereby determines proposals 

to modify windows in a designated building; and the historic 

building shall be repaired, if possible; or if replaced, replaced with 
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wood or historically appropriate material. That's an internal 

document, presented -- uh, we-we put it out, and the staff, uh, uh, 

too -- uh, made it.  

 

 I want to finish with one last thing. And I appreciate the extra 

minutes you've given me. Um -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Plea-please bring it to a close. We are -- I gave you three extra 

minutes, so -- 

 

John Van Landschoot: I know. I-I -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay.  

 

John Van Landschoot: -- I-I dearly appreciate that. I want to -- I want to read 

something to you, uh, from the National Trust for Historic 

Preservation. "Each denigration of an individual building harms the 

historic buildings, the district, and the property values of all historic 

property owners." We follow the law on the Historic Preservation 

Commission. We are not subjective. We follow what we need to do. 

We didn't make these rules, with the exception of this one about 

windows, because they came up a few times.  

 

 We hope that you will follow the law also. And I am very, very 

sorry -- very sorry that these folks got misinformation at the, uh, 

desk. And, um, I'm really sorry they're out all that money. But I 

think it would be a disservice to our historic rules and to other 
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historic, uh, owners of property to say that vinyl is okay, because 

you bought them early, or you got the wrong advice at the counter, 

which now seems to be what happened.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay.  

 

John Van Landschoot: But that doesn't change the law. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: All right. Thank you very much.   

 

John Van Landschoot: Thank you.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yes, please.   

 

Mark Rhoades: Mr. Chair, would you mind if I took just a minute to explain why 

we're here tonight?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Sure. Please do.  

 

Mark Rhoades: Okay. There was no mistake made by the staff of the Planning 

Department or the Public Works Department or Building and 

Safety. The contractor came to the counter with this building permit 

that I've put in your packet -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Please, can you be seated so he can speak?  

 

Julian Fraser: Okay. 
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Chair Brad Thomas: And then we'll give you an opportunity a little bit later. 

 

Mark Rhoades: -- and stated that he wanted to, uh -- they wanted to replace the 

windows -- and-and this interaction occurred with the senior 

planner sitting right next to me, uh, Lisa Porres. An extensive 

conversation was had at the counter about the discretionary 

threshold and "in kind" replacement and precisely what that meant.  

 

 In fact, when that conversation was over, staff went to the City's 

Internal Building Permit computer system and made that note on 

the computer that this conversation was had, this is what was 

explained. That contractor advised City staff, the building official 

and Lisa Porres, that all of the windows on the house, at that point 

in time, were vinyl. That was the presentation that was made, and 

that's why the permit was issued.  

 

 It came to our attention a couple of weeks later that, in fact, not all 

of the windows on that house are currently vinyl. And instead of 

pasting a big giant red "Stop Work" order in the front door of the 

house, we put a little note on the door that said, "Hey, you can't do 

this. Give us a call." That's how this started.  

 

 The applicant and the-the-the con -- the a-- the meeting we had with 

the contractor was a little embarrassing on their part, in them trying 

to re-explain, uh, what their guy at the counter said to us, who 

wasn't in that meeting with them. Um, but the fact of the matter is 
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they represented, uh -- their contractor represented that all of the 

windows on the house were at that point vinyl, which is why the 

building permit was issued. Now, they then made the purchase 

based on that information, so I believe that their, um, beef isn't with 

the City but with their contractor.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. And I -- and I-I'd like to emphasize that tonight, that history, 

in my opinion, is completely irrelevant, because the -- we are where 

we are, and how we got there is really irrelevant. Pointing fingers at 

this point isn't going to help anybody, um, or hurt anybody.  

 

Julian Fraser: Okay. This has been going on for some time.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. I'm going to give you a couple minutes, since you [crosstalk] 

-- 

 

Julian Fraser: Yeah, I'm going to speak until I'm done. I-I got to be honest with 

you. I am hearing so many lies and so many unaccepting 

responsibility I'm getting really tired of it. Our contractor went 

down there. He told them what we were doing. We got a permit. 

We ordered the windows. Bottom line. Next thing is about this 

Historic Preservation Society. We have pointed out, since we 

bought the house, we do not belong in it. The information you have 

is incorrect by quite a bit. It does not apply to us.  

 

 You're talking about subjective. We have three houses on our block 

that are part of this -- from what I understand, the Historic 
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Preservation Society. The others are not. They were able to vote out 

of it. Why are we not given that opportunity? If it's the letter of the 

law, I would think that everybody would be subject to it. This is 

arbitrary rules. This letter of the law he keeps talking about -- if he's 

correct, well then, to hell, we better put all the windows wood, all 

the way around.  

 

 If they weren't subjective, why are they not doing that? They are 

being subjective on their colors, on their designs -- say, for instance, 

on a retaining wall, they say, "Over a certain height, you must have 

the Historic Preservation Society." But they don't tell you what you 

can put in. They want you to incur the expense of going through 

this Historic Preservation Society, which is up to $1,500. It has 

nothing to do with protecting the people, and that's what the 

commission and city planning is about.  

 

 I am a trained city planner. That's what I went to school for. I'm an 

insurance adjuster by trade. But the first thing that the -- why city 

planning started is to protect people. Safety first. All this other stuff 

is just subjective bureaucratic crap. And right now, we are out a lot 

of money. We are stuck with these things. What are we going to do 

with them? Uh, are you going to pay for them, or are you going to 

pay for the difference to p-- go wood? Because we have to buy 

them no matter what.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Uh, first of all, le-let me say that I-I don't think this is helping your 

cause, because it's really irrelevant and it's -- and it's delaying -- 
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Julian Fraser: No, it's very relevant. We are incurring a cost based on them issuing 

a permit.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: No, I-I understand.  

 

Julian Fraser: It's called -- the term is called "detrimental reliance." And I do 

believe the attorney knows about that term.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: No, you -- yeah. And I'm al-- 

 

Julian Fraser: We didn't order those windows until we got the permit.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- I'm-I'm also a 25-year real estate attorney.  

 

Julian Fraser: Great. So you know that's true.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: So -- but I'm-I'm saying -- uh, I understand the concepts of what 

you're talking about. And I-I'm just saying we're not going to be 

discussing those issues, and they won't play into our decision. Uh, 

but we can -- we will -- we, uh, understand the emotional reaction. 

It's very typical and completely justified, in my opinion. But I don't 

think you need to-to beat the horse here, because it's not in the race.  

 

 And I-I think we can go ahead and move forward and let the rest of 

the public speak, get an opportunity. If there's something that -- else 

comes up, I'll give you an opportunity to speak on it, if it's relevant 
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to this. But the historical aspect of what took place to get us here 

today, that doesn't change the-the ordinances, which are subjective. 

I'm not saying, uh, that-that we concur.  

 

 Just because one person has said that the law is absolute does not 

mean that is everyone's opinion. So I don't think you should assume 

that a pu-public member's comments are what are going to control 

the day here. I would ask you just to relax, give us an opportunity to 

let the public speak, and then give us an opportunity to discuss it 

among ourselves.  

 

Julian Fraser: Okay. Thank you for -- I think my wife wants to say something.  

 

Claudia Fraser: I just, um -- a quick comment on, um -- I didn't get your name.  

 

John Van Landschoot: John.  

 

Claudia Fraser: John. A quick comment on John. He mentioned that our best asset 

as the City of Benicia are the historical buildings and that they hold 

their value. Um, I just think that our best asset in Benicia are our 

citizens and our families that live inside these historical buildings. 

And without them, the Historical Society would be history.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay.  

 

Claudia Fraser: So please --  
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Chair Brad Thomas: Okay.  

 

Claudia Fraser: -- this has been a fumble from the beginning, and we just want to 

make it right. Thank you for your time.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Thank you. I'd like to invite any other members of the public to 

come up and participate. 

 

Toni Haughey: Toni Haughey. This is going to be a tough act to follow. Um, okay. 

I think -- I'm going to disregard a lot of what I was going to say 

here. Um, for everybody here, one, you don't opt out of a historic 

district. So I just want to make that clear. Um, and a lot of the 

buildings that are in the district are -- were, I believe -- I looked at 

the tax record today. That building [states] on the tax record [is] 

1943.  

 

 But, um, uh, I think the main thing here, to put it in some kind of 

perspective -- and someone's just -- I think, uh, Don said it before -- 

what we're trying to do here is talk about three windows, because 

there's a difference of opinion as to the vinyl windows and whether 

they should be seen, you know, from the stre-- you know, you 

should put wood if you can see them from the street, but you're 

allowed vinyl in the back. I am a purist. My feeling is, you know, if 

you're going to replace the windows with the proper thing, replace 

them with wood double-paned windows. 
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 But that being said, not everybody agrees with that. And being, you 

know, a member of the commission and trying to work with a 

group, uh, we tried to compromise, and we -- and I think in the past, 

uh -- it's only recently that we've actually started to consider if the 

vinyl windows are in the back and couldn't be seen, don't worry 

about it, you know? Worry about what can be seen from the f-- 

street. Uh, because there are such things that are called [façadies] 

[unintelligible] you can get, as well. So we've been dealing with f-- 

the façades. That's -- okay.  

 

 So really, what we're asking here is for the applicants to keep the 

three front windows, the-the-the original windows. I looked at the 

windows. I gave you photographs. Um, the, um, standards say that 

if you have the original windows -- I'm paraphrasing -- uh, you 

know, and they -- that you need to main-- you need to retain your 

original windows. That's what's recommended.  

 

 If they're so deteriorated that you can't repair them, then you replace 

them with "in kind." And "in kind" means original -- that me-- that 

refers to original windows. "In kind" has gotten distorted, for some 

reason, in our town, because in every other -- is the preservation 

community, when you talk about "in kind," you're referring to 

original windows. When you say "replace in kind," you mean -- 

let's-let's forget windows, because that's what's making it worse.  

 

 If you had a bracket up there that you were going to change, uh, you 

would replace it "in kind," meaning you would put another-another 
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wood broken up there. You would not get a vinyl bracket. That's 

what "in kind" means. Suddenly, we've come in with, "If you have 

vinyl, you can replace it with vinyl." Well, that's -- that defeats the 

whole purpose of preservation.  

 

 What we're trying to do in this town with our properties, our old 

properties -- and this is happening all over the United States, so 

we're not [unintelligible] here -- um, we're trying to preserve 

historic fabric. Those windows are historic fabric. They are 

character-defining features. We can debate this all night with our 

planner. But we've all been trained. I mean, all of us have gone to 

workshops. I mean, if you cl-- I don't know how many hours, if you 

add it all together, that we've gone and studied, you know -- and 

read and discussed historic preservation.  

 

 Uh, you know, I can give you -- I have a load of materials here, if I 

wanted to give you, on all the different, uh, cities in California and 

what they do with their windows, you know? I mean, it-it's just -- I-

I don't -- I don't know why this is such a-a problem in Benicia.  

 

 But anyway, the point I'm making is that we're asking them to keep 

those windows. And as I said, when I looked at them and I gave you 

photographs, the windows are not deteriorated at all. Those 

windows are in good condition. They might want to paint them. Uh, 

that's not going to cost them anything. There's no financial impact 

there to keeping the windows.  
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 I voted against the motion, because I felt that the front window 

should be allow-- should be wood, that that vinyl window should be 

replaced with a wood double-paned window. The reason I voted 

"no" was because we are not all -- we're not just Historic 

Preservation; we are also Design and Review. So my feeling was 

that it was schizophrenic to have three wood windows and then to 

have a glaring vinyl window. That-that doesn't serve anybody.  

 

 Forget about historics. Let's look at aesthetics. I didn't -- it didn't 

make no sense to me. So I voted no on the motion. What I would've 

liked to have seen is all the front windows vinyl -- I'm sorry, God -- 

wood. Uh, I got vinyl in my brain. Um, that's what I would've liked 

to see. And that's why they -- finally, when they did the motion, I 

think they did recommend that they change that wood -- that vinyl 

window in the front to wood. So.  

 

 All right. So what I want to say basically is that, um -- I'm going to 

read you something from the Historic, um -- Secretary of the 

Interior's Standards-Standards. Um, it says, "The preservation of 

historic materials and the preservation of a building's distinguishing 

character. Every old building is unique with its own identity and its 

own distinctive character.  

 

 'Character' refers to all th-those visual aspects and physical features 

that comprise the appearance of every historic building. Character-

defining elements include the overall shape of the building, 

materials, craftsmanship, decorative details, interior spaces, 
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features, as well as the various aspects of its site and environment." 

And that's what we try to do in HPRC. We're trying to preserve the 

fabric of the buildings.  

 

 Um, and one of the thing's no one's -- I don't think John mentioned 

is that we are a certified local government. And when you become a 

certified local government, you're committed to -- you're 

committing your town to preservation. We have a grant from-from 

the, um, state in which we got that context done, otherwise we 

couldn't have gotten it. So, um -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: You are running over [crosstalk] -- 

 

Toni Haughey: I'm running out of town -- out of time. Uh, I'm trying to see what 

else was important to say. Uh, just I agree with John about the Mills 

Act. These people have the potential to be Mills Act, uh, uh, 

applicants. Uh, and again, I want to read this last thing from the, 

um, Preservation Brief on windows.  

 

 It says that, um, "Technical Preservation Services recommendations 

the retention or repair of original windows wherever possible. We 

believe that the repair and weatherization of existing wooden 

windows is more practical than most people realize, and that many 

windows are unfortunately replaced because of a lack of awareness 

of techniques for evaluation, repair, and weatherization.  
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 Wooden windows which are repaired and properly maintained will 

have greatly extended service lives when -- while contributing to 

the historic character of the building. Thus, an important element of 

a building's significance will have preserved -- been preserved for 

the future."  

 

 And you must remember that for the past 12 years, since I've been 

involved on historic commissions in this town, we have always 

recommended wood windows. The, uh, Mas-Masonics, who took 

out every window they put in there, were made to put wood 

windows in. This is not something new here. And we need to-to 

treat everybody equally and be consistent. Thank you.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Thank you.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Toni, uh, let me ask a question. Um -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Go ahead.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Are the existing three wooden windows, uh, uh, double-

paned or single-paned?  

 

Toni Haughey: No, they're original windows, probably from the '40s. 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: So they're single-paned? 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, right.  
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Commissioner Rick Ernst: And then the front window, the picture window, which is not 

part of, uh, our conversation tonight, is the -- a-a vinyl, double-

paned window? 

 

Toni Haughey: I don't know that it's double-paned. It looks like a very old window. 

I doubt it. And it's -- and it's deteriorating.  

 

Julian Fraser: It's double-paned. 

 

Claudia Fraser: It's double.  

 

Toni Haughey: Is it double-paned? I don't know what it is.  

 

Claudia Fraser: Yeah, it's double-paned.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Okay.  

 

Toni Haughey: So.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Okay, so -- 

 

Toni Haughey: But they're going to replace it.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: -- so you're recommending that the three wooden windows, 

uh, remain without being replaced with double-paned windows? 
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Toni Haughey: Right. There are other things that they can do. If that's a concern 

weatherization-wise, that's all in the briefs. I don't want to go into 

that now. If they're really having a problem with, you know, uh, uh, 

cold air coming in, there's other things they can do, uh, you know, 

in order to keep [those] windows.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Let me ask on, uh, uh, the Mills Act. Um, doesn't the Mills 

Act have money available to help home-homeowners with, uh -- 

 

Toni Haughey: Well, uh -- right.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: -- repairing and preservation of these things?  

 

Toni Haughey: The Mills Act will lower the tax rate. If they apply for it, it will 

lower their tax rate.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: The-the tax rate, yeah.  

 

Toni Haughey: And then the -- they -- the savings on their taxes they can put into 

the house. I don't know how much money is left in the Benicia 

Mills Act program. But yes, so.  

 

[Commissioner Rick Ernst]: Okay. Thank you, Toni. 

 

[Chair Brad Thomas]:  [crosstalk]  
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Commissioner Rod Sherry: So Toni, before, um -- so from my reading this, you're-

you're basically saying, "We prefer them to keep the single-pane 

historic wood windows. But if that's not viable, then go to a double-

pane wood frame window"?  

 

Toni Haughey: No.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: So now the -- no?  

 

Toni Haughey: No, that's not what we've been saying. We -- the standard -- and, I 

mean, that would be up to the commission, so I really can't say 

"yes" or "no" to that. They -- the-the standard is to keep the old 

windows, the original windows, and to repair-repair them. And 

that's what's in our resolution, repair them. If you can't repair them, 

then replace them with wooden double-paned windows.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: So -- 

 

Toni Haughey: These windows don't need to be repaired. Go look at them.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Okay. But I-I guess my point is that if you go to a-a wooden 

double-pane window --   

 

Toni Haughey: Mm-hmm. 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: -- say an Anderson wooden, you know -- plain wood, you're 

going to paint them, right? And is there a substantial appearance -- 
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is there a substantial difference in looking at a painted wood 

window or a painted vinyl window?  

 

Toni Haughey: Yes.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: There is?  

 

Toni Haughey: Well, we're not talking about paint or color. We're talking about the 

actual window. If you look at the windows from those pictures and 

you see how they are, the des-- the design of them, they cannot 

replicate those windows in vinyl. They can't be replicated. You will 

tell the difference.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Okay. But they wood in -- if they were wood [crosstalk]?  

 

Toni Haughey: In wood, they could pr-- yes, they could probably get them in wood. 

However, I don't -- I-I think that that would be for a commission to 

decide, because the commission has already said they want them to 

retain those windows, because --  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Right. I-I'm just trying to get at the -- 

 

Toni Haughey: So.  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: -- at the -- 

 

Toni Haughey: Right. 
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Commissioner Rod Sherry: -- it seems like a-a lot of this is -- obviously, it's a -- this is 

all driven by appearance. It's all appearance from the street.   

 

Toni Haughey: Well, it's not just appearance. It's about preserving the fabric of our 

historic buildings. In other words, if you were to take -- it's not the 

same thing to, uh, take this arch out -- 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Can I -- 

 

Toni Haughey: -- and this whole room out and-and put -- and rebuild it, and it kind 

of looks like it, but it's all vinyl. That's not preservation. That's-

that's not --  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: But I-I-I'm having a hard time with this, because if-if we're 

allowing people to-to change the windows around the rest of the 

house, we're now -- I mean, it-it's sort of a double-talk here. We're-

we're-we're not really doing what we're saying we're doing. So it's -- 

so -- 

 

Toni Haughey: Uh, I don't disagree with you. As I said earlier, my feeling is if-if 

you have a house and a historic home -- this is just me personally, 

Toni Haughey --  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Right, right.  
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Toni Haughey: -- who lives in a historic home -- I would not put vinyl in my home. 

And if I had had vinyl and whatever, I would replace all my 

windows with, uh, wooden double-pane windows. Okay. This is 

something, as I said, I think that has come up in this town, uh, as a 

compromise, because I don't -- I can't prove this, and I'll go out and 

spend some time looking -- you know, interviewing people, I guess 

-- but I don't believe other towns do that. 

 

 I think that if you -- if you're saying -- I think what you're saying is 

true. If we want to maintain our historic fabric and we want things 

done properly, and you have windows that were inappropriate and 

you're going to take those windows out, then you need to replace 

them with the appropriate windows, which is wood. And we -- and, 

you know, f-for years, we said double -- we said single-pane. We 

finally changed to double-pane wood windows, which are-are 

slightly more expensive, you know, than the other windows.  

 

 But there are tons of articles on why vinyl windows -- forget about 

historic -- why vinyl windows are not good windows to put in your 

house. That's a whole 'nother subject. But, you know, but I-I don't 

disagree with you. That's why I voted "no," because I felt that that -- 

you know, from two points of view, I-I think it's wrong, and I think 

that they should just put wood windows -- [unintelligible] said, 

"You're changing the windows? Put wood double-pane windows 

in."  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Okay, Thank you very much.  
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Chair Brad Thomas: Thank you.  

 

Leanne Taagepera: Good evening, fellow commissioners. My name is Leanne 

Taagepera and I'm a member of the HPRC. I've been --  

 

Julian Fraser: Excuse me. I-I got to -- I got to interrupt here. This HPRC are not -- 

were not supposed to be here. [unintelligible] [from here].  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: No, no. Uh, uh, excuse me.  

 

Julian Fraser: This is getting a little old.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: No, but they have -- they have a right as citizens of Benicia. They 

cannot speak -- 

 

Julian Fraser: But they're representing themselves as the HPRC. They need to not 

come here. That's what the city attorney already told them. This is -- 

this is getting ridiculous here.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I think --  

 

Julian Fraser: I-I'm glad that you want -- where-where did the lady go, the purist? 

Does she want to write us a check for the difference? I mean, that's 

where we're at right now. This is getting ridiculous. If they -- 

they've already heard -- this went to like, what, 2 in the morning, 

from what I understand?  
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Chair Brad Thomas: Excuse me. Could -- I-I'm going to ask very nicely -- 

 

Julian Fraser: Okay. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- please sit down and give them an opportunity to speak.  

 

Julian Fraser: [Would] you please send us a check for the difference? [crosstalk]  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: This is -- this is a public forum, and the public has a right to speak.  

 

Julian Fraser: Yeah. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Thank you. Go ahead, please.  

 

Leanne Taagepera: Okay. Um, as John clarified, yes, any commissioner can come and 

speak at any public hearing. Uh, we're not representing that we are 

representing the HPRC. I can tell you about what we talked about 

that night and our history. I've been a member of the HPRC for 

nearly four years, and I followed its activities prior to that time. 

Um, I-I am -- I am also an historic homeowner here in Benicia. 

 

 Just to clarify, the vote is in your staff report, and we did approve 

that they could replace their windows with other wood windows. So 

if -- you know, the Secretary of the Interior's Standards speaks 

about first repair, which is obviously the most inexpensive thing to 

do, is to fix something you already have.  
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 If that -- if they're so deteriorated that they can't be repaired -- and 

we understand that -- you know, a lot of parts of our historic 

buildings here in Benicia are really deteriorated and they can't be 

repaired -- then we approved of replacing them with wood 

windows. And wood windows can be made exactly like the current 

wood windows.  

 

 And there are architectural features of the historic wood windows -- 

I don't actually know what they're called, but there's part of it where 

they come down and then they loop around. There's some shaping 

in there. When you buy the vinyl windows, they're simply a square 

or a rectangle. They don't have the other parts. If you have a 

custom-made wood window, they come and take a profile, and it'll 

look exactly like the window that you already had. 

 

 Um, so since I only have five minutes, as a member of the public, I 

was just going to summarize. Um, I sent you a much longer letter, 

and I sent attachments for you. And that was just a sample of 

material that you can find from other jurisdictions in California and 

across the nation. And it's about the importance of keeping your 

original windows, or repairing if possible, or replacing with wood 

windows. And this is really what is done in historic districts across 

the nation.  

 

 And these are the rules that everyone who has a contributing 

building, whether it's downtown or in the arsenal, are subject to. If 
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you buy a non-contributing building, or if you buy a house outside 

of the district, which is the majority of residences in Benicia, you 

don't need to come before the HPRC. You just need a, you know, 

building permit as necessary.  

 

 Um, so this is the first appeal of an HPR decision -- HPRC decision 

since I joined the HPRC. Um, and in addition, we have required the 

replacement of aluminum and vinyl windows in buildings receiving 

a Mills Act contract, with the understanding that these types of 

windows are not consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's 

Standards from the Department of the Interior.  

 

 I'd like to say the HPRC is bound by state law, as the City of 

Benicia is. Uh, alterations to historic buildings that are found 

consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards are exempt 

from the California Environmental Quality Act. If it's not consistent 

with the standards, it's not exempt from CEQA. That's state law.  

 

 So that's something that applies to all hi-- designed historic 

buildings in the state of California. So if the project's not exempt 

from CEQA, then you either need to do a-a negative declaration or 

an environmental impact report. So that's been in place since 1970.  

 

 So in-in order to make a determination of -- consistent with the 

Secretary of the Interior's Standards, HPRC members have attended 

workshops, and we've studied the standards themselves. We had -- 

the Office of Historic Preservation came to this very room, and 
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maybe some of you attended. And they gave us a presentation about 

looking at how to find consistency with the standards.  

 

 And we also do a lot of research our-ourselves on this issue. And it 

-- to me, it really is an art, not a science, because it takes a lot of 

experience to look at a review of alterations to a historic building, 

and look to see whether it's consistent with the standards or not.  

 

 Um, you know, there's this issue of the things that can't be seen 

from the street and whether we should require every, um, window, 

even in someone's backyard to remain wooden. And I should say, 

uh, a strict interpretation may require that every single window 

around a house be kept as wooden.  

 

 But there are parts in the Secretary of the Interior's Standards, when 

you look at additions -- and if it's additions that can't be seen from 

the street, or maybe a-a skylight that can't be seen from the street, 

then it-its existence really doesn't harm the historic district. Because 

what we're looking at is: What can the public see? If you're walking 

down the street and you're in a historic district, you can't see the 

windows in someone's backyard.  

 

 So we looked at that not harming the historic district, if someone 

had a window, it was facing their backyard, and nobody could see it 

but that private property owner. So that's really a compromise, so 

that we di-- have allowed -- and for this building, every single other 
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window was allowed to go vinyl. What we looked at is the look of 

the historic district.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Go ahead and wrap it up. We're-we're running out of time. 

 

Leanne Taagepera: Okay. So that was our -- 

 

Julian Fraser: [Excuse me]. It's all about [crosstalk] -- 

 

Leanne Taagepera: So that -- I'm sorry -- Chair Thomas, Chair Thomas, I really 

appreciate to -- I would like to continue talking. I would really 

appreciate that.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Just, uh -- okay. But please wrap it up.  

 

Leanne Taagepera: Okay. I'm just going to -- I have --  

 

Julian Fraser: [crosstalk]  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Please, no talking from the audience. Please, please.  

 

Julian Fraser: Again, it's getting old.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: You're-you're hurting your case. You're hurting your case. Please. 

 

Julian Fraser: Can I [crosstalk] individual, but not [crosstalk] -- 
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Chair Brad Thomas: No. Please understand this is -- we were managing this meeting 

pursuant to the rules. And if you don't want to follow the rules, you 

can step out the back and wait. But at this point, she's going to 

finish. She-she's already over time. I'm going to [leverage] -- let her 

say a few more sentences, and then when she's done -- and done. 

Go ahead. But very short, please.  

 

Leanne Taagepera: Okay. Um, so it sort of places us all into this difficult position. 

We're trying to do our jobs. We're trying to uphold the law. We're 

trying to be fair to everyone in the historic district and have the 

same rules apply to everyone. So that's what we're trying to do. 

We're all volunteers. You know, none of us get paid to be here. 

We're appointed and we're trying to do this actually just for the 

good of Benicia and what we think is right.  

 

 So we -- um, I'd like to thank you for your review of this issue, as it 

affects all the historic buildings in Benicia. And I'm available for 

questions. Thanks.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Thank you. Yes. 

 

[Break in recorded material]  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Please.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Did I understand you to say that if the vinyl windows 

for the three that we're talking about -- if the wood windows were 
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replaced with vinyl, that's a -- not according to the Secretary of 

Interior's Standards, therefore the exemption from CEQA does not 

apply and they would have to then enter the CEQA process? Is that 

accurate? Did I hear that right?  

 

Leanne Taagepera: Could you repeat the first part of that, please? 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Uh, we're talking about three windows, replacing 

three wooden windows with vinyl windows. So are you saying that 

that would be a violation of the Secretary of Interior's Standards, 

and therefore this, uh, change would not allow them to have an 

exemption from the CEQA, uh, review?  

 

Leanne Taagepera: Yes, that was the HPRC's finding. Right.  

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Okay.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Any other members of the public who would like to speak? Okay. I 

will close the public hearing on this, bring it back to the 

commissioners. And in a -- in a way in which I've never done this 

before -- I've always deferred to my commissioners and let them 

speak first -- given the exchanges that have gone on here, I want to 

be the first to speak, if that's okay. 

 

 Um, the-the way I -- and I've spent hours today studying the, uh, 

Secretary of the Interior's Standards. I've spent, um, hours spe-- 

studying the DHCP -- uh, I've spent -- I spent an hour out at the 
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property looking at it from all angles, walking up and down the 

street, so that I would be well-informed for tonight, because I 

understood that this was going to be hotly contested, especially after 

we received the-the first email.  

 

 Um, I conclude -- my personal opinion is that this --replacing these 

windows is consistent with the Secretary of Interior's Standards. 

And I'll tell you why I-I've concluded that. I think that the, um -- 

first of all, it is not -- the Secretary of Interior's Standards, as 

applied in this case, are not -- it's not a black and white document, 

and it's not a black and white interpretation, and the HPRC has 

proved that because they have said, "The windows on the side, they 

can be vinyl."  

 

 Walking down the street, going from both directions, I could look 

up, and when I looked at the front of the building, I saw the buil-- 

the windows on the side that would be replaced with vinyl, as well. 

So if it's visibility from the street, those side windows carry the 

same, uh -- there -- it's a matter of degree. But in cl-- if I were to 

look at that front prominent window, the vinyl one, that's the 

prominent one. That will always be vinyl. 

 

 When I look at the side windows, they're going to be vinyl, and I 

can see those from the street. I could see them driving by. Um, and 

the ones that are recessed under the, uh, canopy, I felt, were as -- 

probably slightly more visible -- they are visible from the street; I'm 
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not denying that -- slightly more visible than the side windows, but 

definitely not visible as the existing vinyl window.  

 

 I do think that it's important to look at the underlying documents 

that were -- that were used to classify this house in its historic pres-- 

uh, historic-historic nature. The fact that the -- it was viewed as an 

historic property and they identified the features, but excluded any 

conversation about the windows -- because, you know what?  

 

 You look at those windows, and I -- the way I put myself through 

law school was selling windows -- so I've sold a lot of wood 

windows; I've sold a lot of vinyl windows -- but you look at those 

windows -- when I drove up, you couldn't tell from the street that 

they were wood except for that one little piece of decora-decorative, 

um, uh, decorative piece of the upper sash that-that, uh, Leanne 

was, uh, mentioning. But it's minimal, and it's -- you'd have to look 

for it, because it's recessed under a shaded area. 

 

 I found that the reason why those windows were not identified in 

the h-- original ca-categorization documentation is because they are 

not significant. The fact that the replacement windows are of a 

narrow sash, which is much closer in look to the wood windows, 

tells me that it's going to be more consistent with the existing look -

- uh, with the wood window look; that people would be hard-

pressed --  
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 And I think, uh -- I-I'm a person who has an eye for windows 

because that's what I sold -- I-I think that people -- the-the public in 

general -- I do not think the experts, like our HPRC people, uh, 

commissioners, are -- uh, they would be able to tell the difference at 

a glance. But the average Joe citizen going up and down the street, 

they would not be able to. I had a hard time sitting there, looking, 

and trying to -- trying to distinguish.  

 

 Um, so my-my feeling is that these -- this was not an important 

feature of the building. Um, you can see it from the sides. You can 

see it from the side of the, um -- you can see the side of the building 

as you're walking down the street or driving down the street. That 

tells me the appear-- the-the test that our-our city has put on 

visibility from the street, which is not in-in the standards -- that is a-

a unique modification done here in Benicia.  

 

 But if-if that is the issue, then the -- and the HPRC has approved it 

on the side, I don't see that these recessed windows -- if they were 

not recessed, if they were prominent out there, the main windows, I 

might have a different view. But the way that they're recessed 

makes them less obvious, more hidden than the -- than the, uh -- 

and just as difficult to see as the side windows.  

 

 So that's my sense, uh, looking at this, studying it, and looking and 

walking around the property. I'll open it up to the other 

commissioners. Commissioner Sherry?  
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Commissioner Rod Sherry: I, um -- if I could, I-I agree with you. I-I went out there and-

and spent 10 or 15 minutes walking back and forth and looking at it. 

Trying to boil this down, in my mind, it's-it's -- I think we're-we're-

we're holding it to a, um, a-a visual standard, but we're arguing over 

materials that-that I-I have a hard time thinking that once they're 

painted or if they're painted, are really going to pr-- be that visually 

different.  

 

 Um, and honestly, when I first got out of my truck and I walked up 

in front of the house, I thought the three windows were vinyl, 

because they're painted white and they look smooth. They could've 

been vinyl, except for the -- I don't know if you call that a plinth or 

what the little decorations are. And I didn't see those right away. I 

had to -- I had to study the window for a -- for, you know, a little bit 

before I said, "Well-well, there's -- you know, there's little 

decorations there." I-I-I agree with you.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Commissioner Dean. 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Uh, thank you, Mr. Chairman. Uh, first of all, 

because this is a-an appeal, uh, I should say that I did talk to a 

couple of people in the community, including Toni Haughey and 

John Van Landschoot, and pretty much what they told me was what 

you heard here tonight. So you've heard everything I've heard from 

them.  
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 Uh, and I -- in terms of my relationship to this window question, I 

was on the HPRC, the initial, uh, HPRC when it was inaugurated a 

few years ago. And we spent, uh, a few meetings -- not just one 

meeting, but a number of meetings talking about windows. And we 

had a couple architects on our commission, and we had a couple, 

uh, contractors on our commission.  

 

 So we spent a lot of time talking about what was appropriate, how 

to -- what-what was -- if you had to replace, what do you replace 

with? And, uh, if you wanted to replace original single-pane wood, 

what was appropriate? And-and we had samples brought in from 

window manufacturers. So this was not just a one-session 

discussion, but this went on over a period of-of meetings.  

 

 Uh, and we came up with a window policy that basically, as I recall, 

said, "If you're going to replace windows, replace them with wood. 

If you want to do dual-pane wood window for sustainability and for 

energy savings, that would be fine. But they should be wood." And 

part of that goes back to the, um -- both the Historic Conservation 

Plan and the standards that say, uh, "If you have an opportunity to 

use original p-- materials, use original materials."  

 

 And this issue of visual that, "If it looks the same, it is the same or 

comparable," was not -- it was part of the discussion, but I think 

part of the spirit of historic preservation is-is about the materials, 

because when you start substituting modern materials for traditional 

materials, uh, it's not just a purist, uh, argument that, uh, you're 
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trying to maintain, um, the integrity of the structure, and when you 

start changing the materials, then slowly you're eroding that original 

integrity. And so where does that stop?  

 

 So we're -- we have this balance, and that was part of the discussion 

that we had in those, uh, initial HPRC meetings -- what's the 

balance between livability, because we're all living in these houses, 

uh, everybody in the historic district -- uh, and you want to maintain 

them, and you want to be comfortable, but at the same time you 

want to maintain the historic integrity, because even if you're -- it's 

a contributing structure and not a landmark structure, you're talking 

about the district as a whole. So when you have one building that, 

uh, the integrity starts to erode, what's that -- you know, where does 

-- where do you draw the line?   

 

 So in those days, we were saying, "Well, if you're going to replace 

your windows, do it with wood." And it wasn't just a question of, 

"What can you see from the street?" but I think we were 

recommending that, uh, around -- this goes to, um, Commissioner 

Sherry's point well -- what about the windows in the back of the 

house? Well, I think we were saying at the time that it's not just the 

front windows; it's all the windows, because this is a matter of 

material integrity. It's not just what you can see.  

 

 So, uh, and af-after having read through the minutes of the HPRC 

meeting and, uh -- I-I have to -- I would like to see the wood 

maintained. I think they have, uh, some, uh, ground to stand on 

VIII.A.142



 Planning Commission Meeting 

Page 62 
 
 
 
 

 

there and say, you know, "Where do you draw the line? There's 

existing wood windows. Uh, it's better to repair than to replace. If 

you have to replace, then replace with wood." And I think we've 

had a couple people say that the commission would probably -- the 

HPRC would probably be okay with that. So I-I would like to see 

the, uh, decision by HCRP supported tonight.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. Any other --? 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Uh, I have a-a question. Uh, or maybe it's a statement. I -- it 

seems to me that, uh, there's obviously a difference of, uh, opinion, 

uh, I'll call it, um, in what happened. The contractor went to the, uh, 

the desk at the Planning Commission, requested a permit to-to 

replace windows, and said it was "like for like" -- is that what I 

understood you to say, Mr. Rhoades?  

 

Mark Rhoades: He had a discussion -- uh, and-and maybe I'm-I'm going to ask Lisa 

to convey, but he had a discussion with Lisa and the building 

official and our permit technician -- all three of them were present 

at the time. And it was his statement that, "All of the windows that 

are on the house today are already vinyl" that got him the approved 

building permit. Staff makes mistakes from time to time, but doesn't 

make the mistake that wood can be replaced with vinyl, over the 

counter.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Well, in fact, there was one window that was vinyl. The-the 

rest were wood. Is that correct?  
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Mark Rhoades: There are -- there were, uh, I believe -- one, two, three, four, five 

existing wood windows on the structure.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Okay. And then the picture window was vinyl. 

 

Mark Rhoades: Right. 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: And he asked for a permit, uh, to, uh, replace the other 

wooden windows with -- what he said initially was with wooden 

windows, but, uh, but then the Frasers have a document that says 

that vinyl was written on there. So I-I don't know what's-what's true 

here. What's the truth?  

 

Mark Rhoades: The-the-the building permit says that they're -- that they're rep-- the 

-- their building permit says that they are, uh, replacing "in kind." 

And it was the representation that those windows were already 

vinyl that got the building permit issued.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: So, uh, so, uh, who -- I guess who's telling the truth, the-the 

contractor or the Planning Department? Um, I'm t-- I tend to believe 

the Planning Department. Uh, but I-I'm in agreement with, uh, Mr. 

Dean that, uh, uh, I would like to uphold the HPRC's juris-- uh, 

ruling that, uh, these windows need to be replaced with wood, uh, 

or remain wood, uh, to-to stay with the, uh, historic integrity of the 

historic, uh, buildings here in Benicia.  
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 Um, however, the Frasers are out quite a bit of money apparently 

for the purchase of vinyl windows, based on a permit that was 

requested and obtained, uh, saying that, uh, they could replace 

them. They have a-a document that says they could replace them 

with vinyl windows. You're saying that that was not given to them, 

that that was -- you're saying that their document was doctored, it 

was changed?  

 

Mark Rhoades: The-the only reason -- I'm trying to be as clear as possible, because 

it is, uh, not acceptable for staff to be impugned in this way. The 

only reason that that building permit was stamped "Approved" was 

because of the contractor's statement that all of the windows 

proposed to be changed were already vinyl. I don't know that I can 

be more clear than that. 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Okay. Well, no, I-I accept what you're saying. Uh -- 

 

Mark Rhoades: And-and the building official will testify to that. The senior planner 

will testify to that. The permit technician will testify to that. There 

is a note in the City's computer system that recorded that 

conversation at that time.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Okay, thank you.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Any other comments? Yes, please. 
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Commissioner George Oakes: Just a couple of general comments. Um, first of all, I 

thought the whole concept about historic preservation was holistic; 

it wasn't about windows. So we're talking about a building here. My 

experience with preservation starts with the U.S. Naval Academy. 

Let me tell you, they had handmade nails when they built that place. 

You don't use handmade nails when you're doing maintenance on 

that place. They have sleight roof tiles an inch-and-a-half thick. 

Find me one.  

 

 So reality is -- and it clearly says in [these things] here -- when 

things change, when it evolves, you do what you best can do. And 

I'm thinking that the solution that you're proposing, albeit got into 

kind of an after-the-fact, unfortunately -- I'm thinking that those 

windows have very insignificant impact on the building in whole. 

Just a comment.  

 

 And I think the staff did what they were supposed to do. They gave 

the permit based upon what was told. And when they found it was 

different, they did what they were supposed to do and stopped the 

process. So good job. [unintelligible]  

 

Male Voice: I agree.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I would note that, um, sev-- we're talking about the three windows, 

that 75 percent of the windows in this building would be, um, vinyl. 

Um, and then we're talking about 25 percent that would be wood, if 
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we were to uphold that decision. So any other comments from the 

other commissioners? Commissioner Syracuse. 

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: This is sort of way out, but is it possible for our 

commission to ask the City Council to offset the financial loss that 

these people have suffered due to this misunderstanding?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I-I don't know that we have the authority to spend any money on 

behalf of the City or to commit it. Um -- 

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: I'm talking about a recommendation. Obviously, 

there-there was a misunderstanding.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: I don't know if it's a misunderstanding. I think the 

recommendation should be made to this contractor, ask the 

contractor to recom-recompense them for their money that they've 

spent on windows that the contractor made without permission.  

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: You're-you're assuming the contractor was telling the 

truth.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: No. I'm-I'm assuming that the contractor, uh, said what, uh, 

they needed to hear, that the, uh, Planning Department approved the 

request for a building permit for vinyl windows, and the Building 

Department did not give them that permission.  
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 They said, "We'll give you permission. We'll give you a-a permit 

based on 'like for like,' 'like' being wood for wood." And they didn't. 

The contractor went back to Frasers and said, "Great, we got -- uh, 

we got permission to put in vinyl windows, so I'll make vinyl 

windows for you. Give me $8,000 and we'll put them in." And they 

didn't have p-- uh, authority to do that. 

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: C'est la vie. [laughter]  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Well, so I think th-they're, uh -- they're, uh -- what's the 

word? Legal term, uh, Mr. Attorney -- uh, they're, um, uh -- where 

they need to go is back to the contractor to get their money back.  

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: Okay. 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Is that what -- what's the word there? There's a word for that. 

[laughter] I think.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas:  Okay. Any other -- any other comments [unintelligible]? Do I hear 

a motion?  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: I'll make a motion that we uphold the HPRC decision.  

 

Male Voice: Second.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Roll call.  
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Female Voice: Commissioner Dean? 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Ernst?  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Oakes? 

 

Commissioner George Oakes: No. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Sherry? 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: No. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Syracuse? 

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: And Chair Thomas?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: No.  

 

Male Voice: Oh no, it's split, a split decision?  

 

Female Voice: So you have three "yes" -- 
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Male Voice: Wait, here, let me call Belinda. [laughter]  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Um, so that motion does not carry. And then next step is --? 

 

Male Voice: So get-get -- maybe we can discuss this a little bit more. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. Let's open that back up.  

 

Male Voice: [unintelligible] you have to have a motion [unintelligible]  

 

Female Voice: Microphone, please.  

 

Male Voice: Do we need to -- do we need to have a-a motion and a second to-to 

reopen the discussion on this?  

 

Male Voice: [unintelligible] open the discussion [unintelligible] 

 

Female Voice: Well, at this point, it doesn't -- uh, the -- if it's tied, then it doesn't 

pass. So if-if you want to --  

 

Male Voice: So we're back into -- 

 

Male Voice: [unintelligible] back to commissioner discussion.  

 

Female Voice: -- discuss it a little bit more and see if you can change -- if you -- if 

there's any -- you know, if you want to discuss it a little bit more, 
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you can. But at this point, you-your decision is that, um, uh, it 

would be, um -- the appeal would be denied, I guess, is-is how it 

works.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: So if we fail to reach a decision -- 

 

Female Voice: Yes. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- then the underlying decision stands?  

 

Female Voice: That's correct.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. 

 

Female Voice: That's correct.  

 

Male Voice: [unintelligible] 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yeah. 

 

Female Voice: Yeah. So I think you -- but I think you're correct. I think if you want 

to discuss it further, you should probably make a motion, um, 

amongst yourselves that you want to discuss it further.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay.  

 

Male Voice: Thank you. 
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Male Voice: Uh, I would move that we, uh, continue to discuss this, and-and 

hopefully we can come to a consensus.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Can I have a second?  

 

Male Voice: Second.  

 

Male Voice: [unintelligible]  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: It's a motion to continue the discussion to see if we can come to an 

agreement.  

 

Female Voice: And-and it would actually be to vacate the previous vote and 

continue discussing, is what you would be doing.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Oh, okay.  

 

Male Voice: [unintelligible]  

 

Male Voice: Second.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: All right. Roll call, please.  

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Dean? 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Yes. 
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Female Voice: Commissioner Ernst?  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Oakes? 

 

Commissioner George Oakes: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Sherry? 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Syracuse? 

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: And Chair Thomas?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yes. Okay. Who would like to open? 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Okay. I'll start. I-I mean, I don't -- I don't go into this lightly 

at all, especially when we're talking about another commission 

who've spent a lot of time and-and, you know, they're the experts 

on-on this situation. Um, but I-I think I took the same approach as 

you did, is I-I tried to-to look at it -- to step back and look at it from 

kind of a higher level and-and not just the windows as-as far as, you 
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know, as -- does this -- what's the-the goals of the-the HPRC and 

the Historic Preser-Preservation is to maintain, you know? 

 

 And I was -- I was going at it strictly as a -- as a visual, but I-I 

understand, uh, Commissioner Dean's statements about, you know, 

materials, keeping the -- keeping with the materials, because if you 

-- you know, if you take that and you extrapolate that out to, um, 

you know, tearing down, um -- or taking off, uh, trim and putting 

up, uh, Styrofoam or-or something that looks like wood, then, you 

know, you really are destroying the integrity of a historic, um, 

structure.   

 

 Um, but then I go -- I-I keep going back to the-the-the point of if 

we're going to replace the single-pane wood window, and we're 

going to say, "Okay, you can replace it, and you -- but you can only 

replace it with a wood double-pane current window," uh, and I s-- I 

can't get past the fact that they're still going to look very, very 

similar once they're painted, if this is a -- it's a painted vinyl 

window.  

 

 And-and then I-I go back to the point of, you know, this isn't -- this-

this -- and-and this is a slippery slope, I -- granted that, you know, 

this isn't a landmark, high-profile house in town. I mean, I drove -- I 

drive by this house every morning, and I don't know that I ever 

noticed the house, honestly. I mean, your next-door neighbor's 

house I notice all the -- you know, every morning. It's a -- it's a 

large his-- big old house.  
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 Um, but it's not -- again, it's a slippery slope, you know? If you say 

"okay" to this, you know, does -- when the next-door neighbor 

comes in and s-- and says, "Well, I want to replace all of the, you 

know, single-pane wood windows in my Victorian with vinyl 

windows," you know, I don't think anybody in here would say "yes" 

to that.  

 

 Um, but I-I ha-- I just keep going back to the -- to the f-- you know, 

to my gut feeling, is that by these windows -- and we're talking 

about these three windows -- if they were to go to a vinyl -- painted 

vinyl window, it's not -- it-it -- in my opinion, it's not going to 

drastically, or even noticeably, change the feel or the appearance of 

that house.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: What -- I-I have to tell you that if-if the rest of the house had -- 

were all wood windows around, it would be a no-brainer for me. I 

would say, "Absolutely not." They-they couldn't replace it, and I 

don't care if they had $20,000 out. That would not make sense to 

me. But because 75 percent of the windows are already vinyl, and 

th-- the most prominent, and then half the windows that are visible 

from the street are going to be vinyl, that tells me that, well, it can't 

make -- be that significant of a difference of in this case.  

 

 Um, and-and it needs to be applied -- um, I believe that the rules 

need to be applied-applied pursuant to the specifics of the given 

case. I don't think it's a-a-a bright line distinction, "You always do 

VIII.A.155



 Planning Commission Meeting 

Page 75 
 
 
 
 

 

this," as the HPRC has indicated in their decision where they 

permitted it on the other si-- on the sides, and they've, uh, indicated 

that they've permitted it in other structures when it wasn't as visible 

from the street. 

 

 Um, and so, uh, in weighing the, uh, the-the impact on the historical 

district and on this home, I just don't see it. Uh, I don't see a 

significant impact compared to the, um, to the burden that we're 

putting on the, uh, the end-user. Um, and the fact that, uh, I agree, 

the contractor probably screwed up, uh, and it probably is their 

fault.  

 

 But I think the benefits of having a consistent look throughout the 

entire, uh, building, uh, throughout the entire structure, all the 

windows looking the same, because, as I understand it, they're 

replacing all the windows, getting rid of all the old thick, uh, um, 

sashed windows, and going with a much thinner that looks more 

authentic to the period --  

 

 -- I think that it's a huge upgrade, and the consistency outweighs 

the, uh, relatively minor -- um, in this case minor, uh -- issue with 

the -- with the fact that the material underneath the paint is going to 

be a product that nobody will really be able to tell the difference on, 

but that, um, that will be able to function and provide a-an 

improvement to the home. That's where I am.  
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 Anybody else have any other comments? Anything to discuss? How 

about a new motion?  

 

Male Voice: The motion that we're talking about would be to [crosstalk] --  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I think we would take a new motion.  

 

Male Voice: [crosstalk] accept the motion that was drafted by staff.  

 

Female Voice: Microphone, please.  

 

Male Voice: I'm sorry. Wouldn't, um -- I think the motion would be to-to 

approve the draft that was, uh -- the-the resolution that was drafted 

by staff.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I think with some changes.  

 

Mark Rhoades: The-the resolution is-is blank with regard to -- 

 

Male Voice: Approval or denial.  

 

Male Voice: Right.  

 

Mark Rhoades: -- approval or denial, so. 

 

Male Voice: No, I -- yeah, but there was, uh -- yeah, it was. It was noncommittal 

for once. [laughter]  
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Chair Brad Thomas: Well, staff's recommendation was to approve the design review 

request.  

 

Male Voice: No, I see what you're saying. Here by X. Yeah. But this is it. Just 

say approve it.  

 

Female Voice: Do you -- do you need some assistance in draf-- in coming up with 

a motion.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Let me ask you a question. You're saying that, um, uh, staff 

is-is rec-- had recommended, uh, approval -- uh, where's this? -- of 

the-the whole design review request, which was originally, um -- 

which-which had originally been re-- approved based on, um, "like 

for like"?  

 

Male Voice: No. I think -- I think the-the request was to replace the wood with 

vinyl. That was the request that staff, uh, recommended approval.  

 

Mark Rhoades: Uh, to the HPRC originally.  

 

Male Voice: To the HPRC. 

 

Mark Rhoades: Correct. 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Oh, right, right. Okay.  
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Male Voice: Yes, please.  

 

Male Voice: Well, no. It should be all four, not three.  

 

Female Voice: Maybe I can help with this.  

 

Male Voice: Yeah, but -- 

 

Female Voice: Right what you have in front of you are the three windows.  

 

Male Voice: Right. 

 

Female Voice: If you -- if you make a motion to, um, approve the appeal, allow the 

appeal, then you are making a decision for the applicants to be able 

to put in the vinyl windows, as originally proposed before the 

HPRC.  

 

Male Voice: Right. Their whole house.  

 

Female Voice: If you deny the appeal, if you move to deny the appeal, then you 

are, um, uh, essentially making the decision that the windows need 

to either -- you're-you're basically, um -- and you can -- you can 

actually probably modify that, because you're dealing with the three 

windows. But HPRC's recommendation was that you, um, try to 

repair, and, if not, replace. So upholding the appeal would allow the 

vinyl. Denying the appeal would, um, would be going back to the 

HPRC decision or some variation thereof.  
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Commissioner Rick Ernst: Uh, I hate to, uh, you know, put out a precedent here, uh, 

going back to Commissioner Sherry's, uh, statement that, um, what 

if next door, the house comes in and says, "Well, wait a second, 

you-you approved vinyl windows next door. Why can't we put in 

vinyl windows?" So how can we make this so that, uh, it's not a 

precedential decision?  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Uh, can I -- I-I think Chair Thomas addressed that pretty-

pretty clearly, that, you know, what we're talking about here is a 

house where almost all of the windows are already vinyl. Um, and 

if-if, you know, the next person comes in with the -- with the house 

that has all wood windows already, you know, I think we're -- 

that's-that's a completely different situation, in my mind. And you're 

not --  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Well, again, [crosstalk] -- 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: I don't know that we're necessarily setting precedence, um, 

in this case.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Well, if the house next door replaces all their windows in the 

back -- in the back of the house with vinyl windows, which they can 

do, uh, and then they leave the front windows, um, wood -- 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Well, I -- 
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Commissioner Rick Ernst: -- and then come in and they say, "Well, we'd like to put 

vinyl windows," then -- 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Actually, I-I don't believe they'd be able to replace any of the 

windows wi-without going to the HPRC, if they're in the -- if 

they're in the district. So -- 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Well, HPRC, I believe, uh, would approve, uh, vinyl, if, uh, 

they're not visible from the street.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I-I don't think we could assume that. Uh, going forward, they may 

ma-- they may change their position on that. They're, um -- but in 

this case, these are preexisting windows from well before the HPRC 

creation. And I think the facts of this case are [English] -- easily 

distinguishable from the facts of any other future case. And that's -- 

you know, precedent only establishes a precedent if the facts are 

identical. It's not a precedent for establishing -- 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Okay.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- a trend when the facts are different. And I think that's important 

to note.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: So the motion would be based on the fact that -- one, two, 

three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine of the windows are vinyl, uh, 

we can make a motion to approve, uh, replacement of these three 

windows with vinyl windows. Would that be, um, specific enough?  
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Chair Brad Thomas: Or-or too specific. I don't know.  

 

Female Voice: It-it might be a little too specific. I-I don't think you need to make it 

based on that reason.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I-I think we can say under the circumstances of this case, we find 

that it's consistent with the standards, that it's consistent with the -- 

with all the other regulations -- 

 

Female Voice: Right.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- and it -- and approve the, um -- or -- yeah, approve the appeal 

that's before us. 

 

Female Voice: That's correct. And, if I may, one of the reasons why you have an 

HPRC, one of the reasons why you have the Planning Commission 

and that members of the public cannot just go and get a building 

permit with specific standards is that we want the commissions to 

be able to weigh in on the individual properties and make 

determinations as to what is appropriate.  

 

 And we have guidelines in the historic -- in our historic district that 

we -- that the commission tries to adhere to to try to retain the 

integrity of the historic district. But every-every property owner that 

comes before them with an application is going to have a different 
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issue, different circumstances, different house. And that's why the 

commission is there in the first place.  

 

 Now, obviously if they set a precedent that said, "Every-every 

historic home in the district can now have vinyl windows in the 

back," well, then you're going to get everybody in there wanting to 

do that, if that's indeed what they want. But they haven't done that. 

They've done it on a case-by-case basis. And that's what you're 

looking at here, is an individual case and making a determination, a 

policy determination as to how you're going to handle this particular 

appeal.  

 

Mark Rhoades: Right. Otherwise, why have the commission? We -- you'd just have 

a set of rules that they would use at the counter, and we'd be done 

with it.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Well, I think the HPRC, um, has-has -- the representatives, 

um -- the, um, citizens that happen to sit on the HPRC have 

represented that their feeling is that, uh, uh -- and going back to 

Commissioner Dean's, um, statement, that we're-we're not dealing 

so much with, uh, visual appearance, uh, historical appearance, but 

we're dealing with materials. And the, um, um, preservation, uh --

what-what is the organization that, um, we have the information 

from? Sorry. [unintelligible] Um . . .  

 

 The, um, Historic Preservation Services, National Park Services, 

Department of the Interior, among others, uh, have stated that the 
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best -- the ideal, uh, situation is to replace wooden windows with 

wood windows, or repair wooden windows wherever possible. And 

it doesn't really deal with, um, being able to be seen from the street 

or not. It-it-it -- that's in general.  

 

 So it seems to me HPRC's, um, uh, policy should be, if they're 

going to stick with that, to make any window -- any request for a 

window, to make it, uh -- to stick to that and say, "Okay, it's got to 

be wood. If it's a wood window, then they have to replace it with 

wood." Uh, but they've-they've gotten away from that.  

 

 They've gotten -- uh, they say if it's visually from the street, we can 

see, uh, visually from the street -- and visually, uh, I'm going to say, 

it's been stated, that the vinyl windows, um -- I don't think you can 

really tell the difference between the vinyl-- the thr-- especially 

these three windows, because they are partially, um, hidden by the, 

um, uh, the covering, the ov-- the window -- the over -- the 

overhang. But, uh, regardless, uh, I don't think you can tell that 

they're wood or vinyl, especially if they're painted.  

 

 So, um, I don't know. Uh, I-I -- I think it's a slippery slope to, uh, 

overturn HPRC's decisions. They-they're the experts. We're not the 

experts. We're trying to get at -- get to be experts pretty quick here. 

But, um, we're not. I think this couple was misdirected by a 

contractor. They've spent money based on assertions made by the 

contractor. I think they need to go back to the contractor and get 
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money back, if we decide to overturn this appeal. Or if we decide to 

approve it, there's -- it's a moot point.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I-I-I would just add that, I-I agree, HPRC are the experts. They 

know this stuff inside and out. But just as at any trial or any other 

proceeding, you have experts, but you don't necessarily, uh, ha-- if 

there is a -- if there is a disputed issue, the experts are not the 

decision-makers. Uh, but their -- 

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: I understand.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- their insight is extremely valuable. And I think it's been -- their 

research and their analysis and their -- the information they've 

provided has been exceptional in this case. I just think under the 

facts of this case, their conclusion is inconsistent with the reality of-

of this property. And that's-that's why I -I -- where I part ways.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Uh, let me ask on these-these project plans that are in the 

staff report here, um, was this what was given to Lisa, uh, initially, 

was this paper that shows which windows were existing?  

 

Mark Rhoades: It-it doesn't have -- it didn't have the stars on it, I don't believe. The 

stars are what I put on there for the, um, HPRC.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: So the cost was $5,460 for -- to replace seven windows with 

no change to the window opening. So they weren't going to change 
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the size or anything. All retrofit, dual-pane window -- oh, it says 

retrofit, dual-pane vinyl. Was that part of the original or not?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: I don't know if that was the original to -- or if that was the 

submission with the, um, with the application for [crosstalk] HPRC 

of July.   

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: It's reviewed for code Compliance -- there's a stamp, 

"Reviewed for Co-Code Compliance." July 2011. Is that when it 

went to, uh -- down to the desk downstairs?  

 

Mark Rhoades: That's correct.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: And, uh, and it was stamped here -- seven windows, s-some 

-- what is that, some? Same size as existing. Okay. So they're 

emphasizing that the windows are going to be replaced with same 

size. But down below, there's a, uh, scope. It says, "Replace seven 

windows with no change to window opening, all retrofit, dual-pane 

vinyl." Was that part of the original submission or --?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Uh, yeah. Th-- yeah, that would've been, because that's what they 

were always proposing, the vinyl.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Oh, seven windows -- which-which seven windows were 

they proposing? Uh, you said you added stars. Uh, well, they -- it 

looks like these front windows were -- let's see. One, two, three, 

four, five, six, seven.  
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Chair Brad Thomas: There are 12 total windows. I think it's the five in the front.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: One, two, three, four, five -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: -- six, seven. This is a double window.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Oh, okay. Right, right, right.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: It's double.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Seven windows, right.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay.  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: I mean, uh, I-I don't know. I think if, uh, there was, uh, a 

mistake made by Planning, that-th-that's -- by the-the Planning 

Department, um, uh, then that -- then mistakes are made. But, um, 

we can't penalize citizens for those kinds of mistakes, if there was a 

mistake made. You're saying that there was not a s-- mistake made, 

that is was really the contractor. I-I don't know. That, uh -- 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Okay. Do you want to make a motion, anybody?  

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: All right. I'll throw-throw one out there. I'll move that we -- 

and I don't do this lightly, honestly -- I-I just -- I feel like I have to 

explain myself here, that I think in the big picture that-that this -- I-I 
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truly don't feel that we're setting precedence by replacing three 

windows on this house with-with vinyl to match the rest of the 

house. So with that being said, uh, I'll move that we uphold the 

appeal and allow the replacement of the three front windows with 

vinyl windows.  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Is there a second? 

 

Male Voice: I'll second the motion. 

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Let's do the roll call.  

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Dean? 

 

Commissioner Donald Dean: Yeah. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Ernst?  

 

Commissioner Rick Ernst: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Oakes? 

 

Commissioner George Oakes: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Sherry? 

 

Commissioner Rod Sherry: Yes. 

VIII.A.168



 Planning Commission Meeting 

Page 88 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Syracuse? 

 

Commissioner Lee Syracuse: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: And Chair Thomas?  

 

Chair Brad Thomas: Yes. It passes. Okay. That closes, uh, that issue. We will, um -- we 

have two more items on the agenda. I think, um, these should be, by 

comparison, quite short. [laughs]  

 

[Julian Fraser]: Thank you. Sorry to be a trouble. Appreciate it.  

 

[Claudia Fraser]: Thank you.  

 

[Julian Fraser]: Thanks.  

 

[End of recorded material]  
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BENICIA PLANNING COMMISSION 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS  

MEETING MINUTES 
 

Thursday, December 8, 2011 
7:00 p.m. 

 
I. OPENING OF MEETING 

 
A. Pledge of Allegiance 
B. Roll Call of Commissioners 

Present: Commissioners Don Dean, Rick Ernst, George Oakes, Rod 
Sherry, Lee Syracuse and Chair Brad Thomas. 

Absent: Commissioner Belinda Smith (excused) 
 
Staff Present: Kat Wellman, Contract Attorney 

Mark Rhoades, Interim Land Use and Engineering Manager 
Lisa Porras, Senior Planner 
Kathy Trinque, Administrative Secretary 

 
C. Reference to Fundamental Rights of Public - A plaque stating the Fundamental 

Rights of each member of the public is posted at the entrance to this meeting 
room per Section 4.04.030 of the City of Benicia’s Open Government Ordinance. 

 

II. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 

On motion of Commissioner Syracuse, seconded by Commissioner Ernst, the 
agenda was adopted by the following vote: 

Ayes: Commissioners Dean, Ernst, Oakes, Sherry, Syracuse and Chair 
Thomas 

Noes: None 
Absent: Commissioner Smith 
Abstain: None 

 
III. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
A. WRITTEN 

None. 

DRAFT 
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B. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

Toni Haughey announced that the Camel Barn Holiday Tree Lot will be 
open until December 24 or until all the trees are sold. This is a fund raising 
event for the Camel Barn Museum. 

 
IV. CONSENT CALENDAR 

 
A. Approval of Minutes of September 8, 2011 
 
On motion of Commissioner Sherry, seconded by Commissioner Ernst, the Consent 
Calendar was adopted by the following vote: 
 

Ayes: Commissioners Dean, Ernst, Oakes, Sherry, Syracuse and Chair 
Thomas 

Noes: None 
Absent: Commissioner Smith 
Abstain: None 

 
V. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS  

 
A. AN APPEAL OF THE HPRC’S DENIAL OF A DESIGN REVIEW REQUEST TO 

REPLACE THREE WOOD WINDOWS WITH VINYL WINDOWS ON THE FRONT 
FAÇADE OF THE EXISITNG SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE LOCATED AT 410 
WEST J STREET 

 
11PLN-00064 Design Review Appeal 
410 West J Street 
APN: 0089-031-090 

 

 PROJECT SUMMARY: 
The applicant requested design review approval to replace three wood 
windows with new, paintable custom vinyl windows on the existing single-
family residence located at 410 West J Street, a contributing structure 
within the Downtown Historic Overlay District. The HPRC has a 
longstanding policy of NOT allowing wood windows to be replaced with 
vinyl. The HPRC approved the replacement of the two windows (one on 
each side of the house) but they denied the change on the front facade.     
 
Staff recommended that the HPRC approve this request based on a 
number of factors including that the windows are not the most prominent 
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façade feature of the residence and that the replacement windows are 
high quality and nearly identical in dimension to the existing windows and 
frames.       

 

 Staff Recommendation: 

 Consider the appeal of the Historic Preservation Review Commission’s 
(HPRC’s) denial of a request by Julian and Claudia Fraser for a minor 
exterior modification (replacement of wood windows with vinyl) to the 
front façade of the existing residence located at 410 West J Street. The 
HPRC approved the request for the side windows, but denied the request 
for the front windows. Note that staff’s recommendation was to approve 
the whole design review request. 

 

Mark Rhoades, Interim Land Use and Engineering Manager, presented an 
overview of this item. Mr. Rhoades pointed out that the HPRC decision 
disagreed with staff’s recommendation. Included in this packet are draft 
minutes of the HPRC meeting to provide the Planning Commission with 
some idea of the discussion that was held at that meeting. He reviewed 
the policy of HPRC regarding window replacement. The HPRC did 
approve the applicant’s request to replace the side wood windows with 
vinyl windows but not the front façade windows located inside the 
arched porch. 

 

Questions from Commissioners: 

 

Commissioner Sherry asked if the 2 side windows that were approved by 
HPRC were originally wood.  He asked if the State Historic guidelines allow 
that. HPRC was upholding State Historic guidelines.  

 

Mr. Rhoades responded yes, the side windows were wood and while the 
State Historic guidelines have strong language concerning windows those 
opinions differ. Window location is considered as well as how prominent a 
feature they are on the residence. 

 

Commissioner Dean asked to clarify the number of windows being 
discussed and their location. Was the existing vinyl window proposed to 
be changed. Are there a total of 7 windows, 5 of which were wood? 
What is the City’s policy about “replacing in kind”? He read from the 
Downtown Historic Conservation Plan, pg 61 regarding replacement of 
vinyl windows with wood. What is HPRC’s purview? 
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Mr. Rhoades responded that this is under HPRC’s purview but they do not 
have the authority to require it because “in kind replacement” is allowed. 

 

Ms. Wellman, Contract Attorney, clarified that if the proposed window 
size changed (enlarged or reduced in size) then “in kind” could be 
required. In this case no window size changes were being made, which 
makes it more like a repair. 

 

Commissioner Dean requested clarification on the decision before the 
Planning Commission. He asked if the Planning Commission could change 
any requirements. 

 

Mr. Rhoades responded that the decision before the Planning 
Commission is either to overrule the HPRC decision or affirm it. 

 

Ms. Wellman explained that the replacement of the 3 front wood 
windows with vinyl windows requires a decision. This is a de novo appeal. 

 

Commission Ernst asked how or when the main front vinyl window was 
replaced. The windows in question are those in the porch area, partially 
concealed by the overhang, but can be seen from the street. 

 

Mr. Rhoades responded that our records do not show a specific date, but 
it was replaced before the current requirements were in place. 

 

Opened for Public Comment. 

 

Claudia Fraser, 410 West J Street, property owner and appellant, 
expressed frustration with the City’s process. She desires to replace the 
old single-pane windows with updated energy efficient vinyl windows. 
She stated she has a permit for this work and the windows are paid for. 
The existing front vinyl window was permitted (put in years ago). It has 
cost them $8,000 for the new windows. They would not have purchased 
them had then known they would have to go through this process. She 
stated her desire is that all the windows have a similar look. 

 

Julian Fraser, 410 West J Street, property owner and appellant, stated that 
the City documents listing his property in the Historic District are incorrect. 
His house was built in the late 1940’s. He stated that HPRC does not have 
jurisdiction over his house. His contractor has a permit to install the new 

VIII.A.226



 5

vinyl windows. He wants to have all the windows in the house match and 
expressed his desire to have the windows he purchased installed. 

 

Commissioner questions. 

 

Commissioner Sherry asked if the replacement windows have the same 
framing or will the molding be removed? 

 

Mr. Fraser responded that the new windows are paintable and will pop 
into the same size window opening. 

 

Chair Thomas asked if the new windows are in a narrower frame and 
close in size to the existing wood windows. 

 

Mr. Fraser responded that they will match the other windows in the house. 

 

Public Comment. 

 Jon Van Landschoot, an HPRC Commissioner, stated he is not 
representing the HPRC Commission but only his opinion, and spoke not in 
favor of the appeal.  Mr. Van Landschoot commented that the HPRC 
minutes have not yet been approved. The historic guidelines do affect 
this residence and it is under the jurisdiction of the HPRC. The applicant, 
Mr. Fraser, was not present at the last HPRC meeting so the Commission 
did not know if the new windows had been purchased, nor if the 
applicant knew about the requirement for planning staff review.  Mr. Van 
Landschoot further described the HPRC process and guidelines. He 
stated that he was sorry the applicant was misinformed at the Building 
Division. 

 

Mr. Rhoades responded that there was no mistake made by Building and 
Planning staff. He explained that the Frasers’ contractor came to the 
office for permits to replace the windows. There was an extensive 
conversation held with staff and staff noted in the computer system that 
the old windows being replaced were the same material as the new 
ones. The contractor advised staff that all existing windows on the house 
were vinyl. When it came to staff’s attention that the existing windows 
were wood and not vinyl, staff left a note at the house asking the Frasers 
to contact City staff. Their contractor apparently misrepresented the 
facts. 
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Mr. Fraser stated that the HPRC rules are subjective and arbitrary. His 
contractor went to get the permit and then the new windows were 
purchased. 

 

Claudia Fraser commented that Jon Van Landschoot talked about the 
City’s asset is historical buildings. Her opinion is that the citizens are more 
important. 

 

Toni Haughey, an HPRC Commissioner, spoke not in favor of the appeal. 
She stated that the house was built in 1943 and is historic. We are 
discussing the replacement of  3 windows and she has a difference of 
opinion with her fellow Commissioners. Her opinion is that all the wood 
windows should be replaced with wood windows. The HPRC is trying to 
compromise with the applicant. The HPRC would like to see the applicant 
keep the 3 original wood windows and repair them. If they cannot be 
repaired, then replace them “in kind.” Ms. Haughey voted against the 
motion at the HPRC meeting. She further stated that all the front windows 
should be wood. This is not something new. 

 

Leann Taagepera, an HPRC Commissioner, began speaking and was 
interrupted by Mr. Frasier. 

 

Leann Taagepera stated that she is not representing the HPRC, and that 
she is also a historic homeowner. She spoke not in favor of the appeal. 
Ms. Taagepera summarized her letter and its attachments that had been 
distributed to the Commission and were available at the side table for 
members of the public.  She stated that the HPRC did approve the 
applicant for replacing the windows with wood windows. Wood windows 
can be made exactly like those that are currently there. This is the first 
appeal of HPRC since she has been on the Commission. The vinyl 
windows are not in view from the street so it doesn’t harm the historic 
district. 

 

Mr. Fraser interrruped Ms. Taagepera. 

 

Chair Thomas asked Mr. Fraser to return to his seat. 

 

Commissioner Dean asked if the 3 wood windows were replaced with 
vinyl windows is that a violation of SHPO standards and not allowed with 
a CEQA exemption. 
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Public Comment Closed. 

 

Chair Thomas expressed his desire to proceed with providing his 
comments on this item. He stated that he studied the SHPO Standards, 
and looked at the property prior to the meeting. His opinion is that the 
replacement windows are consistent with SHPO standards based on the 
following: 

1. The SHPO standard is not a black/white document. If the issue is 
visibility from the street, the side windows (that were approved by 
HPRC to be replaced with vinyl windows) are equally visible. The 
front prominent window is vinyl. The 3 recessed windows are visible 
but only slightly more visible than those on the side of the house. 

2. He reviewed the documents and the house is considered historic, 
but the windows were not mentioned. One can’t tell from the street 
if the existing windows are wood except for one decorative piece 
on the trim. The windows are not significant. 

3. The new vinyl windows will look more like the wood windows than 
vinyl. Most citizens would not be able to tell the difference. The 
HPRC could. 

4. These 3 windows are not an important feature of the house. If the 
test is visibility from the street, one really cannot see the recessed 
front windows; they are just as difficult to see from the street and 
the side windows. 

 

Commissioner Sherry stated that he agrees with Chair Thomas. He also visited 
the site and agrees with the HPRC about holding to a visual standard, but could 
argue that the materials may not appear to be that different.  

 

Commissioner Dean stated that he spoke with Jon Van Landschoot and Toni 
Haughey before the Planning Commission meeting about this project. He was 
on the original HPRC and spent a number of meetings working on a window 
policy. Regarding the visual issue, the spirit is about keeping original materials to 
maintain original integrity of the structure. There is a balance of liveability while 
maintaining the historic integrity of the residence. At the time he served on the 
HPRC, the policy was that all wood windows must be replaced with wood, not 
just those visible from the street. His opinion is the wood window policy should 
be maintained. He supports the HPRC decision and would like to see the 
Planning Commission uphold it. 
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Commissioner Ernst asked about a difference of opinion about what happened 
in the permit process. He agrees with upholding the HPRC decision to require 
wood windows. 

 

Mr. Rhoades restated and emphasized that City staff did not make a mistake 
regarding issuing the building permit because at the time of issuance the 
contractor stated all the existing windows were vinyl. It states on the building 
permit that the applicant is replacing vinyl with “in kind” (vinyl) windows. The 
only reason the permit was issued and approved was based on the 
contractor’s statement that all existing windows were vinyl. 

 

Commissioner Oakes stated that he supports staff’s decision. The conversation 
form the HPRC is holistic and the reality is that materials change over time. 
These windows have an insignificant impact to the historic quality of this 
residence. 

 

Chair Thomas commented that 75% of the windows on this residence are now 
vinyl and 25% wood, if the HPRC decision is upheld. 

 

Commissioner Syracuse asked if the Planning Commission could request that 
the City Council offer the applicant an offset for their financial loss. 

 

Commissioner Ernst commented that maybe the contractor should reimburse 
the applicant for the extra cost since the contractor misrepresented the facts to 
the City. 

 

On a motion made by Commissioner Ernst and seconded by Commissioner 
Dean that the Planning Commission uphold the HPRC’s decision denying a 
request by Julian and Claudia Fraser for replacement of 3 front wood windows 
with vinyl, failed by the following (tied) vote:    

Ayes:  Commissioners Dean, Ernst and Syracuse 

Noes:  Commissioners Oakes, Sherry and Chair Thomas 

Absent: Commissioner Smith 

Abstain: None 

 

The Commissioners and City Attorney discussed the above action. 
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On a motion made by Commissioner Sherry and seconded by Commissioner 
Oakes, that the Planning Commission continue discussion of this item and 
vacate the previous vote, and adopted by the following vote: 

Ayes:  Commissioners Dean, Ernst, Oakes, Sherry and Chair Thomas 

Noes:  None 

Absent: Commissioner Smith 

Abstain: None 

 

Commissioners continued their discussion -- key points include: the HPRC goals 
and how a change of materials affects historic integrity, and vinyl windows will 
look very similar (Sherry); if all were wood windows, then wood windows should 
be required. In this case 75% of the windows are vinyl, including the most 
prominent front window, therefore it is not significant in this case compared to 
the burden on the resident (Thomas). 

 

Commissioner Oakes began a motion to adopt staff’s recommendation. 

 

Commissioner Ernst asked for clarification of staff’s recommendation. 

 

Mr. Rhoades and Ms. Wellman explained what a “yes” or “no” decision on 
staff’s recommendation would mean. 

 

Commissioners discussed and considered if this decision would set a precedent 
that may apply to other projects. 

 

Ms. Wellman commented that the Commission is able to determine what’s 
appropriate on a case by case basis. 

 

On a motion made by Commissioner Sherry and seconded by Commissioner 
Oakes, the Planning Commission hereby upholds the appeal and approves the 
appellants’ request to replace the 3 front wood windows with vinyl windows to 
the building at 410 West J Street, adopted by the following vote: 

Ayes:  Commissioners Ernst, Oakes, Sherry, Syracuse and Chair Thomas. 

Noes:  Commissioner Dean 

Absent: Commissioner Smith 

Abstain: None 
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B. USE PERMIT FOR AN INDOOR ARCHERY RANGE AT 3001 BAYSHORE ROAD, 
UNIT #9 

 
 3001 Bayshore Road, Unit #9 

APN: 0080-340-020 
11PLN-67 Use Permit for Commercial Recreation and Entertainment 

 
 PROJECT SUMMARY: 

In accordance with the Benicia Municipal Code Section 17.32.020, the 
applicant requests approval of a Use Permit for the establishment of an 
indoor archery range at 3001 Bayshore Road of approximately 4,500 
square feet.  The archery range will have regular business hours of 
Monday through Friday 12:00pm – 9:00pm and Saturday 9:00am – 5:00pm. 
 

 Staff’s Recommendation: 
Approve a Use Permit for an indoor archery range (Commercial 
Recreation and Entertainment) located at 3001 Bayshore Road, Unit #9, 
based on the findings, and subject to the conditions listed in the attached 
resolution and as discussed during the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Ernst recused himself due to a conflict of interest. 
 
Mr. Rhoades reviewed the application and proposed project.  The new 
business would be located in an existing multi-tenant building in the 
industrial park. The space is in the back of the building and allows for 24 
participants. There was not a parking study requirement, but staff did 
prepare a less formal type of parking survey to assist with evaluating 
whether this additional use would create a parking problem at this 
location.  
 
Questions from Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner Sherry asked for a more detailed explanation of the parking 
survey used for this project. 
 
Mr. Rhoades responded that there is not a specific number of parking 
spaces required of this applicant because there are lots of spaces 
available during their business hours. The purpose of the survey was to 
make sure there would be no conflict with the current industrial use. After 
review, staff has determined that there should be plenty of parking 
spaces available for this business. The survey uses a simple methodology. 
 
Opened for Public Comment. 
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Carl Massey, applicant, reviewed his background, proposed business and 
use. He taught archery for eleven years and wants to provide a place for 
children and youth to learn and practice this sport. No other archery is 
located in town. Their busiest hours are from 6 to 9 pm and Saturday 
mornings. 
 
Commissioner Dean asked how the lanes are organized, if there are 
partitions and will rental equipment be available. 
 
Mr. Massy answered that there will be a partition wall and all activities are 
organized for safety. Yes, rental equipment will be available. 
 
Commissioner Sherry asked if there would be any retail space; he is 
concerned about safety – could an arrow pierce the roof; and is there an 
emergency response procedure. 
 
Mr. Massey responded that yes they may repair and sell bows, arrows and 
other equipment. Arrows would not pierce through the metal roof – they 
have blunt tips. He will provide first aid kits and instructors are CPR/first aid 
certified. He will have insurance and he has never seen an accident in his 
experience. 
 
Other public comment. 
 
A resident spoke in favor of the applicant. She is an archery coach and 
has taught at Benicia Middle School. She supports this business applicant. 
This sport is very safe for youth and children. 
 
Public Comment closed. 
 
Commissioner Dean spoke in favor of this applicant. It is an opportunity to 
fill more space in the industrial park. 
 
On motion of Commissioner Syracuse and seconded by Commissioner 
Sherry, the Planning Commission approved a Use Permit for an indoor 
archery range at 3001 Bayshore Road, adopted by the following vote: 
 
Ayes: Commissioners Dean, Oakes, Sherry, Syracuse and Chair 

Thomas 
Noes:  None 
Absent: Commissioner Smith 
Abstain: Commissioner Ernst  
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C. GENERAL PLAN CONFORMANCE ASSOCIATED WITH VACATION OF 
PORTION OF ACCESS EASEMENT ADJACENT TO 532 CAMBRIDGE DRIVE 

 

PROJECT SUMMARY: 

 To allow the property owner of 532 Cambridge Drive to purchase a pie-
shaped portion of an existing easement along his east property line. The 
portion is approximately 40’ wide at the north edge of the subject 
property, tapering easterly to 20’ at the south property boundary. The 
change still allows for a wide access to the open space area that is 
approximately 38 feet wide along Cambridge Drive, and remains 25’ 
wide at the open space boundary. Consistent with the Benicia Municipal 
Code, staff recommends Commission approval of a General Plan  

Conformance to vacate the approximately 2,340 square feet of existing 
access easement adjacent to 532 Cambridge Drive. The proposed 
request is that the Planning Commission determines that the vacation of 
a portion of an existing open space access easement on the east edge 
of the property at 532 Cambridge Drive is consistent with the General 
Plan. A 25+ foot wide strip would be retained for public access. 

 

 Staff’s Recommendation: 

 Approve a General Plan Conformance to vacate an access easement 
along the east side of the property at 532 Cambridge Drive consistent 
with the goals, objectives and policies of the General Plan and based on 
the findings set forth in the attached resolution. 

 

Mr. Rhoades presented a brief overview of the item. The adjacent 
resident wishes to purchase at fair market value the access easement 
adjacent to his property. It’s a triangular shape parcel and leaves 25 feet 
for open space access. It is zoned residential, not open space. 

 

Commissioner Questions. 

 

Commissioner Ernst asked if the City sells this easement, will there be 25’ 
access for fire trucks.  This parcel is wider at the street and narrower at the 
back. 

 

Commissioner Sherry commented that it is not an open space easement 
but a parcel deeded to the City. He noted that staff should take the 
topography into account, which makes the open space access 
narrower. Will the property owner fence this in. The existing pole with sign 
(shown in the staff report) may need to be relocated. The City may want 
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to install a post and chain to allow foot and bicycle access to the 
remaining access easement but prevent vehicles from using it. He asked 
if we can add that condition. 

 

Mr. Rhoades responded that we can forward those comments to the City 
Council and check with Public Works staff on the cost to relocate the 
sign. 

 

Commissioner Syracuse asked if this additional square footage would 
provide enough room to build another house. 

 

Mr. Rhoades responded that no, it falls short of that size. 

 

Commissioner Ernst referred to Commissioner Smith’s written comment 
that 25’ may not be enough room for fire access. Has the Fire Dept been 
asked to comment. 

 

Mr. Rhoades responded that he will forward those concerns to City 
Council. 

 

Commissioner Sherry commented that the access at the back of the 
access parcel is closer to 20’ because of the slope. 

 

Commissioner Dean asked regarding General Plan consistency, are there 
any polices on the sale of public property. Is there a public benefit by the 
sale. 

 

Mr. Rhoades responded that the action before the Planning Commission 
is to determine General Plan consistency. The parcel will be sold at fair 
market value and an appraisal is being conducted. There is no loss of 
open space to the public, which is a City policy. 

 

Public Comment Opened. 

 

Robin Stewart, owner of 532 Cambridge Drive and applicant, stated that 
this request was made 3 years ago. She and her husband have been in 
touch with Fire Department staff and they have no concerns about the 
easement purchase. There are other access points the Fire Staff can use 
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and 20’ is ample width.  The parcel will look no different than it does now 
other than they it will be fenced. 

 

No questions from Commissioners. 

 

Public Comment closed. 

 

On motion made by Commission Ernst and seconded by Commissioner 
Syracuse, the Planning Commission hereby finds the vacation of a portion 
of open space access easement in conformance with the goal, policies 
and programs of the General Plan, and directs staff to forward Planning 
Commission’s recommendations to City Council concerning adding a 
post and chain across the open space access and moving the existing 
sign, and adopted by the following vote: 

 

Ayes:  Commissioners Dean, Ernst, Oakes, Sherry, Syracuse and 
Chair Thomas 

Noes:  None 

Absent: Commissioner Smith 

Abstain: None 

 
VI. COMMUNICATION FROM STAFF 
 
Mr. Rhoades informed the Commission of the 2012 Meeting Calendar 
memorandum distributed to Commissioners at the beginning of the meeting.  The 
next regular meeting of the Planning Commission is January 12, 2012. The rest of 
the 2012 meeting calendar will be in the agenda for that meeting. 
 
Mr. Rhoades updated the Commission that the New Harbor Church (on Blake Ct) 
project is moving forward. The applicant has agreed to present their site plan and 
staff’s diagram plans to the HPRC and Planning Commission at a joint workshop.  
Mr. Rhoades asked if Commissioners would prefer a date of 1/12 (before the 
regular meeting) or on 1/26 (the HPRC regular meeting).  
 
The Commissioners decided on the January 12 meeting date. 
 
Mr. Rhoades informed the Commission that regarding the 410 West J Street 
project, a new procedure has been added to the building permit application 
process. The new procedure will require the applicant to sign a statement that for 
a window replacement in the historic district the window replacements must be 
“in kind.” Staff will inspect the property before the permit is finalized. 
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VII.  COMMUNICATION FROM COMMISSIONERS 
 
Commissioner Dean commented on surplus property sales and determining 
General Plan conformance. He stated that it feels like the Commission is “bending 
some lines” to make the points needed. The Commission is looking at one narrow 
issue and the General Plan conformance is one sub-set of that, which is 
frustrating. Isn’t the real issue “is this a good idea or not?” 
 
Ms. Wellman read from Gov. Code Section 65402 which requires the Planning 
Commission to find that the sale of public property is in conformance and 
consistent with the City’s General Plan. There are a number of actions that require 
the Planning Commission to make these findings before the City Council can act. 
 
Commissioner Dean asked for any recommendations or what is the mechanism 
for a Commissioner. 
 
Ms. Wellman advised the Commission to pass along comments with your findings, 
but it does not weigh in on the vote. 
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Meeting was adjourned at 9:45 pm. 
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BENICIA HISTORIC PRESERVATION REVIEW COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 
City Hall Commission Room 
Thursday, October 27, 2011 

6:30 P.M. 
 
 

I. OPENING OF MEETING:   
 
A. Pledge of Allegiance 
B. Roll Call of Commissioners 
 
Present:  Commissioners Haughey, McKee, Taagepera, Van Landschoot, White 

and Chair Crompton 
 

Absent:  Commissioner Mang 
 

Staff Present:  
Charlie Knox, Public Works and Community Development Director 
Lisa Porras, Senior Planner 
Stacy Hatfield, Sr. Admin. Clerk, Recording Secretary  
 
C. Reference to Fundamental Rights of Public  
 

II. ADOPTION OF AGENDA: 
On motion of Commissioner White, seconded by Commissioner Van Landschoot, 
the Agenda was approved by a majority vote.                       

 
III. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
A. WRITTEN COMMENT 

None 
 
B. PUBLIC COMMENT 

None
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IV. PRESENTATIONS 

None. 
 

V. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
A. Approval of Minutes of September 22, 2011 
 
B. 519 FIRST STREET – DESIGN REVIEW FOR EXTERIOR MODIFICATIONS (NEW DOOR) TO 
 THE NON-HISTORIC COMMERCIAL STOREFRONT TO BE ADDRESSED AS 519 FIRST 
 STREET (FORMERLY 523 FIRST STREET) 

 11PLN-00049 Design Review 
519 First Street 
APN: 0089-173-06-0 
  
PROPOSAL: 
The applicant requests design review approval to modify the east façade of the 
existing commercial building located at 519 First Street within the Downtown 
Historic Conservation District. The proposal results in the creation of a new 
storefront through the addition of an interior partition and new exterior entry. The 
new storefront will match the adjacent storefront (Char’s Hot Dogs) located at 
523 First Street.  
 
Recommendation:  Approve design review request for a minor exterior 
modification (new door) to the east façade of the existing commercial 
building located at 519 First Street, based on the findings, and subject to 
the conditions listed in the proposed resolution. 
 

On motion of Commissioner White, seconded by Commissioner Haughey, the Consent 
Calendar was approved by the following vote: 
 
Ayes: Commissioners Haughey, Taagepera, Van Landschoot, White and Chair 

Crompton 
Noes:  None 
Absent:  Commissioner Mang 
Abstain:  Commissioner McKee 
 

VI. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 
A. DESIGN REVIEW TO REPLACE FIVE WINDOWS ON THE SIDE AND FRONT 

FAÇADES OF THE EXISITNG SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE LOCATED AT 410 WEST 
J STREET 
11PLN-00064 Design Review 
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410 West J Street 
APN: 0089-031-090 

 
PROPOSAL:   
The applicant requests design review approval to replace five 
deteriorating wood windows with new, paintable custom vinyl windows 
on the existing single-family residence located at 410 West J Street, a 
contributing structure within the Downtown Historic Overlay District. 

 
Recommendation:  Approve the design review request for a minor 
exterior modification (replacement windows) to the sides and front 
façade of the existing residence located at 410 West J Street, based on 
the findings, and subject to the conditions listed in the proposed 
resolution and as discussed during the public hearing. 
 
Lisa Porras, Senior Planner, presented the staff report, as written, and 
gave an overview of the project reviewing the applicable policies 
and guidelines that provide direction for it.  Lisa also pointed out a 
correction that needs to be made to the resolution that was 
distributed as part of the packet.  Brian Maloney’s name should be 
replaced with Julian and Claudia Fraser as the applicants requesting 
Design Review approval.  
  
The Commissioners asked for clarification and additional information 
on the windows that are to be replaced.   They also reiterated that 
homes designated as Contributing or Historic are to be treated the 
same.  In addition, the same standards for window replacement 
apply to homes that are either Mills Act or non-Mills Act.   
 
The appropriateness of the window replacement material was also 
discussed.  If windows are unable to be repaired or restored, then 
they are to be replaced in-kind.  They also noted that all property 
owners, both Historic and Contributing, should be treated with 
consistency and that no concessions have been made for previous 
applicants on the replacement of front windows in the past.  
 
Commissioner McKee voiced his opinion that the characteristics of 
this house are not that distinguishing and are pretty plain in 
character.  He believes this would be a good opportunity to exercise 
some flexibility with the applicant on replacement of the windows. 
 
On the motion of Commissioner Van Landschoot, seconded by 
Commissioner Haughey, the following motion was made: 
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1. The three wood windows on the front façade of the house are 
to be refurbished or replaced with new wood windows. 

2. The existing vinyl window on the front façade of the house is to 
be restored to its original state, which also was wood.    

3. The two windows on the side elevations of the house may be 
replaced with vinyl. 

 
After discussion among the Commissioners on the above motion, 
item number 2 of the motion was revised as follows and a new 
motion was made to include those changes. 
 

1. The three wood windows on the front façade of the house are 
to be refurbished or replaced with new wood windows. 

2. The Commission is encouraging the applicant to restore the 
one existing vinyl window on the front façade of the house 
back to its original condition, which was wood. 

3. The two windows on the side elevations of the house may be 
replaced with vinyl.   

 
RESOLUTION NO. 11-10 (HPRC) A RESOLUTION OF THE HISTORIC 
PRESERVATION REVIEW COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF BENICIA 
ADDRESSING WINDOW REPLACEMENT AT 410 WEST J STREET 

 
On motion of Commissioner Van Lanschoot, seconded by Commissioner White, the 
above resolution was approved by the following vote: 
 
Ayes: Commissioners Taagepera, Van Landschoot, White and Chair Crompton 
Noes:  Commissioners Haughey and McKee 
Absent:  Commissioner Mang 
Abstain:  None 

 
VII. COMMUNICATIONS FROM STAFF 

None 
 

VIII. COMMUNICATIONS FROM COMMISSIONERS 
Commissioner Van Lanschoot asked staff what it would approximately cost to 
rewrite the Downtown Historic Conservation Plan.   Staff indicated that they 
thought it would be approximately $150,000 and felt part of that amount could 
be grantable. 
 
Commissioner Taagepera shared that she has heard positive comments about 
the HPRC.  She believes that problems arise when property owners are not 
treated consistently.  
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Commissioner Haughey shared information about her attendance at the Design 
Awards presentation. 
 

IX. ADJOURNMENT 
Chair Crompton adjourned the meeting at 8:20 p.m.   
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[Start of recorded material] 

 

David Crompton: Next item is our regular agenda item. This is a designing review for 

replacement five windows on the side and front façades of existing 

single-family residence located at 410 West J Street. Does staff 

have a presentation? 

 

Female Voice: Yes, good evening, Chair Crompton, uh, and commissioners. Uh, 

I'll be presenting, uh, the staff report to you tonight, uh, which, uh, 

applies to an existing single-family residence located at 410 West J 

Street. Uh, but, before we get started, I just wanted to know -- uh, 

note a couple of corrections on the dais. There's a replacement page 

to the first page of the resolution. Uh, but, on that page, it references 

the owner, uh, as -- uh, it, it includes the wrong owner on the, uh, 

on the first page of the resolution. So, we would change that to John 

and Claudia Frasier. So, that's just something I wanted to note, uh, 

before we got started. 

 

 Uh, so, as I mentioned, uh, a moment ago, I'll be presenting the 

information about the project that is -- as it is described in the staff 

report, uh, that you have in your packet. Uh, following the 

presentation, as always, is the opportunity for the Commission to 

ask questions. And most of the questions tonight will likely be able 

to be, uh, answered by, uh, the applicant if the applicant, uh, 

chooses to, uh, arrive and also by the Director Charlie Knox, who's 

with us tonight. 
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 Uh, so, as the staff report states, uh, the applicant is requesting just 

your approval, the Commission's approval to replace five 

deteriorating wood windows with new paintable custom vinyl 

windows. Uh, the recommendation as written in the report is to 

approve this design review request. 

 

 The structure, uh, is located on the south side of J Street between 

West 3rd and West 4th Street and is listed as a contributing 

structure. Uh, specifically, the applicant's requesting, uh, the 

Commission's approval to replace five deteriorated single-paned 

wood windows. Uh, there are three, uh, located on the front façade. 

Uh, and there is, uh, another one on the east façade and one on the 

west-facing façade. Uh, there is actually, uh, a diagram in your 

packet that identifies where these five existing, uh, wood windows 

are located on the primary residence, uh, which are proposed to be, 

uh, replaced with high-quality paintable, paintable vinyl windows. 

 

 Uh, in the staff report, uh, it describes, uh, where these, uh, 

proposed, uh, window types will be, uh, will be placed on the 

primary, uh, residence. And as shown on the back wall there, there's 

a couple of diagrams. Uh, maybe I should just quickly 

[unintelligible] for discussion purposes. So, I could do this before, 

but we'll call this A, and we'll call this B and C. 

 

 So, basically, A, B, and C -- actually, A and B are the proposed 

windows that would occur on the front-facing façade. And, uh, this 
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particular window here would go on the east- and west-facing 

façades. So, basically, uh, window B would replace, uh, the three 

windows that are located under these arches and under the, uh, 

porch roof overhang. 

 

 Uh, the staff report goes on to describe a number of different 

polices that were, uh, reviewed in, uh, evaluating the applicants' 

request. Uh, rather than repeat them entirely, I would just quickly 

note that, as the staff report, uh, describes, uh, there -- the -- overall, 

basically, what the staff report's saying is that the window 

configurations are not going to change. So, that's consistent with 

policy guideline number two, and to maintain the proportions of the 

window opening. 

 

 And policy two is talking about window sash should match the 

original of window sash. And the sash dimension as proposed is 

nearly identical to the original work. Policy three describes where 

inappropriate or later materials have been removed, they should be 

replaced with the original material. Basically, as written in the 

report, it's described in the guidelines in so far as the applicant 

would replace all windows on the house that they should be 

replacing all of them with original wood windows, which would 

require that the applicant at significant expense would need to order 

windows for the entire structure and which the applicant is saying 

that this is not financially feasible and would constitute a burden 

upon them. 
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 In addition, policy number four, it talks about using original 

materials whenever it's possible. Once again, as written in the 

report, it's not financially feasible for the applicant to replace all of 

the windows on the property with period-appropriate wood 

windows. 

 

 And finally, policy four is talking about substitute materials. They 

should be close as possible to that of the original. The five existing 

wood windows are smooth-painted single-hung narrow -- with 

narrow-frame dimensions. And the proposed replacement windows 

are the same, smooth in texture [unintelligible] and single hung. 

 

 Policy four, guideline 4.3 talks about wood window sashes 

preferred for historic buildings and vinyl clad wood or factory-

finished aluminum frames are acceptable if the original design can 

be duplicated. And again, the report goes on to say that the structure 

is not itself a landmark but is listed as a contributing structure in the 

Downtown Historic Conservation Plan. And the features of the 

structure that are listed as character defining include the arch porch 

openings and stucco interior. And the applicant, again, is not 

proposing to alter either of these character-defining features. 

 

 And the staff report also references that the project is consistent 

with the Secretary of Interior's standards. And finally, to 

summarize, the applicant is not proposing to change any of the 

character-defining architectural features of the home, which include 

the stucco cladding and the arch porch openings. The structure is 
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not a landmark but is a contributing structure. And the window 

modifications will neither reduce the home's ability to convey its 

architectural character nor cause any impacts to designated 

landmark structures or Downtown Historic Overlay District in 

general. 

 

 The windows proposed for change from wood to paintable vinyl are 

not highly visible from the street façade because they are tucked 

behind a covered porch with arched openings. And the proposed 

new windows will provide more uniform design that is consistent in 

appearance with the original wood windows. The project will also 

include the most visible window with [unintelligible] dimensions 

that are more appropriate than what currently exists. The proposed 

new windows will fit with the original openings built for the 

structure. 

 

 As such, it is recommended that the Historic Preservation 

Commission approve design review based upon the findings, the 

Commission's approval and the proposed resolution. And that 

concludes staff's presentation. 

 

David Crompton: Thank you. Are there any questions of staff? 

 

Leann Taagepera: Chair Crompton, I have couple of questions. Can you say again or if 

you have [unintelligible] how many original wood windows are 

proposed to be replaced? 
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Female Voice: Five. 

 

Leann Taagepera: So, the three in the front and two on the side? 

 

Female Voice: Correct. 

 

Leann Taagepera: And the ones on the side are currently the bigger double or single 

kind, and the top comes down. 

 

Female Voice: Yeah, they're single hung. 

 

Leann Taagepera: And, but, would the -- on the side ones propose a different style this 

way? 

 

Female Voice: It's my understand that yes [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, the -- there's -- one of the side one is a single-hung one. It's 

on the west elevation. If you look at the page with [unintelligible]. 

And then there's one on the east elevation. That is a single-facing 

one. I'm sorry the one on the west elevation's single hung. The one 

on the east is [casement]. 

 

Female Voice: That's being replaced? 

 

Male Voice: So, the question is, are the ones on the side that have 

[unintelligible]? 
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Female Voice: Being replaced with this? 

 

Male Voice: There's one casement, one existing casement, one [unintelligible]. If 

you look at the page with the actual mapping of the windows, if you 

look at the bottom left, that's the east side. That's casement. If you 

look at the bottom right, that's single hung. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Is there a picture of the casement one? 

 

Male Voice: I do not see one. 

 

Female Voice: This or -- 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Leann Taagepera: I can't really see this one. This one is a one over, you know, single 

or double like this one? So, which one is the -- ? 

 

Male Voice: I think that's the same thing. That's the same window. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Uh, it is? This window is that window? 

 

Male Voice: There must be. 

 

Leann Taagepera: So, there's another one that is not an original one that is a casement 

or that is -- it's original wood casement, not -- ? 

 

VIII.A.254



 HPRC Meeting 10.27.11 

Page 8 
 
 
 
 

Male Voice: Don't know. According to the application, it's wood and casement 

panel is originally not. 

 

Female Voice: Not if it's casement [unintelligible]. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Yeah, so, it's wood, but -- 

 

Female Voice: It's casement. It's not original. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Not in wood. 

 

Female Voice: No. And this is the front. 

 

Female Voice: That is -- 

 

Male Voice: Yeah. 

 

Female Voice: It should be the front, yes. 

 

Male Voice: And that [unintelligible] vinyl. 

 

Male Voice: That is currently vinyl. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Can staff clarify why the staff report says that the HPRC has no 

authority over the replacement of the existing vinyl window? 

 

Male Voice: It's like to like, same size, same size dimensions. Is that fair? 
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Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Female Voice: Only if they're keeping the window, not if they're replacing it. 

 

Leann Taagepera: And how does that compare to [Meals Act] applicants who have 

existing inappropriate windows and HPRC requires them to replace 

them with appropriate wood windows? That was not outside of our 

authority. So, I -- 

 

Male Voice: The Meals Act contracts are negotiated with the HPRC. It's agreed 

upon. 

 

Toni Haughey: But, we use the same standards. We really basically use the same 

standards for window replacement with the Meals Act as well as 

the, uh, you know, non-Meals Act. And if, if a person isn't -- has 

[unintelligible] project, you guys correct me if I'm incorrect. 

 

David Crompton: Let's try to keep this to questions at this point if -- 

 

Toni Haughey: Well, but, this is the an-- yeah, this is the question. I mean, if they -- 

get my train of thought back. Uh, if they're not replacing their 

windows, then we don't usually, uh, make any kind of 

recommendation. But, if they're replacing the windows, they -- we 

usually ask them to replace them with wood original-style windows. 

And we've asked the same thing of people not getting windows. 

But, but, I have a question for you. 
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David Crompton: Question, yes. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Well, I don't understand what the authority is to say that we don't 

have the authority as HPRC. Where is that found in the ordinance or 

in the Downtown Historic Conservation Plan where it describes the 

authority of staff, the Community Development Director, the 

HPRC? And does it say someone comes in? If it, if it's been 

inappropriately -- inappropriate situation already, I understand if it's 

wood and they're putting in new wood or if you have a wood, uh, 

stair, and you're putting in -- and it's rotted, and you're putting in 

another wood stair that that's appropriate material replaced with in-

kind appropriate material. 

 

 But, if you have inappropriate windows, for example, the Odd 

Fellows [unintelligible] First Street had inappropriate aluminum 

windows and then came in and put in newly appropriate aluminum 

windows. And we had discussed this and argued that in kind didn't 

mean inappropriate in kind. In kind meant appropriate materials or 

style replaced with other appropriate materials and style. So, I'm not 

understanding why HPRC has no authority over that window. 

 

Male Voice: There's two places in the Downtown Historic Conservation Plan 

based on [unintelligible]. 

 

Female Voice: Sure. I can share with the Commission that, on page 25 of the 

Downtown Historic Conservation Plan, the subtitle is Applicability 
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and Exceptions. There's a couple of bold points describing 

examples that apply to designated historic structures. And one of 

the examples for an exemption would be -- sorry, page 25? 

 

Leann Taagepera: Twenty-five. 

 

Female Voice: -- would be replacement of existing windows or doors with 

windows or doors of the same diminish -- dim-- excuse me, 

dimension, finish, and overall appearance. And then I think -- 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Female Voice: Okay. 

 

David Crompton: Mr. White? 

 

Michael White: Does not finish include the type of material that the paint is put on, 

wood finish, plastic finish, steel finish? 

 

Female Voice: Well, I believe the existing window the one that's most prominent 

on the side of the building that extends outward is an existing vinyl 

window -- 

 

Michael White: Mm-hmm. 

 

Female Voice: -- which is I believe why -- I didn't write the report. But, it's which 

is I believe why it was noted in the staff report that that particular 

VIII.A.258



 HPRC Meeting 10.27.11 

Page 12 
 
 
 
 

window would be considered in kind because it's generally going to 

be of the same appearance. It's not changing its configuration or 

dimension. And it's of the same material. 

 

Michael White: Was that window put in with or without a permit? 

 

Female Voice: I don't believe the window that's propo-- I don't know if it's been put 

in yet actually. I'm not, I'm not certain. 

 

Male Voice: You're saying that is the one that's existing? 

 

Michael White: Yes, the existing vinyl windows that were put in, were they put in 

with or without a permit? 

 

Male Voice: I don't know. 

 

Michael White: So, they could've been put in illegally, so therefore not valid. 

 

Male Voice: They could've been put in [unintelligible]. It's not [unintelligible]. 

It's not [unintelligible]. 

 

Michael White: Well, it is because we're talking about the Secretary of Interior 

Standards here, aren't we? 

 

Female Voice: Right. 
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Michael White: And if we had this Commission at that time applying these 

standards and the windows were put in then, then they were put in 

illegally. Therefore, they're not a valid window. 

 

Male Voice: And that's, that's a possibility. But, it really -- you know, it'd just be 

a guessing game at this point what happened, you know, in the past. 

 

Male Voice: Well, the Commission's been around for how many years? And I 

think -- you know, these windows are probably 20 or 30 years old, 

the vinyl ones that are in there. 

 

Toni Haughey: But, they were inappropriate when they were put in to begin with. 

And the whole point of all of this is to put the appropriate materials 

back in. It's not about replacing inappropriate materials with more 

inappropriate materials. But, I have a question. 

 

David Crompton: Question. Yes. 

 

Toni Haughey: My question is -- and maybe we can clarify this right now. But, I 

want to put this in the record. I don't think -- and everyone here can 

correct me if I'm incorrect -- that we have a different policy here for 

landmarks versus contributing buildings. I mean, so that -- 

landmarks, I don't think that has anything to do with anything. I 

mean, as far as my experience here is we have basically here a 

contributing building, whether a landmark or not. We have been 

using the same standards. We're using these standards, and we're 

applying them to all houses. And sometimes maybe we take a little 
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bit different -- you know, a little bit closer look at somebody, you 

know, who's got a landmark building, like the [Ridelle-Fish] house 

or, uh, [lice winthose Captain Walsh]. And so, we're a little more 

nervous about those because, because of what they mean, not just 

for our community but for the state of California. 

 

 But, we use the same criteria for any work that they're doing there. 

So, to say that there's a difference between landmarks, I'm just 

questioning that. And maybe that's something we'll deal with in the 

future. I don't want to waste time on it. But, it came up a couple of 

times tonight in the report. 

 

David Crompton: Any questions? Yes. 

 

Male Voice: Do we know if the proposed vinyl windows resemble the profile 

and width of the existing vinyl in the front gable, you know, the, the 

existing one that we've just been talking about, most prominent 

window of the whole house, the two vinyls in the front? 

 

Male Voice: I think the staff report actually says it has a slightly thicker sash 

width that more resembles what would've been there, you know, 

originally, the original. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. 

 

Toni Haughey: Did you have one more question? 
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Male Voice: Yes. 

 

Toni Haughey: The windows that are on the porch -- there was a picture there 

[unintelligible]. All right. You know, they're different there than, 

you know, the kind of window. And they have a little kind of a dip 

around the edge, and they're the original windows. What is the 

problem with keeping those windows? 

 

Male Voice: That's a rhetorical question. 

 

Toni Haughey: Because what the policy is to repair -- if you have the -- this whole 

thing with windows is, if you have the original windows, you're 

supposed to -- all -- you're supposed to make the attempt. And this 

is part of what our -- we've talked about this several months over 

the years because we just came up with a policy months ago. We 

also spent time, you know, finding out what other cities were doing. 

But, anyway, the bottom line is, if you have the original windows, 

you're supposed to try to keep those windows, repair them, do -- at 

all costs. There's all kinds of brochures on how to replace those 

windows. This is not something indigenous to Benicia. This is all 

over. We've -- I forget how many different cities we went to. 

 

 Anyway, so, I guess my question is, what -- why are they not 

retaining those windows, you know, and repairing them? And do 

they have windows -- are the windows in? Or, do they have the 

windows? Have they bought the windows [unintelligible]? 
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Male Voice: I don't believe the applicant is here. I think -- my understanding 

from the applicant is they have purchased the windows they were 

applying for -- approval for. [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Toni Haughey: Before they went to the -- to, to you, before they went to -- 

 

Male Voice: Before they came to you? 

 

Male Voice: Has there been any consideration on the feasibility of restoring the 

wood windows, the three front wood windows? 

 

Male Voice: Not the [unintelligible]. 

 

Toni Haughey: That's in our policy. 

 

Male Voice: Yes. 

 

Male Voice: Charlie, I have a question regarding Section 1 of the resolution that 

-- whether it's on the new page or the old page. It says in the -- at 

the sixth line, replacement [initially] of those typical of the period. I 

don't think [unintelligible] 1930s they had vinyl windows, which I 

think is to my point. Uh, uh, do you have a sense that vinyl 

windows were in existence in the 1930s? 

 

Male Voice: I'm sorry. Where are you looking? 
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Male Voice: On the first page of the resolution of -- it's a copy of the one that 

Lisa gave out. Uh, no, I'm sorry. It's not. It's -- 

 

Female Voice: That's a diff-- that's a signed resolution on -- 

 

Male Voice: It's a signed -- it's a resolution. I'm sorry. I got my -- I got, you 

know. Uh, this is a resolution of the Commission, uh, this year, 11-

3. And it talks about all the steps the Commission has gone through 

to talk about what -- uh, sorry, doors and windows and façades. Uh, 

and, uh, and my question boils down to, were -- you know of that 

vinyl windows were typical in the 1930s. 

 

Female Voice: I don't know if they had vinyl. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. 

 

Female Voice: And they had [unintelligible] vinyl. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, I know. But, okay. Second one is -- and it's more to your 

question is, I have a sense that the, uh, the, uh, class that, that, uh, I 

forget. Is it Robert or, uh, the guy -- I mean, uh, Mark, uh, noted is, 

is wrong. He has 15331. And I think it's, uh, 15301. Uh, he has 

15301 in his -- I think it's 15331, which is really more to the point, 

historic resource reallocation and rehabilitation. And, uh, it talks 

about maintenance repairs, stabilization, preservation, restoration, 

uh, of the Secretary of Interior Standards. So, if he says that it's 
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category -- categorically exempt because it's following the 

Secretary of Interior Standards, I think he's got an argument that 

goes around in a circle and bites its tail. 

 

 It's category -- categorically exempt, but it's not by the Secretary of 

Interior Standards on taking my -- if he -- if the applicant wants to 

do a study, I think it would cost him more than to just change the 

windows into wood. 

 

Male Voice: The bottom line is that that's staff's recommendation. And, and you 

know, we're here to consider the recommendation and go -- either 

go with it or make amendments or whatever we're going to do. 

 

David Crompton: Any more questions of staff? 

 

Male Voice: Uh, yes, one last question. The report or the diagram here says 

they're going to replace seven windows. 

 

Male Voice: No, actually, I think they're replacing the wall actually. They're 

replacing [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: And on the bottom right, it says, "Scope, replace seven windows." 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: Five are the wood I believe. 
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Female Voice: Pardon me? 

 

Male Voice: Five are wood. 

 

Female Voice: I guess two are [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Uh, you may -- no, you may be right. It may -- 

 

Male Voice: I think -- 

 

Male Voice: -- be looking at the breadth as two single lines together and then just 

looking at the ones [unintelligible]. I don't know. 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: So, I didn't, I didn't go [unintelligible]. But, there's three woods in 

the front and two woods on the side. So, there's five woods that 

were proposed to be replaced with vinyl. And the rest are vinyl 

proposed to be replaced with vinyl, correct? 

 

Female Voice: It's [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Make sense? 

 

Male Voice: Pardon me? Cur-currently, there are five wood windows, three on 

the front, two on -- one on each side. Those are proposed to be 
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replaced with vinyl. The rest are vinyl. They're proposed to be 

replaced with vinyl. I think that's what's -- 

 

Male Voice: Mm-hmm. 

 

Male Voice: -- what's going on, right? 

 

Male Voice: I suppose -- 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: I talked to [unintelligible]. But, I would suppose that the, the other 

option would be when they say the scope or what they've asked so 

far for -- so far seven windows that they would be talking about the 

five wood ones we've identified plus the two, the double -- the two 

single ones side by side on the front of the house that are vinyl now. 

 

Female Voice: So, the seven windows are, are then in the rear. 

 

Male Voice: I, I just told you what I, what I know. 

 

Female Voice: Okay. Well -- 

 

David Crompton: More questions? 

 

Female Voice: Unfortunate that he's not here. No. 
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Female Voice: One more question. On this, the [unintelligible] plan sheet, it shows 

the permit number and reviewed for code compliance date. I mean, 

does that mean the Building Department already approved -- ? 

 

Male Voice: No, those permits [unintelligible]. It's got [unintelligible] become 

approved. But, as soon as it was discovered was that what was 

really being asked for was replacing wood with vinyl, it was 

brought to the Commission's, uh -- 

 

Female Voice: Okay. 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: That -- so, we have no applicant owner tonight? 

 

Female Voice: No, I'm sorry. Another question. 

 

David Crompton: Question, yes. 

 

Female Voice: Our question is, says existing vinyl window. Then, uh -- 

 

Male Voice: This is on that little chart -- 

 

Female Voice: -- that you have, so -- 

 

Male Voice: -- of the house. 
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Female Voice: -- are the -- on the top of the page, it says, "Window to be changed." 

And it has a light-colored star and then the more, you know, 

aggrandized star is -- relates to the front windows. Does that mean 

they're not changing the front window? 

 

Male Voice: No, I, I think they are changing the front window. 

 

Female Voice: All right. 

 

Male Voice: So, what I think I know -- 

 

Female Voice: Yes. 

 

Male Voice: -- is what's in the report, is if you look at the picture of the one that 

Lisa labeled A on the top left of those photographs is the, the 

window that's been ordered to replace the one that sits under the 

eave and then on the furthest front protecting the side. 

 

Female Voice: All right. Okay. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. No, on the east or west side, in the family room? 

 

Female Voice: West. 

 

Male Voice: In the family -- on the front of the family room on the front. 

 

Male Voice: And that's B. 
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Female Voice: So, that's that. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. 

 

Female Voice: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: So, that's being -- so, it's one, two, three, four, five -- 

 

Male Voice: And then is B all the three that is -- 

 

Female Voice: -- six. 

 

Male Voice: -- but, the dining room -- 

 

Male Voice: Yes. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. And then C is on the -- 

 

Male Voice: C would be on the left side on the east side. 

 

Male Voice: The east side and the west side? 

 

Male Voice: No, the west side is single hung. On this diagram, the west side 

shows single-hung, SH. But, it's just casement on the east side on 

the far left. 
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Male Voice: Okay. And then the rest of the windows are not going to get 

touched? 

 

Male Voice: You know, that's, that's my assumption from this. I mean, maybe 

they will in the future. 

 

Male Voice: Uh-huh. 

 

Male Voice: But, but, it looks like what was applied for originally before having 

to come back to HPRC was replace seven of those. My assumption 

is, is the five wood and then they count the double, the two over 

two as two windows, even though it's one. 

 

Male Voice: In the family room. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, because that makes sense because I think that that was that 

the other one was maintenance replacement. It wasn't part of the 

application. So -- questions? Are we done? Okay. No applicant. So, 

I'm going to open up to the public. Does anybody -- the public that 

would like to address this item? Seeing none, I would bring to -- act 

before the Commission for [dispatching] [unintelligible]. 
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Male Voice: I had to wait until you [unintelligible]. Can I ask the res-- Charlie a 

question? 

 

Male Voice: Yes, uh, yes. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. Do you have any sense of why the applicants didn't come? 

Did they know? 

 

Charlie Knox: Uh, I would just be guessing actually. Uh, sent an email today to 

Mr. Frasier. I think they may be out of town. I went to look at the 

windows today before this meeting. And usually, they have vehicle 

parking. And there's nothing there. So, [unintelligible] gone. 

 

Male Voice: And they put -- it's your understanding, whether it's correct or not 

that they have purchased windows, five or seven windows. 

 

Charlie Knox: I believe they have purchased all these windows. 

 

Male Voice: And on the, on the, uh -- 

 

Charlie Knox: Yeah, the five, the five, five replacement window, far side. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. 

 

Male Voice: That's my understanding. 
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Leann Taagepera: Okay. Why don't we just start? 

 

Male Voice: Please. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Yep. Okay. Well, I guess I'd like to start by saying that, uh, I'd like 

to discuss it tonight. And what I'm really interested in is a 

reworking of the staff report and continue it, bring it back to us at a 

later date. Uh, issues are, one, like John said, the wrong categorical 

exemption is being used. And the same one that is now 

[unintelligible] the one John said, 15331, Historical Resource 

Restoration, Rehabilitation, is the one to use for historic buildings. 

 

 Uh, the staff report makes statements that says that, "Since the 

[BPR] form did not list windows as a contributing feature, they're 

not considered a contributing feature." I really think, uh, it sounds 

like a person who has no [unintelligible] preservation planning 

wrote this. If you even just -- 

 

Male Voice: You know, I'm -- stop you. 

 

Leann Taagepera: -- Googling -- 

 

Male Voice: Excuse me. Point [unintelligible] that HPRC is required to follow 

the same code of conduct that the council is, which means no 

disparaging remarks about the staff or about the public or the 

[unintelligible]. Thank you. 
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Leann Taagepera: I'm sorry. I feel that person has background in historic preservation 

planning, they would know that it goes without saying that windows 

are contributing features, just like doors. You could Google for 30 

seconds, and you come up with, uh, you know, National Park 

Service preservation briefs on the repair of historic [unintelligible] 

windows. 

 

Male Voice: I [unintelligible]. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Uh, the other -- 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Leann Taagepera: -- [unintelligible] briefs on building exterior windows, uh, our 

window policy, and jurisdictions across every state of the nation 

that have policies about windows and wooden windows. Uh, so, I 

didn't mean to disparage [Mark Rose]. I'm just quite surprised that 

someone who, who would write this for us would make the 

statement that, if it's not in the [unintelligible] BPR, it's not 

considered a contributing feature. 

 

 Uh, if the -- [Carol Rollin] listed some contributing features of 

some buildings. She also made a lot of mistakes. You know, a lot of 

the buildings, she said some -- some parts she called out that are 

actually new. She called those contributing features. And then 

[Toni, Javi], and I sat on a committee and went through every one 
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of the 250 proximate survey forms. And we spent a lot of time with 

those. So, we actually have a lot of experience, uh, with that. 

 

 But, I mean, windows, doors, roof lines, they are contributing 

features to a building. Whether or not Carol Rollin put the word 

window in there, we routinely look at windows. And, uh, we 

approve windows and work plans for Meals Act projects, talk about 

restoring windows. So, uh, that's a problem. 

 

 Also, I'd really like to see an analysis looking at [Weaksin 

Grimmer] about recommended and not recommended and not just 

the 10 statements under rehabilitation. Uh, you know, if you go 

through the technical briefs and talk about windows, it says, "As 

one of the few parts of the building surveying as both an interior 

and exterior feature, windows are nearly always an important part to 

historic character of the building. In most buildings, windows also 

comprise a considerable amount of historic fabric [unintelligible] 

and are best -- are deserving a special consideration in a rehabil-

rehabilitation project." So, they run through not recommended and 

recommended, uh, when you're doing rehabilitation. 

 

 And not recommended, one of the items is changing the historic 

appearance of windows with the use of inappropriate designs, 

materials, finishes, or colors, which noticeably change the sash, 

depths of reveal and [muttoned] configuration. [You wrote], 

"Reflectivity and color of the glazing and appearance of the frame." 
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 Uh, these aren't new topics. We spend a lot of time discussing this, 

particularly, uh, in -- uh, first in December of 2005 and then May of 

2010. Uh, and that's how we came up with our Resolution 10-4, our 

window policy, uh, which we attached the preservation brief to. Uh, 

and we talked about how what we really wanted was staff to talk to 

people about first repair and see if it was possible to repair the 

windows. And I certainly understand if it is impossible to repair 

your wooden window and then, uh, after that, looking at the 

appropriate materials and style of the window. 

 

 So, uh, I think that Commission has actually done a lot of work 

already on this topic. I mean, uh, we spend hours -- or, at least I do 

of my own free time, uh, researching and trying to make the best 

decisions per the law, the Secretary of the Interior Standards and, 

uh, our policy and looking at consistency with other property 

owners. And we have our prior windows, uh, for every window that 

could be seen from the street in the past. 

 

 We have made concessions on windows that are in the back and on 

the sides. But, in the front-facing elevation in these houses, we have 

not approved any that I know of or aluminum or [unintelligible] 

windows. So, uh, I'd be interested in, in, uh, more of a detailed 

analysis in the staff report of the materials and how that's consistent 

with the Secretary of the Interior Standards. 

 

Male Voice: Mr. Chair, could I -- ? 
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David Crompton: Yes, Mr. -- 

 

Male Voice: Just a couple quick points, uh, [unintelligible]. So, where you've 

ended up is an interesting point. Uh, if you were to determine as a 

Commission this evening that the windows on the sides would be 

consistent with the policy, same on 128 East F or West F, excuse 

me, and other places where you allowed the use of vinyl on the 

sides. I think that's, that's an interesting idea. 

 

 The other is, uh, I, I really, I really -- I'm not sure that asking us to 

come back and repackage this is going to make any difference if 

you have a staunch feeling about -- as Commissioner Haughey said, 

staff makes a presentation -- after he makes a proposal, staff makes 

a presentation, you decide. I think it'd be much more, uh, effective, 

uh, or efficient if you would make a determination rather than ask 

us to come back with a reorganized staff report. 

 

 Uh, [unintelligible] is I just want to point out that I know you did a 

lot of work that's much appreciated by staff on 11-3 to get there, to 

get a window -- a determination on windows. But, I want to remind 

you that it's not a policy of council's. It's policy, not the staff, not 

the Commission. I think what you did was good in terms of trying 

to, trying to articulate to people why it was important, why original 

materials are important, why [unintelligible] important. And I think 

you did -- in the determination, and it's a good one, but it's not a 

policy. 
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 The last thing I would say is staffing will have an opportunity to 

talk about [unintelligible]. You're absolutely right that, that we do 

encourage that. Uh, but, when someone, you know, moves further 

along in the process than we're able to catch up with and comes 

before you, it's not, it's not like we didn't do it because we weren't 

on the ball or something, just [unintelligible]. 

 

 So, just in closing, what I would say is, it seems like you have some 

fairly strong-type opinions on, on the Commission about 

consistency and about materials. I would much prefer to decision 

tonight, whatever it is, than to rehash what staff [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Thank you. And [Thomas] down this way. 

 

Steve McKee: Sure. Uh, right, uh, this house, uh, I think a pretty good example 

where we might cut somebody some slack on this when digging in 

the, you know, subparagraph blah, blah, blah, and piling up, you 

know, reams of paper on it. Me, I'd just, uh, take a step back. And 

this house is filled with, for the most part, with vinyl windows. It's 

not that distinguished a house. It's pretty plain. I mean, it seems like 

a, uh, uh, one where I'm ready to -- I think I'd do is, you know, 

paintable vinyl. And, uh, uh, and I mean, it's -- for -- it seems pretty 

reasonable to me. And, uh, that, you know, if we just continue to 

get this -- uh, to have no flexibility on this, uh, it's -- continue to 

reinforce that kind of, uh, sense that the last thing you want to be is 

to be [unintelligible] district here 'cause you don't get to do what, 

you know, everybody get, uh, to do. 
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 And, and this seems like, uh, a pretty reasonable window to, to do 

this for. Like, I'm -- I don't know if, uh, kind of sense I might be in 

the minority on that, but that's it for me. 

 

Male Voice: [Sully]? 

 

Sully: Uh, yes, I, I'll do that [unintelligible] say. I do agree with 

Commissioner Haughey. We've never treated contributing or 

historic -- any historic structure differently. We've treated them all 

the same in the past since I've been on this Commission. We've not 

said, "Uh, it's only contributor. They can, they can do what they 

want." 

 

 Uh, I find Commissioner Taagepera's arguments valid in my 

opinion. Uh, we spent lots of time making a policy when staff has 

sit here and encouraged us to do this and helped us put together this 

Commission's policy. It's not a council's policy. It was adopted 

formally in a meeting if I remember correctly as our policy. So, it's 

somebody's policy. And the intent was to fulfill the goals and the 

mission of this Commission to preserve the historic, uh, character of 

our district that we've formed. 

 

 Uh, so, I wholeheartedly agree. I've looked at those windows. I 

personally have been involved with that house since I was in 

kindergarten because a friend of mine grew up there. And I actually 
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walked up, huh, the other day, hoping not to get chased off as soon 

as that word got out. 

 

 I think that vinyl windows pathetic compared to the wood sash 

windows, as was pointed out by other commissioners before the 

meeting. Look at the way the wood does this and the top's offset 

from the bottom. You cannot tell me and justify to me that that 

vinyl window is historic and maintains the character of that building 

as that wood does, the way that wood is placed in that window 

frame. 

 

 You know, uh, as our Planning Director says, we, we need to make 

a decision. And if somebody has chosen to go off and spend their 

money before they find out what they need to do, that is not your 

fault as commissioners. You are charged as commissioners to 

further these programs and goals and codes and policies that we've 

been charged with to follow, not worry about somebody that didn't 

want to follow the guidelines, like we had the meeting before, you 

know? 

 

 And that guy, you know, should we have cut him some slack 

because of the financial considerations? Well, if you want to be a 

bleeding heart, yes. But, you know what? He knew better, and he 

did it anyway. And it's not your fault. You have to follow these 

guidelines. 
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 And you -- I hate to say it. I don't want to be coldhearted, but if you 

don't, then you don't need to be on this Commission because you're 

not doing what you're charged to do here for the council. Uh, you 

need to go back and tell these people you did this wrong. This is the 

opinion of seven people that are charged with making that decision. 

And you need to rethink what you're doing. I'm done. 

 

Male Voice: Thank you. I'm, I'm going to go next because I'm [unintelligible]. 

 

[Laughter] 

 

Male Voice: Well, I'm kind of in between these two. So, I wanted to throw out 

my comments so that you can react to them. You know, we, we, we 

make decisions on a -- you know, a lot of buildings around town, 

but I think everyone is individual. And I think we have to look at 

what makes sense on a case-by-case basis. I, I don't think you can 

say, "This is what we've done here, here, here, so therefore, it has to 

be done here." 

 

 I certainly agree with you that we shouldn't be treating this any 

differently because they've already bought products and they've 

gone about it the right -- the wrong way. We should treat it as if this 

is coming for us, you know, and it's a proposal, which it is, but as if 

there's no, there's no vested money spent here. 

 

 To me, the -- you know, it's kind of a little bit different here than 

some of the other buildings that we've looked at is that, you know, 
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for instance, the example, uh, of Meals Act. You know, those are, 

those are under contract. They're get, they're getting tax savings to 

go towards restoration of the property. This is the -- this property 

owner's not here for a big restoration project. This property owner is 

here to maintain what is on the property. So, I guess I'm a little bit 

hesitant to say that somebody comes in and wants to replace vinyl 

with vinyl on non-character-defining, uh, elevations of the building 

that we should now make this a restoration project and say that you 

have to go back to where it was 30 years ago. I think that's going to, 

that's going to cause a lot, a lot of problems. To me, I think that's, 

that's onerous. 

 

 So, where I kind of come down on this is that, uh, there's flexibility 

in the way you interpret the -- you know, our codes and the 

Secretary of Interior Standards and that, you know, replacing like 

for like and the similar, uh, treatments for the, uh, front -- you 

know, you call the materials that, that looks and feels the same, I'm, 

I'm okay with somebody wants to come in and replace vinyl with 

vinyl on the non-character-defining sides and rears. I'm okay with 

that. I certainly think that we think a system with the front 

elevation, if you have wood, you know, appears to be in pretty good 

shape. It is kind of unique. It has the, you know, the detailing. It's, 

it's not just the, you know, standard wood window. It's been there 

for a long time. Every effort should be made for the front elevation 

wood windows to be restored and replaced -- restored and reused. 
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 Uh, so, where I, like I said, would come down on this is that I 

would, I would support a approval of this that allows for the 

replacement in kind in the rear and the restoration of the wood 

windows in the front. And we certainly have the purview. I think 

that you're probably right on the CEQA Section 15301 is for, uh, 

minor new construction. This is probably 15305. That is the, you 

know, historic finding. What we're doing here is historic -- is in 

keeping with historic character. Those are my thoughts. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] Before she [unintelligible]. 

 

David Crompton: Commissioner Haughey? 

 

Toni Haughey: I have to support Commissioner [unintelligible] and Commissioner 

White. So, I won't take everyone's time and go reiterate that because 

they pretty much agree with what I think. Uh, but I do hear what 

you're saying. What I think you're saying is that we need -- the 

front, it's a character-defining feature, a window. I mean, like Leann 

said, you can read -- we've got everybody's -- uh, we have each 

city's, uh, statements on windows. And they all start out with the 

same thing. Windows are an integral part of the design and 

character of most buildings. Okay. 

 

 So, going back, anyway, I -- because if these people do -- have 

bought the windows, this kind of concerns me because it's another 

one of those things where, okay, they've got the windows. So, now, 

what do we do? You know, it's like, again, we're asking for, uh, 
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forgiveness where I don't have permission. So, I have a problem 

with it. But, I feel the same way. If the back windows -- I don't care 

if they want to put, you know, whatever back there. But, I think 

what you see from the street -- and because it's under an arch 

doesn't mean you don't see it -- I think the front windows should be 

replaced, repaired in kind, and in kind means with what would've 

been there originally, not -- if you put an aluminum window, it does 

not mean put another aluminum window. 

 

 So, uh, mm, I could probably compromise. But, I just want to make 

a couple comments. You know, this is -- I want [unintelligible] 

historic [unintelligible] and so does a lot of people here. And we try 

to play the -- by the rules. And I brought my [Harris] -- I got the 

book. And I -- before I brought, before it's closed, I read the book to 

see what the restrictions were because I wanted to make sure that I 

was going to be onboard with what was in that book. And I was 

onboard. And so, I stick with what, what the city -- whether on this 

Commission or off this Commission, I stick with what's -- whatever 

the rules are. If they change the rules, fine. But, right across the 

street diagonal from that house, this woman is putting 17 windows 

in there, all wood. Okay. Yes, she has a Meals Act. But, on the 

other hand, that's not a burden on a single woman who's retired? 

 

 This is a contributing building. If it's not a contributing building, 

that's a different thing. Why do they get treated differently from the 

way I get treated? I may as well go out and I may as well spread the 

word, "Go out there. Go get your, get your, uh, windows first. Then 
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come over and see if you get it approved." I mean, I can't agree with 

that, you know? They did the wrong thing. They -- people need to 

know -- and maybe we're at fault because we don't let people know. 

Maybe we need to write articles in the newspaper. These are the 

requirements, folks. Maybe people don't understand they have to 

get a permit for a window. 

 

 But, the fact is, you know, I feel like we need to treat people -- you 

know, we need to be reasonable. But, you know, we need to go put 

our money where our mouth is. And you know what? A lot of 

people don't like us. And a lot of people give me a hard time. You 

know, that's fine. You know what? I believe in restoring and 

preserving this town. You know, and I'm going to -- you know, as 

long as I'm on here, I'm going to do that. And I am going to try to 

be flexible. If they want to put vinyl windows in the back, fine. But, 

I think they need to either replace with double-paned wood. We, 

we, we've gone to that degree, you know, previously. We were 

going for single-pane windows. And we all agreed, okay, let's go 

for the double-paned windows. So, it's slightly more expensive. 

 

 You know, and these people I believe have bought this house 

recently. So, their realtor I'm sure let them know they were in a 

historic district and what they -- that there were requirements. So, 

you know, I'm sorry they made a mistake. But, uh, and I agree with 

Charlie. I do not thing we need to get another report because we're 

only going to sit here all night and pick that apart and disagree with 

it. I think we need to just do what we did last month. 
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 If you -- everyone here feels that they need to put wood windows, 

then go for it. And if you don't, then go for that, too. But, you know, 

I went -- you know, we spent a lot of time, like Leann said. And I'm 

getting very frustrated. My time is valuable. I'm getting older. And 

I'm not getting paid for this vote. Do what you think is right. I think 

that's all you can do, you know? Sorry for preaching. But, you 

know, every month, I feel like I dread -- I got to be honest, guys. 

And you know, I dread sometimes coming to these meetings 

because I do not feel that there should be a fight. And I feel like if 

the people in this town don't really want to preserve this town, then 

who are we to tell them to do it? We're only seven people. 

 

 And maybe -- Charlie, if you're right about policy, then maybe we 

need to go to the Commission -- to the City Council and say, "What 

do you want to do?" Disband the HPRC. If you want, you know, to 

be that flexible about everything and not, not adhere to standards, 

which a city like San Francisco, which is one of the most liberal 

places on earth, read their reports and their standards. And if they 

can do it, what's wrong with us? But, yet, we're all on council and 

get up everyday and say we're going to start preservation. 

 

 Well, you know what? [Unintelligible.] That's, you know, how I 

feel. So, I know. I'm just upset because I've spent a lot of time 

volunteering in this town. You know, I was at the museum all day 

today. And you know, I -- and I don't want to be in this position 

anymore to be fighting people. 
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Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: What? 

 

Male Voice: Give her another candy bar. 

 

Toni Haughey: Sorry. I mean, it's -- 

 

Male Voice: And I think it's all been said. My background on the law just -- and 

being a Catholic, uh, following rules, uh, uh, I'm sort of 

[unintelligible] Catholic. But, I, I have -- I think it hurts me inside 

and it hurts me in my brain if we have a rule and then we say we're 

not going to follow it. And I like flexibility. I mean, when I first 

saw this, I thought, you know, someone over there -- it's not -- kind 

of like what, uh, was said about the fact that it's not a particularly 

good-looking building and all that stuff. 

 

 But, if we get into that, then all the policy we made is all subjective. 

And that's where the -- I scream in my head saying, "You can't do 

that. You, you're not God. You can't say, uh, that's the pretty house, 

so you got to put wood windows in it. I don't like your house, so 

you can put in whatever you want." 

 

 But, there are two things that really, that really sort of stop me from, 

from, uh, uh, approving wood windows into plastic windows, vinyl, 

whatever you like. We have a, uh, a history, a 20-year-old history 
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of, of having rules for things. Uh, 2000 -- 1991, uh, we have the 

[CLG] rule. We promised to state that we would adhere to the rules 

in our Downtown Historic Plan, that we would use the Secretary of 

Interior Standards. In fact, with that CLG, we have been able to 

write -- the city has been able to write grants. 

 

 One of those grants allowed us just recently -- and I shouldn't say 

us, this Commission -- I wasn't on at the time. I attended a few 

meetings but had really no input -- a context statement for our town, 

which basically said this is who we are. 

 

 And then we say we need to be flexible. And I, I -- my wife tells me 

I -- yes comes out of my mouth more than, you didn't want me to do 

that. But, this is, is -- I feel like I have an obligation to the rules. 

But, but, the rules are not just the rules. Historic preservation is a 

financial boon to the town. Anybody who's here knows anybody 

who's got a non-historic home as opposed to a historic home, 

statistics show that in the last three years, even before this Great 

Recession, historic homes tend -- that are kept up -- tend to hold 

their value a lot better than non-historic homes. And, and I, I, I -- 

that's the deciding thing. 

 

 Last point is to, uh, to, uh, Dave's idea about the, uh, wood 

windows on the front. Uh, I, I can't vote for anything other than 

wood windows. Uh, also, I just don't think the -- because we don't 

really know what they look like. But, I know what the ones there 

look like. The rest of the vinyl windows, you know, it's okay to me. 
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 I do have -- would like to hear some discussion on that front 

window. Uh, I, I think I'm going to replace with original. And that 

was my early comment before is that I don't think they had vinyl in 

the 1930s. And it says replace in kind, which was original. So, 

thank you. 

 

David Crompton: Any comments or any -- a mo-- a motion that -- it sounds like 

there's, there's a lot of commonality in our comments. There's some 

I think possibility of some technically [unintelligible] compromise 

that I'm hearing from at least half of us, maybe more. So -- 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Could I make a partial to be added on motion in that the first -- ? 

 

David Crompton: Are you making a motion? 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Yes, that the three, uh, uh, windows that are, uh, on the porch that 

have the Spanish, uh, should be retained as wood, uh, and that I 

would like some discussion, if possible, on the, uh, window that's in 

the -- it's called the family room, uh, on the, uh, southwest, uh -- no, 

northwest side. 

 

Male Voice: The -- 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Southwest. 

 

Male Voice: The large? 
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Jon Van Landschoot: Yeah, the large, right. 

 

Male Voice: Double -- 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: I, I, I would like it to go back to wood. But, I -- 

 

David Crompton: Well, why don't you make a motion? Then we'll -- then we can 

discuss it. 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: To make it back to wood? Okay. And then -- 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible] motion. 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Okay. And, and, uh, uh, that's the partial. The side windows that are 

up front on the, uh, extreme, uh, northeast side and southeast side, 

uh, the double-hung and the casement windows, maybe we can do 

that in a second motion or a second part of this motion. 

 

David Crompton: Okay. Your motion -- if that's your motion, then your motion would 

be to amend the resolutions before us to retain the three wood 

windows, restore them, replace, or put them back, replace them and 

re-restore and reuse those windows and replace the existing vinyl -- 

double vinyl [unintelligible] front elevation with a wood, keep all 

the ones -- we let them be replacement vinyl. 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Mm-hmm. 
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David Crompton: Have a motion. Is there a second? 

 

Female Voice: Can you, uh, say that again, what -- ? 

 

David Crompton: So, the -- Jon's motion at this point would be that the three wood 

windows under the porch would be restored and, and 

[unintelligible] the large double window in front elevation to the 

right, the family room I guess, would be replaced. The vinyl would 

be replaced with wood. The side and rear windows would be 

replaced with vinyl. 

 

Charlie Knox: One point of clarification. I can't say I can't let you make that 

motion. You can make whatever motion you want. But, I can tell 

you that that motion can't pass because the applicability 

[unintelligible] Downtown Historic Conservation Plan do not let 

you deal with that front window if it's going from vinyl to vinyl. It's 

exempt from the review. And if you make, if you make that motion 

and the applicant doesn't appeal it, you'll be forcing staff for the 

first time in my 25-year career to appeal that to the Planning 

Commission, which I really do not want to do. 

 

 You cannot tell this guy that he can't take a vinyl window that's 

there and replace it with vinyl of the same size. So, I mean, you're 

free to do whatever you want. But, I just want you to know that 

that's not within the purview of tonight's decision. 
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Female Voice: Then maybe we do need to continue it. But, I don't see how that --  

 

Male Voice: Well, it's like we're going to be -- 

 

Female Voice: How do we tell other people that they have to do -- ? 

 

Charlie Knox: You have -- 

 

Female Voice: I mean -- 

 

Charlie Knox: I mean, we explained the exemption to you. It's replacement of 

existing siding trim or replacing of existing windows or doors same 

dimension, finish, and overall appearance. It's -- I don't know, I, I 

don't know what example you're talking about [unintelligible] the 

record. But, he's got, he's got a vinyl window, a two-by-two single-

hung window in, in the front there that's vinyl. It doesn't come 

before you to replace it with vinyl in the same dimension. I'm sorry. 

I mean, I know -- I, I very much appreciate and sympathize with, 

you know, the point we're trying to make, which is, if you're going 

to want to support historic district, the best thing to do is to try and 

make -- is to try and recreate the original conditions. But, it's not -- 

that's not the way -- you know, we're very -- we've talked a lot of 

times about following our rules and being consistent. And that's not 

one of our rules. 

 

David Crompton: Commissioner Haughey? 
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Toni Haughey: Yeah, I, I -- well, uh, you know, I got -- I can't think of other 

examples. But, my question will be -- I could understand that if he 

wasn't replacing the window that we certainly -- 

 

Charlie Knox: It says replacement -- 

 

Toni Haughey: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Charlie Knox: On page 25, you get to the -- it says, "Replacement of existing 

windows." 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, but, uh, normally, if he wasn't -- didn't want to replace his 

windows with anything, we could not ask him to replace his 

windows. 

 

Charlie Knox: Right, but, I'm -- what I'm saying is all he's doing is replacing that 

window, he wouldn't even be here if that was the only window he 

was replacing. The, the reason we're here is because they're asking 

to replace wood with vinyl. Where I, where I, where I really thought 

you might be going, which I thought was a good compromise and 

good show of flexibility was allowing the vinyl for wood on the 

sides but not the front. That seemed like a good, good approach. 

 

Toni Haughey: You know, I did -- I mean, it's not that I want to, you know, give 

anybody a hard time. But, I guess my, my concern would be about 

anybody else that come along in the future with front windows who 

-- 
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Charlie Knox: You'd have same story. 

 

Toni Haughey: You know, I, I mean, I'm not an expert in this area. Uh, so, I, I don't 

know. It's like the first time it's coming before us. 

 

David Crompton: All right. We've got a, uh, motion, Jon. Uh, are you going to stick 

with your motion, including the wood replacement of the double 

window -- vinyl with wood? 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Well -- 

 

David Crompton: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Female Voice: I think, should we second and discuss it, or -- ? 

 

Female Voice: Yeah. I'll second the motion. 

 

David Crompton: Okay. We have a first and a second. That includes replacement of 

the vinyl double with wood. Any discussion? 

 

Leann Taagepera: Well, I guess it all comes down to how you interpret the plan. And I 

mean, we all know that our plan is from 1992, and it's old and that 

we, we have a fantasy of getting a grant and getting it rewritten, and 

there are ideas for how we might do that. We know that it's not 

consistent with [Weaks and Rimmer], which came out after our 

plan. So, parts of this actually are not consistent with how the 
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Secretary of Interior Standards are interpreted. Uh, and this section 

on page 25, uh, talked about applicability and exemptions. 

 

 And I don't -- it, it, it doesn't say existing -- replacement of existing 

historic features or placement of existing non-historic features. It's 

not specific in here. And, uh, the original -- you know, Sally 

whoever who wrote this originally. 

 

Toni Haughey: Weaks. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Leann Taagepera: [Unintelligible], uh, with Rich something like that, I don't know if 

she was thinking -- I mean, because it goes through "replacement of 

existing building features or elements with identical ones and 

routine maintenance are exempt from design review as are repairs 

of an emergency in nature to rehabilitating a safe building. Specific 

examples of routine maintenance and repairs which are exempt 

from design review include the following -- painting, reroofing with 

the same material, replacement of existing siding or trim with siding 

or trim of the same material and appearance, replacement of 

existing windows or doors with windows or doors of the same 

dimension, finish, and overall appearance, other repairs or 

replacements as determined by planning staff." 

 

 So, this could be interpreted two different ways. It can be 

interpreted the way staff is interpreting it that says, if you have 
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existing inappropriate, non-historic features, it's acceptable and 

exempt from design review if you replace them with the same kind 

of inappropriate and non-historic design features. 

 

 Or, it could be interpreted meaning that, if you have existing wood 

windows, uh, or existing wooden, uh, porch stairs or [unintelligible] 

or something like that and then you replace them with new wood 

porch stairs or a new wood frame that that's exempt. But, because it 

doesn't specifically say, it's open to interpretation. And the question 

is, who's in charge of interpreting the plan? Is it -- where does that 

interpretation come from? 

 

David Crompton: Us. 

 

Leann Taagepera: What Commission? 

 

David Crompton: I thank you for reading that. And you know, I fall on the side of -- 

when you talk about finish, to me, the finish is the type of material 

that's being used on it. And clearly, as I said before, this is not a -- 

somebody's coming in to replace and maintain their property. 

They're not coming in asking to rehabilitate or restore or go back to 

what they were 50 years ago here. And I don't -- I agree that we 

don't have the authority to impose that on them. So, that's the way 

that I would interpret that [unintelligible]. 

 

Leann Taagepera: And could you say [unintelligible]? 
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David Crompton: Yes. 

 

Leann Taagepera: I'm not sure what you -- what was your conclusion. 

 

David Crompton: My conclusion was -- is that I believe that when you, when you 

have the interpretation of, you know, you're replacing in kind, and 

that talks about the types of -- doesn't say materials, doesn't say 

vinyl for vinyl. But, it says the finish. And to me, I interpret that as 

being the type of materials. I'm interpreting that to say that 

replacing vinyl with vinyl is exempt from our review. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Uh -- 

 

David Crompton: Any other comments? 

 

Male Voice: However, if they do come -- apply for Meals Act sometime down 

the road, that should be applied -- 

 

David Crompton: Negotiate it. 

 

Toni Haughey: Well, how is that even legal? I mean, how do we impose that? 

 

David Crompton: As a Meals Act? 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, I mean, I understand that they're getting a tax break. But, 

still, I mean, I don't -- 
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David Crompton: We renegotiate the contract with them. The staff negotiates, bring it 

to us, and we ratify it basically. And we look at -- we prioritize 

what is non-historic and what needs to be done to the home to bring 

it back to its historic -- to maximize its historic value. If 

replacement of the windows was one of those, that would be on the 

part of the contract. 

 

Toni Haughey: I mean, if I were these owners, would I want to have three wood 

windows and a vinyl window out there? I mean, even if I had a 

house that wasn't historic. 

 

Male Voice: Obviously not. That's why they want to get rid of -- 

 

Toni Haughey: I mean, that doesn't make any sense. 

 

Male Voice: -- three wooden windows. 

 

Toni Haughey: I know. That's what I'm saying is we're saying to them, "We want 

you to repair or replace these windows with wood." 

 

Male Voice: Well, we can't really have it both ways. 

 

Toni Haughey: Or, you can keep it at vinyl. I mean, I -- it doesn't -- you know, I 

guess I don't have the expertise on that. But, I don't think that's a 

good aesthetics even. You know, forget about rules and regulations. 
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Leann Taagepera: You know what? It's [unintelligible] in the future that, if somebody 

wanted to do a restoration, they would still have their three original 

wood windows there. They're able to repair them, or if they're 

replaced with wood, they would have a start on the restoration of 

the property instead of some -- you know, if they sell it in the future 

and it was, "Uh, every single window's already plastic." So, uh, you 

know, they don't -- they don't have a head start in restoration. It, it 

would be a piece of the overall puzzle if someone was going to be 

working on different parts. 

 

 I just want to say, I guess under this, if I don't want to build it, if I 

would like to come in and replace my asbestos siding with, uh, uh, 

new asbestos siding, I could do that. So, any -- 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, under this interpretation, that's right. 

 

Male Voice: Were they Meals Act? 

 

Leann Taagepera: No, and if I did not have the Meals Act, well, because it's 

replacement of existing siding or trim with siding or trim the same 

material and appearance. So, I could take off all my asbestos siding. 

And I could go turn around and buy new ones. And I could put up 

all new asbestos siding. 

 

Male Voice: Yes, you could. 

 

Leann Taagepera: I could. 
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Male Voice: You know, just -- 

 

Male Voice: -- by the Building Department [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Let's just -- 

 

Male Voice: You wouldn't -- 

 

Male Voice: Let's have some more discussion. I just, I -- just one more comment 

I have here is that, you know, the bottom line is here is that we're 

not losing anything. You know, we aren't losing anything 

historically. We're -- in fact, we're gaining something because 

they're restoring under this motion that they'll be restoring three 

windows. 

 

Female Voice: Mm-hmm. 

 

Male Voice: And they're maintaining their house in an appropriate way that 

maintains the historic structure for future possible complete 

restoration. 

 

Toni Haughey: Well, maybe the decision's up to them. If you're saying -- if we're 

saying to them, "Okay. You have to keep the wood windows, you 

know, restoring them, whatever, uh, or replace them with wood," is 

what we're saying in a sense. And it's up to them if they decide I 
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guess if they want to keep a vinyl window over there with three 

wood windows. 

 

Male Voice: They could certainly change to wood if they wanted. 

 

Toni Haughey: I mean, you know, I mean, I don't -- this is becoming beyond -- 

 

Leann Taagepera: But -- 

 

Male Voice: But, but, you know, the view of it from any distance is all -- at all is 

going to be sized correctly and [unintelligible] correctly that you're 

not going to notice any difference from beyond the sidewalk. 

 

Toni Haughey: And I don't understand -- 

 

Male Voice: I have one more -- 

 

Toni Haughey: -- I guess just -- 

 

Male Voice: -- question. 

 

Toni Haughey: Or, would -- I just -- 

 

Male Voice: Go ahead. 

 

Toni Haughey: Me first? 
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Male Voice: Me first. 

 

Toni Haughey: So, my question is, all right, we make, uh, the decision. Let's say we 

do agree with Jon's motion. Uh, then isn't it up to the applicant to 

appeal? Since when -- can staff appeal our decision? 

 

Male Voice: Yes. 

 

Charlie Knox: Staff can always appeal your decision and call it to the council. The 

only reason I would do that is because I think there aren't two ways 

to interpret this statement. This statement basically is very clear. It's 

one of the clearer statements we have. It says replacement of 

existing windows or doors. It doesn't say historic, non-historic, as 

Leann pointed out, doesn't say what kind of building. In fact, up 

above, it says they apply to all the buildings in the district. So -- and 

it's actually -- I don't disagree with Chair Crompton that you have 

some ability to interpret this. But, as a matter of zoning, this is part 

of the Zoning Code. And it's my job fortunate or unfortunate as that 

may be to interpret to something. And I can tell you I see no -- I 

don't see two ways to read this. The way I read this is this is not 

[unintelligible]. 

 

Toni Haughey: So that you're saying that then when the -- we were, we were on the 

Commission then. But, when the, uh, that the [unintelligible] 

whatever. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Odd Fellows. 
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Toni Haughey: Odd Fellows was made to take their windows out by a former 

Commission -- 

 

Charlie Knox: Odd Fellows took the windows out because -- 

 

Toni Haughey: -- you're saying that -- 

 

Charlie Knox: -- I told them, because I told them if they really wanted to -- 

 

Toni Haughey: No, no, not the Odd Fellows on First Street. We're talking about the 

ones -- uh, I'm talking about -- what is it, the Masons' building. Do 

you remember when they took the windows out? 

 

Charlie Knox: That predates me. 

 

Toni Haughey: This is before our time. And they were made to take -- they were 

[unintelligible] put in -- goes back over 10 years. They were made 

to take all those windows out and put wood windows in. 

 

Charlie Knox: Well, as unfortunate as the brick situation [unintelligible] the Odd 

Fellows at staff's request, my personal request, took out those 

aluminum windows, which they were just going to put back in, put 

in wood windows with the appropriate dimensions looking at the 

house [unintelligible] period. So, you never know. 
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 I mean, that's [unintelligible]. I mean, clearly, this owner wanted to 

do all vinyl. There, there are, uh, energy efficiency objectives that 

they stated to council. Uh, obviously, it's probably cheaper. I mean, 

they'd like -- you know, the cost of the dual-pane vinyl versus 

wood. But, a new owner might in the future -- might not be aware 

of the objectives that some of the commissioners have stated 

tonight. 

 

 And you're right that, regardless of where this goes, if some of the 

wood windows are preserved and a new owner came in and said, 

"Thanks for the vinyl, but I'd rather have the [unintelligible] wood," 

they could come back and change it. And we've seen -- so, we've 

seen it before. It's not -- I don't think it's the common occurrence. 

But, we saw it with the Odd Fellows. And that's [unintelligible]. 

 

Leann Taagepera: You know, and it's under our policy, though, if somebody has 

inappropriate window, uh, if you wanted to come back and change 

that vinyl into wood, then it wouldn't be replacement in kind. 

They'd come back and -- 

 

Toni Haughey: It's catch 22. 

 

Leann Taagepera: -- pay to come before us and need approval. 

 

Charlie Knox: We'd put on [consent at will]. 
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Male Voice: Which I -- brings me to my point. Jon's current motion is to go 

ahead and all wood in the front, vinyls in the back. That's the way 

the motion is at this time, which probably is -- doesn't look like it's 

going to pass. And if we turn around and say, "Okay. You can 

replace in kind or repair the wooden windows. You're not getting 

rid of the wooden windows. You can replace the vinyl ones." Be it 

my house, you know, I sure wouldn't be too proud of that vinyl 

window sticking out there with those three wood windows because 

you can really tell the difference. I don't care if there's a porch there 

or not. If you are -- have an eye for architecture, you're going to see 

the difference. It's that noticeable. And that one vinyl window looks 

terrible. It's installed terribly, the caulking smeared all over it. 

 

 But, anyway, my point was going to be what you're bringing up. If 

the applicant decides, "I don't want that vinyl window now in the 

front because it" -- maybe they have the same opinion I do. If we do 

make another motion if Jon's motion doesn't pass, I think we should 

word it so that they don't have to come back again for consent, that 

if they choose to replace that front vinyl window with the wooden 

that it match the existing wooden windows in the front so they don't 

have to come back here again because I sure wouldn't want to be 

held up another month. 

 

Female Voice: Mm-hmm. 

 

Male Voice: I agree with that. 
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Male Voice: But, anyway, we have -- 

 

David Crompton: So, we have a, we have a motion and a second. Do we have more 

discussion? 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Can I amend my own motion? Does that [unintelligible] -- ? 

 

Female Voice: Yeah. 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: -- allow me to do that? 

 

David Crompton: You can amend your motion. 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: I think it's [unintelligible]. 

 

David Crompton: Actually, we have a second. We need to go ahead and act on it. 

 

Male Voice: You can amend and second it. 

 

David Crompton: Okay. We'll go ahead and [unintelligible]. 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Okay. I was thinking like what you said and I -- uh, Mike. And I, I 

agree. Let's keep the, the wood wood. And can we -- this is for staff 

if possible. Can we in the whereases and all, all that stuff, uh, 

recommend that, uh, you can put in the, the vinyl in the front but 

that, uh, for historic purposes, uh, it's recommended that wood to 

match the other one but not quite? 
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Charlie Knox: You probably want to amend the conditions of approval, uh, 

because the way it -- the way it is now on that amendment, they 

would be replacing, uh, the vinyl with vinyl. So, you might want to 

add a condition saying that the approval includes the allowance for 

replacing the vinyl with wood on the front double window at the 

applicant's discretion. 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Yeah. 

 

David Crompton: Did that -- so, we have an amended first. Is the seconder accept 

that? 

 

Male Voice: I'll second. 

 

David Crompton: One second from [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. 

 

David Crompton: We had a second from [Sherry]. 

 

Leann Taagepera: It was -- Toni Haughey is the second. 

 

David Crompton: Were you second? 

 

Toni Haughey: Mm-hmm. 
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Leann Taagepera: I think it's -- 

 

David Crompton: Okay. Did, uh, did you -- uh, would you accept that second? 

 

Toni Haughey: No. 

 

David Crompton: Okay. Do we have another second? 

 

Male Voice: I'll second. 

 

David Crompton: Any discussion on our new motion? 

 

Male Voice: Point of clarification, yes. So, in this motion is not included 

anything about the non-front façade windows, the one casement and 

the one single hung that they're hoping to replace with vinyl. That's 

not, that's not -- 

 

David Crompton: No modification to the, to the recommendation from staff. 

 

Male Voice: So -- 

 

David Crompton: So, can we have the -- so, the motion and second is to, uh, restore 

and reuse the three front wood, uh, and everything else would be as 

recommended except that the approval would allow for at the 

applicant's discretion to replace the front vinyl double window with 

wood. 
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Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] So, are you remaining silent on the, the proposal to 

replace the two on the sides? Or, are you denying -- were you 

denying? 

 

David Crompton: We're accepting staff's recommendation. 

 

Male Voice: You'll be accepting the recommendation. Okay. Thank you. 

 

Male Voice: I would vote that in the front window that is vinyl now that the 

word recommend -- allow but recommend so that they know that 

we have -- 

 

David Crompton: Okay. All right. We have the, uh, the motion and a second. We're -- 

 

Male Voice: Can we go around all once before we vote just to see how folks 

feel? 

 

David Crompton: I do not see any, any hands come up. So, we'll -- 

 

Male Voice: I was going to -- 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: -- or wait for the second. 

 

David Crompton: We have a second. 
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Female Voice: We have a second. 

 

Steve McKee: Okay. [Unintelligible] in that, I mean, we get -- [unintelligible] 

vinyl on the side, the front. Everybody just wants to have it wood 

because that's what we see in the front. You know, from the point of 

view of being in room, it'll kind of look like crap because you'll 

have a different window here and here. If we were the -- you know, 

let's make the whole house a good house, you know, Commission, 

we would be all over that. But, we're not. So, we throw that aside 

instead of -- uh, you know, we're requiring this guy to make this 

house kind of look like crap. And, uh, you know, [unintelligible] 

like we're doing a great thing in the process. And, uh, I think 

[unintelligible] great thing. 

 

 I think maybe [unintelligible] really it'd be nice to just -- you know, 

this is probably completely against the rules but, you know, do 

some [unintelligible], like, yeah, do your three windows in the -- the 

wood windows in vinyl but give us, you know, wood in the front, 

the one, ones you see and maybe the one on the side so, you know, 

it can look pretty good to be in the room. 

 

 If I was that guy and I had to do three wood windows, I'd really 

prefer that over, you know, what we're talking about here. I don't 

know if we have any kind of means of, you know, asking for that 

without breaking three rules and therefore it's not going to ever 

happen even though, you know, they would -- I suspect would 
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prefer it. I mean, I, I would if I were them, to do three, three wood 

windows. 

 

 But, uh, so, you know, if we're going down this path because of 

some, you know, principles we have, you know, we're not making 

this house better. Uh, so, uh, you guys do what you're going to do 

here. 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, I agree with Steve. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Commissioner McKee, though, it's the same house that they bought. 

They bought a house with some wood windows and some vinyl 

already. So, as far as us making it look some -- 

 

Steve McKee: Well, and the guy's trying to make it consistent. 

 

Toni Haughey: And I, I agree with Steve. I mean, that's -- because like where's the 

design review point of this? Okay. We're the historic preservation. 

We're also design review. I mean, I think this is like crazy. 

 

Leann Taagepera: [Unintelligible] design review, take out that vinyl [unintelligible]. 

 

Toni Haughey: You know, that's why I would rather continue this because I'm not 

convinced, you know, all due respect, Charlie, I'm not convinced 

that this is the way we have to go. I really am not. And, uh, and I, I 

agree. I mean, we're also design review. And I, and I agree with 

Steve. What are we doing here? Are we just like interpreting these 
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rules and then so, you know, we're supposed to be making -- we're 

supposed to be protecting our historic district. And part of it is the 

aesthetics of the whole thing. And, and like he said, how many 

times have we talked to people, you know, what was going to make 

it look better, I mean, if it wasn't a historic home, you know? 

 

 We talked about the windows and all that stuff. I can't -- I mean, I 

can't be part of this one vinyl window and three wood windows. I 

think it's crazy. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Toni Haughey: Maybe we continue and ask them about how they feel about what 

they're willing to do. Are they going to go appeal to the City 

Council? I don't know. 

 

Male Voice: I think so, too. They obviously -- you know, they want what they 

want. And they're not here. And they're, they're either going to 

accept what we do, or they're going to appeal it anyways. I don't see 

any value of coming back here in a month. You know, the way -- 

my take on this is, you know, we already salvaged that, uh, our 

authority here is for not replacing in kind. Our authority is to say 

yes or no for their proposal to replace wood with -- uh, replace the 

wood windows. So, you know, we're doing everything we can 

saying, "No, you can't do that." And we're giving them the 

flexibility if they want a balanced front elevation, a character-
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defining front elevation, we're giving them the flexibility to do that. 

And that's all we can do. 

 

Toni Haughey: All right. But, then just [unintelligible] because doesn't -- we can't 

deal with this. But, these people are also trying to do something for 

energy efficiency. So, we're saying -- and if -- unless I'm incorrect, 

we're saying, "You have to keep your single-pane windows," 

correct, because that's what they are. Are they not single-pan wood 

windows in the front? "You keep those single-pane windows in the 

interests of preservation, uh, and repair them, replace them. You 

can't -- you know, you replace -- you have to repair them. Uh, and -

- but, then we're going to allow them to put a double-paned vinyl 

window in. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Commissioner Haughey, are you playing devil's advocate here? 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, I just think this is wrong. I mean, I just am not comfortable 

with this whole thing. So, you know -- 

 

Male Voice: If this is an energy efficient move on their part, you know, we have 

done our research. And we have been told there is a single-pane [E] 

glass that will provide the insulation and energy efficiency that 

they're trying to attain. So, they can replace the glass in these 

windows if they so choose. 

 

Male Voice: It's not -- 
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Male Voice: As Mr., Mr. McKee said earlier, you know, if it was his house, he 

wouldn't be too happy with looking out the room and seeing two 

different styles of windows. Well, we're not forcing that on that 

person. That person has apparently bought the house that way. And 

we're just recommending and giving them the option. We're not 

forcing them to do anything. So, they brought this project before us. 

We didn't go out and design this project for them or say, "You need 

to do this." They brought it before us to get it approved based upon 

what standards and guidelines and recommendations we have to 

follow. 

 

 Obviously, we can't do what some of us think are the Secretary of 

Interior Standards. Some things were already done to this building 

in the past that prohibit from doing this. But, we shouldn't make it 

any worse. Retain what we've got, but hopefully in the future, 

somebody will see the light and say, "What did they do to these 

windows? Why'd they put these vinyl windows in?" And some day, 

they'll get all changed out to [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Charlie Knox: I hate to [unintelligible] this conversation because this is a really, 

really good discussion that we should be having. But, I just want a 

couple points of clarification. They're not here because they want to 

be here. They're here because they wanted to do something, 

basically started down a path, made decisions. And we realized you 

can't go down that path. You've got to go to the Commission. 
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 The way this came to my attention is I was sitting in a council 

meeting during public comment. You know, I take a reading 

everyday. And I don't know where it's going to come from. So, I'm 

sitting in a council meeting preparing for a bunch of other things. 

And Ms. Frasier stands up and says, "You ask Sustainability 

Commission. They're telling us to create energy efficiency. And 

that's all I want to do to our house. And we went out and bought 

these dual-paned windows. And now the city's telling -- city staff, 

not HPRC [unintelligible] -- staff's telling we can't put them in." 

And I'm sitting there thinking, "Do I know anything about this?" 

And I didn't. So, I went back and found out where we were. And 

that's why we're here now. 

 

 But, you know, Toni raised a really good point before, which is 

there may not be enough education and awareness out there about 

what it means to live in an historic district within a historic home. 

And I think it's important to put ourselves, staff and Commission, in 

the, in the mindset of these folks. I mean, I don't -- I -- you know, I 

don't want to make any guesses. But, there are definitely people out 

there who you can tell it's a historic district measure rules. And they 

say, "Yeah, yeah, yeah." They're homeowners. We're all, we're all 

homeowners [unintelligible]. And I can very much see their point of 

view. They come in. The house has obviously changed a lot over 

time. You know, we had discussions when we went through the, the 

[unintelligible] this blah and this home and whether it's really 

historic. I mean, there's a lot of decisions that have been made. 
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 But, it's a very reasonable thing for a homeowner to look at the 

home and say I want the windows to be consistent. And it's very 

reasonable for people to not share our passion or our professional 

understanding of historic resources and to say, "I just want 

[unintelligible]." That's what these people said to the council. "We 

just bought these windows that are the same as the rest of the 

windows in our house. They're nicer than the other vinyl windows. 

How come we can't put them in?" 

 

 And so, I understand the need for consistency. I think we're -- 

maybe that is a reasonable motion. It won't, it won't satisfy them. 

They'll probably appeal. That's just the process we have. That's life. 

But, I think for us to sit up here and pass some kind of judgment on 

somebody right [unintelligible] we're wrong tonight. And I really, I 

really want you to think about that because, from a homeowner's 

point of view, from this homeowner's point of view, I get the sense 

they don't think there's anything wrong with this at all. 

 

 And I think they're going to -- I think they'll be blown away if the 

response is just what you all think is, is -- or most of you think is -- 

what's in here, which is, "No, it should be wood." And so, just -- I 

just want to add a perspective that, from the perspective of the 

homeowner, wanting the windows to be consistent both on the 

inside and the outside is not necessarily some kind of evil or wrong 

approach. 
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Male Voice: I have one more question -- 

 

David Crompton: Yes. 

 

Male Voice: -- to ask. Charlie has chosen to make more comments. If we pass 

the motion that's before us now, Charlie, and they do appeal the 

City Council. 

 

Charlie Knox: Planning Commission. 

 

Male Voice: Or, Planning Commission. And if Planning Commission says, "No, 

you got to do what HPRC said," they go to council. 

 

Charlie Knox: Right. 

 

Male Voice: You know, are you in support of what we're doing here tonight? Do 

you agree with our interpretation [unintelligible]? 

 

Charlie Knox: If I'm doing my job the best I can, I'm neutral. Obviously, we made 

an initial recommendation [unintelligible]. But, if, if, if you approve 

a motion tonight where they're able to do the two vinyl ones on the 

side but they -- you want them to keep the three wood in the front, 

all the appeal's going to -- and they decide to appeal, right? I'm not, 

I'm not going to appeal that decision. Only reason I would appeal is 

if I thought you weren't following -- 

 

Male Voice: No, no, no, I'm, I'm saying -- 
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Charlie Knox: So, they, so, they -- no, all, all the appeal will be is a one-page form 

they sign and this staff report and your decision and resolution. 

There's not going to be another staff report on it saying, "Here's 

what you should do." The Planning Commission I think should take 

a neutral and objective stance. And, and no, I don't -- if I, if I'm 

injecting my own personal feelings or, uh, opinion about something, 

I'm not going to do my job very well. So, uh, you -- hopefully, at 

this point, you don't really know what I think. What I'm going to tell 

you is here's what, here's what the rules are. Here's what I think we 

can do. 

 

 But, but, I do support Mark's staff report on this. Believe me. I'm 

really sorry Mark wasn't here tonight to give the presentation 

because normally he would be before you. I wouldn't. I always feel 

like when I'm in front of you, there's some kind of added intangible 

pressure. You know, here's the Director and trying to tell you what 

to do. I'm not trying to tell you what to do. 

 

 But, I do support Mark's, Mark's findings. And the reason I support 

them is basically what we're talking about now, which is the design 

review quality of this building, not the historic quality. And that is, 

when I go to the building -- and I went there tonight with good light 

-- I see wood from about the middle of the street, maybe a little bit 

closer, certainly not from across the street. And when I see the 

wood -- and yes, it could be repaired -- and it could be replaced 
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with another, you know, double-pane wood -- I see the in -- the 

blatant inconsistency between that style and the rest of the house. 

 

 And so, ideally -- and I agree with Leann on this -- ideally, people 

would be motivated in a historic district to say, "One of the reason 

I'm going to buy this house is to turn them all back into wood." 

Well, I don't think that's happened. But, I'll tell you I had a 

somewhat similar situation. I lived in -- and I live in a, in a, in a 

really a true, uh, Spanish revival, you know, two stories with the 

one-floor living room in the front, still has the red tile. I mean, we 

haven't even talked about what if someone came in and wanted to 

replace -- we'll talk about it I guess with vinyl, but you know, 

replace the shingle roof like this with red tile, they have to come 

back. 

 

 But, I have this, I have this horrible mélange of aluminum double-

pane 1970s windows, which at the time were probably state of the 

art, uh, but basically conduct mold, and I have all kinds of other 

problems. And I would like to replace them all with wood. And 

when the windows were put in, the wood -- the old windows that 

were removed in the '60s, the sash, the sashes were made smaller. 

The window openings were smaller so they could fit these 

standardized aluminum windows in. 

 

 So, I -- this is something that's really dear to me at home. And I 

[unintelligible] cost. Uh, and you know, this stuff's expensive. So, 

I'm, I'm saying make the decision you're going to make. But, I think 
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at least factor in that, from the standpoint of most of the people in 

this community who are not versed in historic resources the same, 

same way that you are that this doesn't really seem like some kind 

of crazy idea. It seems like, "Hey, I want -- I'm getting new 

windows that are nicer. And I'd like them to be consistent." 

 

Leann Taagepera: Well, I'm sorry. But, I just have a couple more comments. It just -- 

there's a part in the staff report at the end, where it says, "Finally, it 

should be noted that allowing property owners some flexibility 

when appropriate has positive policy-level implications relative to a 

relationship between the city and the community." And to me, this 

really does sound like staff's opinion that you need to -- the 

Commission needs to offer flexibility and allow them to put in 

vinyl. 

 

Charlie Knox: Well, really, what I was trying to say there is really just what I said. 

Uh, I, I think it's worth thinking about. Uh, and I don't want to get 

too philosophical. But, we are in election season. Uh, and I can tell 

you there's -- there is this basic theory in politics of the pendulum 

swing. And we see this in a small community. Honestly, if you take 

I think [unintelligible] all the politicians in our community and you 

put them in a much larger, like a real urban environment, they 

would appear to be pretty close together ideologically. But, because 

we live in a small and we're a small place and politicians and others 

often chart their positions based on where they think somebody 

else. And I'm going to be 180 degrees from them or I don't agree 
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with this person on the subject, it seems like a wide -- much wider 

spread. 

 

 But, there is some spread in ideology. And the pendulum does 

swing. You rarely see in any election in any [unintelligible] any 

change of, uh, the ideology of the politicians. You know, something 

-- you know, it was way over here, and now it's going to stop in the 

middle. It usually goes all the way across. 

 

 And, and the reason I put that sentence in there after some 

discussion with my staff and the city manager is I'm really 

concerned that if the impression of us as staff and you as a 

Commission continues to be -- and I'm saying continues to be 

because it is now -- that we can't be reasonable or we're not flexible 

or the way we interpret our rules is always to try to force people to 

learn about history and become more historic in their approach to 

buildings that at some point we may get told from those who do 

make policy that that's not really okay. 

 

 And my thinking in putting that sentence there and my feeling in, in 

spending time to talk to you now is I think it's really important that 

this Commission has a good relationship and staff has a good 

relationship with the citizens over historic resources and that, that 

maybe -- and maybe you all think this is the right [unintelligible]. 

You know, maybe this is maybe your, your view as a Commission 

is, yeah, we'd be -- we would be flexible if it were the right 

proposal. This isn't it. That's cool. And I'm really glad that you've 
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had a discussion where you've talked about that. But, my feeling 

was this was one where it was worth looking at whether this was the 

kind of, the kind of building and the kind of location with the kind 

of features where you thought, "You know what? It's really not 

going to make that much difference whether it's wood or vinyl as 

viewed from the street and sidewalk, whatever. Uh, and maybe we 

should think about." 

 

 And that's why I liked where you were going with the windows on 

the side at least because that's, that's kind of the, that's kind of the 

professional view I have of this, of this house is that if, if you -- 

because, because where I think maybe you and I disagree on this, 

Leann, but where I come from is you can't, you can't make them put 

wood in that double window. So, the double window is going to be 

that new kind of cream-colored vinyl instead of the white one or 

slightly -- I think it's just the color of the picture. Then that's what's 

going to be there. That's the character-defining window of, of the 

building. 

 

 You know, the arches are, are character defining. But, you really do 

have to look back in there, especially in shady conditions, to see 

those wood windows. And so, [unintelligible] from the street is 

vinyl, and maybe it's going to be better vinyl, you know, my feeling 

was, is it worth it holding wood on these other windows when 

they're obviously going to look inconsistent? And it's just going to 

look more of a hodgepodge, which I think is what Commissioner 

McKee was saying. That's why I put that sentence [unintelligible]. 
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David Crompton: Okay. We have a motion and a second. Let's try to focus on 

questions or comments on the motion. 

 

Leann Taagepera: [Unintelligible] discussion. 

 

David Crompton: We are. We're discussing, we're discussing the motion that was -- 

 

Toni Haughey: I guess my concern is that then how do you apply that -- your -- you 

know, what you're saying and your rationale for doing this then to 

the rest of us in the district who may come along and want to 

change our windows and put double-paned vinyl or what's -- there's 

other -- there are other materials we could use. You know, I have all 

wood windows in my house, you know? And, uh, and, and that, 

that's one of my concerns, you know? And -- 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Toni Haughey: And I don't see what -- you know, it's not something we can discuss 

tonight. But, I think it's so interesting that we have such a problem 

with this when other communities don't. And they, and they have it 

spelled out. I mean, maybe that's our problem. We don't have it 

spelled out. I don't know. But, uh -- 

 

Charlie Knox: You have, you have discretion. And the reason you exist as a 

Commission is, is, is to exercise that discretion. And, and so, uh, 

again, I, I want to be clear on [unintelligible] question. I'm not 
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trying to convince you. I'm not trying to talk you into this. I'm just 

telling you that's why staff took the position we did. We as staff 

thought a reasonable interpretation of the rules that you have 

purview over would allow you to do that in this case. If you don't 

agree, that's your call. 

 

Toni Haughey: So, let me just clarify one thing. So, what you're basically saying is, 

if we were, you know, go along with the theories here, that if a 

person has wooden windows in the house, then we should remain 

fast on keeping those wood windows or replacing them with wood 

windows, double-paned wood windows. Okay? But, if you have 

[unintelligible] vinyl, then you can replace it with [unintelligible] 

vinyl. 

 

Charlie Knox: If -- well -- 

 

Toni Haughey: Is that what you're saying? I mean, I'm saying, how do we go do 

with the next person who comes along here? 

 

Charlie Knox: Yeah, I'm really -- believe me. I'm really sympathetic to that 

because ultimately we're doing our jobs well if you don't even see 

those situations if it's like for like. I -- you know, I think, I think 

Chair Crompton really framed this well somewhere in the middle of 

this conversation, which is, you, you do have this [unintelligible] 

between consistency and evaluation on a case-by-case basis. And I 

think I put -- I think, uh, when you and I were emailing the other 

night, I think I said, "This is the first case I've seen [unintelligible] 
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this is the first case I've seen where I don't authorize my staff to 

make this kind of recommendation." I, I've never -- I've not seen 

another case come before you where I thought, man, the house is so 

[unintelligible] that it really doesn't make since to keep the wood. 

And so, I don't know if there's some mathematical formula like 

there's 12 [unintelligible] and nine of them are already vinyl 

[unintelligible] the three wood. I mean, I don't know if it's that 

simple. 

 

 But, this is one of those ones where I felt like staff's looking and 

that was discussed with me was, "Hey, look at this place. It's all -- 

you know, upgrading the vinyl to nicer vinyl would actually be a 

more consistent, better design review approach. It may not be, you 

know, the most perfect strategic, uh, historic preservation approach. 

But, it seems to make sense from the design standpoint." So, that's, 

that's one thing you could point to. I mean, if you were going to 

make that kind of decision, you know, you've got basically 75 

percent of the windows are already vinyl. Keep them. If they're 

wood [unintelligible] just kind of looks odd. 

 

 But, I still would never -- I would never support -- if all the 

windows in the front were wood right now, I would never support 

the same proposal. It's the fact that you look at that building 

[unintelligible] big vinyl double window that's not going to change. 

What's going to change [unintelligible] excuse me. 
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Leann Taagepera: [Unintelligible] I think allowing the, the three original wood 

windows to go vinyl just perpetuates the inappropriate alterations 

have already been done to this building. And that's now our purview 

and our goals under the ordinance. 

 

 Uh, yes, it is more of a hodgepodge, uh, to have some wooden and 

have some vinyl. So, I don't understand why it would be best to err 

on the side of the vinyl, you know? And I think that a person in the 

future, if they still have -- if they have wood or if they had the 

original wood that they can possibly repair, then it starts them on 

this process for potential restoration of the other front window. And 

then all of the front windows will be wood. 

 

 I mean, there is a big difference. I mean, in the San Francisco 

window policy described, they talked about what is the difference to 

the viewer when you walk past. And some of it is the features are 

gone. And Toni -- Commissioner Haughey talked a little bit. I 

mean, if you have the vinyl ones, it goes straight across. They're 

very, uh, geometrical. If you had the old ones, there's always this 

little part that comes down on the -- the two sides. And you can see 

the window lock in the top. And the size on the bottom is different. 

 

 So, I mean, driving past in the car, I could tell these were different 

because these were wood, obviously. And the other one was vinyl. 

The vinyl, you lose these little features that are part of the look of 

the house. So, I have [unintelligible] before that if the -- you can't 

see the windows, you know, I think I, I argue that if the public can't 
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see part of the house that it's not, uh, not much -- it's actually 

character defining. So, if people's windows are going to their 

backyard, we have some other ones. And there was one where you 

could pretty much not see the window. And I spent time in a 

different house where I walked back and forth and just said, "Well, 

can I see it? Can I see it?" I can't really see it. I don't see it affects 

me as the public, doesn't affect the streetscape. I don't see how if 

affects historic district if I can't see it. 

 

 And so, in those, we went with vinyl, new windows. But, the ones 

in the front, the one primary elevation, the prominent part, I, I 

would be in favor of keeping that. And I think it's great to put in a 

word into encourage people. I think that our role is supposed to be 

to encourage preservation. I mean, I like to do that by having no 

fees when people come in. If someone comes in to restore a 

building, I don't think they should have to pay for anything. And I 

think there's ways that we can encourage people, even like 

financially like that to come in. So, I, I like your motion to 

encourage, uh, and then allow wooden window in front without 

coming back to us. 

 

Male Voice: Save them money if they put that into the, put it into the wooden 

window. I agree. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Yeah, and then repair first and if not possible, replace with wood 

the three and one -- and then replace the side ones with vinyl as 

they want. 
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Male Voice: You're aware if they replace them [unintelligible] little, you know, 

dog ears because they're -- 

 

Leann Taagepera: Yes [unintelligible] you make custom-made ones. When we had the 

person in here, he said -- 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, okay. They're custom made. Okay. 

 

Leann Taagepera: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, so that they could be custom made to be just like that. You're 

right. 

 

David Crompton: Okay. Any, uh, any additional comments? So, every, uh, everybody 

understands the motion at this point? 

 

Toni Haughey: The motion is -- 

 

Male Voice: No, not really. It was again -- 

 

Toni Haughey: Say it again. 

 

Male Voice: -- just the three wood and -- 

 

David Crompton: The motion is basically three wood and to allow for and encourage 

the replacement of the double front one with wood if they want to. 
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Leann Taagepera: And [unintelligible] on the side. 

 

Male Voice: And the idea that if they did that could be done by staff and -- 

 

Charlie Knox: Certainly. 

 

David Crompton: We're authorizing staff to do that, yes. All right. We have motion 

and a second. Can we have a, a roll call? 

 

Female Voice: Commissioner Haughey? 

 

Toni Haughey: No. 

 

Female Voice: McKee? 

 

Steve McKee: No. 

 

Female Voice: Taagepera? 

 

Leann Taagepera: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: Van Landschoot? 

 

Jon Van Landschoot: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: White? 
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Michael White: Yes. 

 

Female Voice: And Chair Crompton? 

 

David Crompton: Yes. Commission [unintelligible]. Thank you very much. Okay. 

Next item, any communications from staff? 

 

Charlie Knox: None. 

 

David Crompton: Communications from commissioners? 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, actually. I've talked for awhile about, uh, getting together 

some ideas for proposal revisions to the [unintelligible] master plan 

on elements that some -- in some cases we as a Commission have 

done cumbersome and that I found in my -- you know, working 

with people on my own problematic. And I would like to get that 

going soon. And I've been talking about it. And I know we have to 

like put it onto the agenda to really talk -- turn it into a discussion. I 

-- so, I would like to get that going. You know, procedural stuff's 

not my strong point here. So, I'm not sure what I, you know, do. I 

just request that it be on the agenda next month. And I guess I need 

to produce some material in advance to make it, you know, just go. 

So, I guess I can talk to staff about this later. But, that's -- 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 
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Female Voice: Yeah, and it would be -- sorry, if I can just jump in for clarification 

for staff purposes. Revisions to the Downtown Mixed Use Master 

Plan, there's multiple sections. So, is it to the code, to revision, 

intent, or what -- which section? What -- ? 

 

Male Voice: Specifics, you know, line items that are worded, you know, in such 

a way to create, uh, you know, example, uh, you know, you have to 

have 10-foot ceiling if you're [unintelligible] open. And, and 

sentence and now every room in this poor guy's house that's not 

going to be seen by anybody, you know, the little, you know, five-

by-five-foot, you know, powder room even in the back of his house 

has to have a 10-foot ceiling. I -- you know, it's ridiculous. 

 

Charlie Knox: You actually have two choices. One is you could seek the 

consensus of this Commission and schedule for this Commission. 

Or, you could go direct -- and then it would still go to 

[unintelligible] and the council. Or, you could directly to Planning 

Commission if you'd like for the proposal. 

 

Male Voice: I think I'd like to have the input of everybody here. So -- 

 

Charlie Knox: It's probably a good idea because, actually, just thinking about that 

[unintelligible] private individual [unintelligible]. 

 

Female Voice: So, the proposal is then to bring, uh, copies of the Downtown 

Mixed Use Master Plan and kind of have a workshop and be able to 
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go through, uh, the development standards that are -- that you have 

found to be problematic. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, and I -- 

 

Female Voice: -- discussion of that with your peers here. 

 

Male Voice: And, and make sure if it's, you know, a good idea or a bad idea to, 

uh, you know, uh -- of course, I would have some less with, you 

know, uh, examples and some -- uh, to, you know, uh, send that out 

to everybody in advance to look at, uh, or if that, you know, violates 

some kind of brown acting or not. 

 

Male Voice: No, if you send it -- 

 

Female Voice: You can submit it to staff. And then we can distribute it in the 

packet. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. 

 

Female Voice: Yeah. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. Work that out. 

 

Male Voice: I agree with you because, I mean, when we did Phil's place, I mean, 

it was -- you know, you know what I mean? Right. And now that 

you've had someone, I -- Mike, I -- 
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Male Voice: It's about, you know, eight or 10 of them, you know? 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, and it'd be nice if we had them in our packet before so we're 

not reading while we're discussing. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah. Okay. 

 

Male Voice: Of course. 

 

Male Voice: And can I ask Charlie a question? I know we're broke, but that's the 

comment. Do you have any sense of how much it would cost to 

rewrite this and then get the, the, the zoning and all that stuff 

together, just a ballpark figure? 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Charlie Knox: Well, I'm thinking it's going to require a number of meeting here, 

number of meetings with Planning Commission Council. I don't 

think [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Probably a consultant to -- 

 

Charlie Knox: I'm thinking 100, at least 150,000. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. Is -- 
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Female Voice: $150,000. 

 

Charlie Knox: To change that, go through the process, change that, change the 

zoning and have [unintelligible] meetings. 

 

Male Voice: So, let's -- 

 

Charlie Knox: -- final review. 

 

Male Voice: Let's say 150 to be on the high side. My last question is, can 

something like that be -- given that we're CLG and we've got 

context, is something like that grantable? 

 

Charlie Knox: Sure. 

 

Male Voice: -- that's the word. 

 

Charlie Knox: Sure. 

 

Leann Taagepera: They start context because we're only $25,000. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, no, but, I mean, that was 25. 

 

Male Voice: 25,000 and 90 hours a week for -- 

 

Male Voice: Yeah. But, I mean, you know, that's six times. So, it's grantable 

whether -- 
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Charlie Knox: Yeah, probably -- I mean, probably [unintelligible] some kind of 

partial grant. But, yeah, that would be -- 

 

Male Voice: And an incoming service. 

 

Male Voice: Isn't Cal Poly looking for some -- ? 

 

Male Voice: Yeah. 

 

Male Voice: -- graduate, uh, work? 

 

Male Voice: Yeah. 

 

Male Voice: Yeah, because -- 

 

Female Voice: [Unintelligible] we were -- I -- last time I spoke to Gina that it was 

talked about applying to the Sustainability Commission for a grant. 

That's what I was told. 

 

Male Voice: There's a lot of talk about the remaining [unintelligible] money and 

what it's going to be used for. I think it's been used about 30 times 

[unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible] just the other day. 

 

Male Voice: But, but, that is, that is not a bad idea. That's not a bad idea. 
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Male Voice: Emails all the time saying can we spend it, even people who think 

they can use the money [unintelligible] police and fire 

[unintelligible]. 

 

Charlie Knox: You know, even among people that know the so-called color of 

money that know that that money is set aside for [unintelligible] and 

conservation [unintelligible] to pay staff. You know, how can you 

be laying people off or cutting our -- I'll take 10 percent, I'll take 10 

percent cut. And people said, "Well, why'd you have to take 10 

percent cut [unintelligible]?" It's hard to explain. But, there -- that is 

a possibility. If we, if we retool the Downtown Historic 

Conservation Plan to be a -- have a significant component of energy 

and water conservation within it, might be a proposal. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Charlie Knox: Then you could have things like replace any wood window you 

want with X, Y, or Z double-pane wood window, doesn't require 

any staff [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: And save the money that would get you here. 

 

Charlie Knox: Yeah. 

 

Male Voice: Which you could [unintelligible]. 
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Female Voice: Yeah, I realize we're not San Francisco. But, they actually 

[unintelligible] windows to their clients. 

 

Charlie Knox: The exact style. 

 

Female Voice: This is what you can put in. 

 

Charlie Knox: See, that's not the way -- because one of the reasons that you have a 

[unintelligible] in front of you like this like tonight is this 

uncertainty. You know, if we're -- if we had modern rules with 

those kinds of bases, they would say, "Okay. I went down, you 

know" -- of course, you always have to have -- they communicate 

with [unintelligible] rules. They know what they are as opposed to 

this, you know, [unintelligible]. But, you know, that's a great -- the 

best -- I've always thought the best zoning, uh, best zoning district 

is one that just has all things permitted. And that's what you have. 

 

Female Voice: Right. 

 

Charlie Knox: You can't do that [unintelligible]. We kind of had it at some point 

[unintelligible]. And the best design review is you can do this, this, 

this, and this. And then you don't need, you don't, you don't have 

these kinds of intense conversations at Commission level. You're 

just basically -- 

 

Female Voice: Right. 
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Charlie Knox: -- blessing what staff has been able to [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Leann Taagepera: [Unintelligible] on a couple things. Uh, one, uh, the feedback I've 

gotten from people has not been negative toward HPRC. You know, 

I've had comments. You know, you were saying sort of negativity. 

Uh, I mean, we -- there was a woman that came up the last meeting 

who wanted us to go even further on things and wanted us to go to 

existing -- you know per pre-alterations and make people change 

those. And we had to explain that, uh, that's not legal. If someone 

already has a permit to do something some years past, we -- our job 

is not go around in Benicia and say, "You can't have that door you 

put in 30 years ago," so kind of explaining context and our legal 

authority of what we do. 

 

 And I've heard more of people who, uh, people who -- it's when 

there's an inconsistency between property owners. And that's when 

people think it's unfair or something. I mean, people who some 

people could put in skylights and other people couldn't put in 

skylights and they don't know why. Or, some people then did 

carefully restore windows. And they see other people who we 

encouraged restoration of windows. And you go back, and every 

single one's been removed and taken out. 

 

 And so, you know, the people I've talked to is there are people who 

all wanted to restore their houses and love to live downtown and 
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buy a historic house on purpose because of its value and, you know, 

become aware of these things. And I haven't, I haven't had people 

come to me -- you know, it's funny. Some people complain about 

pain colors to me. Why did you let that person paint that house that 

color? It's actually they could. That's not my job to tell that person 

10 years ago what color their house could be, you know? 

 

 Uh, I would -- did want an update. I was wondering. Is -- how -- 

within two or three years now, [Amy Million] had been updating 

our demolition ordinance. And she brought us a draft. And we made 

comments. And then she was going to go back. And then Gina had 

been working on the ordinance to -- we have a whole Design 

Review Commission ordinance. And then DRC doesn't exist. You 

know, and then there's HRC things and HPRC things. And Gina had 

put together a draft already which she was cleaning up the wording. 

And she was also including, including some information about how 

property owners -- how a building could be designated as historic or 

not. I had submitted some suggestions for a method. She had talked 

to OHP, uh, I don't know, six or nine months ago. And will, uh, 

these things come back to us, so -- ? 

 

Male Voice: I believe they will. You know, Amy, Amy's actually back with us 

now for a little while. I don't know how long. And, uh, basically I 

confirm on the -- she's working on that now. So, we'll -- 

 

Leann Taagepera: That takes -- 
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Male Voice: We'll get you on it the next meeting. But, if you want to get in touch 

with us [unintelligible] like even in the next few days, I'll try to get, 

uh, [unintelligible]. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Well, I'm just hoping it will come back because, I mean, pretty 

soon, my four years will be up. And I'd like to, uh, see some 

moving forward on this [unintelligible]. Okay. Do you have -- are 

you going to tell us about the design awards? 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, it was really -- uh, there were some great projects. They had 

people from all over, uh, California, you know, all the different 

projects. And they had little [unintelligible] awards. And we got to 

see what people had done and some amazing things that people do 

other places. And then that's why I, you know, get a little over the 

top here because, when you see what's going on in the rest of 

California and then we struggle. 

 

 So, uh, it was very nice. And they made presentations. And, uh, 

they had nice cocktails [unintelligible]. Uh, Gina got to go up on 

stage with, uh, uh -- 

 

Leann Taagepera: [Jonathan Members]. 

 

Toni Haughey: Jonathan. 

 

Leann Taagepera: [Unintelligible.] 

 

VIII.A.340



 HPRC Meeting 10.27.11 

Page 94 
 
 
 
 

Toni Haughey: And yeah, it was very nice, a lot of interesting people there. 

 

Leann Taagepera: And they gave us a plaque or something that we had. 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, we got something. We got a -- it was a plaque. It was a, uh, 

kind of something, a scroll. 

 

Leann Taagepera: Okay. 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, it was good. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

[Laughter] 

 

Male Voice: -- before you leave. 

 

Male Voice: Well, I was curious about [unintelligible], uh, when you go and 

apply. 

 

Male Voice: Okay. Let me go ahead and -- are we done with -- ? 

 

Toni Haughey: Yeah, I'm done. It was, it was great. 

 

David Crompton: Meeting -- 

 

Leann Taagepera: Adjourned. 
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David Crompton: -- adjourned. 

 

Male Voice: [Unintelligible.] 

 

Charlie Knox: Somebody wants to change their windows, uh, when you go to a 

window company, aren't they, uh, responsible for owner permit? 

Or, is it the, uh -- ? 

 

Male Voice: Contractor [unintelligible]. 

 

Male Voice: Whoever the owner authorize, whoever the owner authorizes 

[unintelligible]. 

 

[End of recorded material] 
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1. A property will be used as it was historically or be given a new use that requires 
minimal change to its distinctive materials, features, spaces, and spatial 
relationships.  

2. The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of 
distinctive materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that 
characterize a property will be avoided.  

3. Each property will be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. 
Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding 
conjectural features or elements from other historic properties, will not be 
undertaken.  

4. Changes to a property that have acquired historic significance in their own right 
will be retained and preserved.  

5. Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples 
of craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved.  

6. Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the 
severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature 
will match the old in design, color, texture, and, where possible, materials. 
Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary and physical 
evidence.  

7. Chemical or physical treatments, if appropriate, will be undertaken using the 
gentlest means possible. Treatments that cause damage to historic materials will not 
be used.  

8. Archeological resources will be protected and preserved in place. If such resources 
must be disturbed, mitigation measures will be undertaken.  

9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction will not destroy 
historic materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. 
The new work shall be differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the 
historic materials, features, size, scale and proportion, and massing to protect the 
integrity of the property and its environment.  

10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in a 
such a manner that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired.  

Guidelines for Rehabilitation-->

-GUIDELINES- 
 

The Approach 

 
Exterior Materials 

Masonry 
Wood 

Architectural Metals 

 
Exterior Features 

Roofs 

Windows  
Entrances + Porches  

Storefronts  
 

Interior Features 

Structural System 
Spaces/Features/Finishes 

Mechanical Systems 
 

Site 

 
Setting 

 
Special Requirements 
Energy Efficiency  

New Additions 

Accessibility  
Health + Safety 
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Identify, Retain and Preserve 

 
Identifying, retaining, and preserving windows--and their functional and decorative 
features--that are important in defining the overall historic character of the building. 
Such features can include frames, sash, muntins, glazing, sills, heads, hoodmolds, 
panelled or decorated jambs and moldings, and interior and exterior shutters and 
blinds. 

Conducting an indepth survey of the condition of existing windows early in 
rehabilitation planning so that repair and upgrading methods and possible 
replacement options can be fully explored.  

  
Removing or radically changing windows which are important in defining the historic 
character of the building so that, as a result, the character is diminished. 

Changing the number, location, size or glazing pattern of windows, through cutting new 
openings, blocking-in windows, and installing replacement sash that do not fit the historic 
window opening. 

Changing the historic appearance of windows through the use of inappropriate designs, 
materials, finishes, or colors which noticeably change the sash, depth of reveal, and muntin 
configuration; the reflectivity and color of the glazing; or the appearance of the frame. 

Obscuring historic window trim with metal or other material. 

Stripping windows of historic material such as wood, cast iron, and bronze. 

Replacing windows solely because of peeling paint, broken glass, stuck sash, and high air 
infiltration. These conditions, in themselves, are no indication that windows are beyond 
repair.  

Identify    Protect    Repair    Replace    Missing feature   Alterations/Additions 

This view of a historic building 
shows how the windows clearly 
help define its character, partly 
because of their shape and 
rhythm. If additional windows 
were inserted in the gap of the 
upper floors, the character would 
be drastically changed, as would 
painting the window heads to 
match the color of the brick walls. 

-GUIDELINES- 
 

The Approach 

 
Exterior Materials 

Masonry 
Wood 

Architectural Metals 

 
Exterior Features 

Roofs 

Windows  
Entrances + Porches  

Storefronts  
 

Interior Features 

Structural System 
Spaces/Features/Finishes 

Mechanical Systems 
 

Site 

 
Setting 

 
Special Requirements 
Energy Efficiency  

New Additions 

Accessibility  
Health + Safety 
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Protect and Maintain 

 
Protecting and maintaining the wood and architectural metals which comprise the 
window frame, sash, muntins, and surrounds through appropriate surface treatments 
such as cleaning, rust removal, limited paint removal, and re-application of protective 
coating systems. 

Making windows weathertight by re-caulking and replacing or installing 
weatherstripping. These actions also improve thermal efficiency. 

Evaluating the overall condition of materials to determine whether more than 
protection and maintenance are required, i.e. if repairs to windows and window 
features will be required.  

 
Failing to provide adequate protection of materials on a cyclical basis so that deterioration of 
the window results. 

Retrofitting or replacing windows rather than maintaining the sash, frame, and glazing. 

Failing to undertake adequate measures to assure the protection of historic windows.  

 

Repair 

 
Repairing window frames and sash by patching, splicing, consolidating or otherwise 
reinforcing. Such repair may also include replacement in kind--or with compatible 
substitute material--of those parts that are either extensively deteriorated or are 
missing when there are surviving prototypes such as architraves, hoodmolds, sash, 
sills, and interior or exterior shutters and blinds.  

 

 

The historic steel sash 
has been removed and 
replaced with modern 
aluminum sash, 
resulting in a negative 
visual impact on the 
building's historic 
character. Photo: NPS 
files. 

 

 

 

These historic steel 
windows are being 
prepared for repairs and 
re-finishing as part of a 
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Replacing an entire window when repair of materials and limited replacement of deteriorated 
or missing parts are appropriate. 

Failing to reuse serviceable window hardware such as brass sash lifts and sash locks. 

Using substitute material for the replacement part that does not convey the visual 
appearance of the surviving parts of the window or that is physically or chemically 
incompatible.  

 

Replace 

 
Replacing in kind an entire window that is too deteriorated to repair using the same 
sash and pane configuration and other design details. If using the same kind of 
material is not technically or economically feasible when replacing windows 
deteriorated beyond repair, then a compatible substitute material may be considered.  

 
Removing a character-defining window that is unrepairable and blocking it in; or replacing it 
with a new window that does not convey the same visual appearance.  

  

rehabilitation project. 
Photo: NPS files. 

 
Inappropriate change 
to a historic building 
means the loss of its 
distinctive visual 
qualities, as well as a 
lessening of its long-
term historical and 
cultural value. Photo: 
Martha L. Werenfels, 
AIA. 

The following work is highlighted to indicate that it represents the particularly complex technical or design 
aspects of Rehabilitation projects and should only be considered after the preservation concerns listed 
above have been addressed.  

Design for the Replacement of Missing Historic 
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Features 

 
Designing and installing new windows when the historic windows (frames, sash and 
glazing) are completely missing. The replacement windows may be an accurate 
restoration using historical, pictorial, and physical documentation; or be a new 
design that is compatible with the window openings and the historic character of the 
building.  

 
Creating a false historical appearance because the replaced window is based on 
insufficient historical, pictorial, and physical documentation. 

Introducing a new design that is incompatible with the historic character of the building.  

 

The following work is highlighted to indicate that it represents the particularly complex technical or design 
aspects of Rehabilitation projects and should only be considered after the preservation concerns listed 
above have been addressed.  

Alterations/Additions for the New Use 

 
Designing and installing additional windows on rear or other-non character-defining 
elevations if required by the new use. New window openings may also be cut into 
exposed party walls. Such design should be compatible with the overall design of the 
building, but not duplicate the fenestration pattern and detailing of a character-
defining elevation. 

Providing a setback in the design of dropped ceilings when they are required for the 
new use to allow for the full height of the window openings.  

 
Installing new windows, including frames, sash, and muntin configuration that are 
incompatible with the building's historic appearance or obscure, damage, or destroy 
character-defining features. 

Inserting new floors or furred-down ceilings which cut across the glazed areas of windows 
so that the exterior form and appearance of the windows are changed. 

 

 

 

In the rehabilitation of a church for offices and 
apartments, the large open interior space was 
inappropriately subdivided by inserting a full 
second floor. Removing the stained glass windows 
further changed the historic appearance, 
compromising their size and proportion on the 
interior. Photo: NPS files.  
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Chapter 2.84 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION REVIEW COMMISSION

Sections:

2.84.010    Purpose.

2.84.020    Established – Membership.

2.84.030    Members – Qualification.

2.84.040    Meeting time and place.

2.84.050    Tie vote.

2.84.060    Officers – Appointment.

2.84.070    Officers – Duties.

2.84.080    Powers and duties.

2.84.010 Purpose.

The purpose of the historic preservation review commission is to identify, register, 

designate, preserve, protect, enhance and perpetuate those historic structures, districts 

and neighborhoods which contribute to the cultural and aesthetic heritage of Benicia; to 

foster civic pride in the beauty and accomplishments of the past; to stabilize and improve 

the economic value of certain historic structures, districts and neighborhoods; to promote 

and encourage continued private ownership and utilization of such buildings and other 

structures now so owned and used; to conduct design review in historic overlay (H) 

districts as provided for in Chapter 17.108 BMC; and to advise and assist the city council 

in implementing the goals, policies and programs set forth in the city’s general plan 

relating to preservation and enhancement of the city’s historic character and protection of 

the city’s archaeological sites and resources. (Ord. 08-05 § 1; Ord. 05-01 § 1; Ord. 01-3. 

Formerly 2.56.010).

2.84.020 Established – Membership. 

A historic preservation review commission is established in the city. The commission 

consists of seven voting members. (Ord. 08-05 § 1; Ord. 05-01 § 1; Ord. 01-3. Formerly 

2.56.020).

2.84.030 Members – Qualification.

A. Each member of the historic preservation review commission shall be a Benicia 

resident and have a demonstrated special interest, competence or knowledge of historic 

preservation.

B. Members shall, to the extent possible, be:

1. Professionals in the disciplines of history, architecture, architectural history, 

planning, prehistoric and historic archaeology, folklore, cultural anthropology, 

curation, conservation, and landscape architecture or related disciplines, such as 

urban planning, American studies, American civilization, or cultural geography, to 

the extent that such professionals are available in the community; or

2. Lay members who have demonstrated special interest, competence, experience, 

or knowledge in historic preservation.
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C. At least two members shall be owners of a historic property within the historic district. 

One of these members shall be the owner of a residence in the historic district. The other 

member shall be the owner of either a residence or business property in the historic 

district. (Ord. 08-05 § 1; Ord. 05-01 § 1; Ord. 01-3. Formerly 2.56.030).

2.84.040 Meeting time and place.

The commission shall meet as often as necessary, but at least four times a year, with 

meetings held in a public place, advertised in advance, and open to the public, pursuant 

to the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government Code Section 54950 et seq.) for open meetings. 

(Ord. 08-05 § 1; Ord. 05-01 § 1; Ord. 01-3. Formerly 2.56.060).

2.84.050 Tie vote. 

A tie vote on any matter before the commission shall be deemed to be a disapproval 

thereof. (Ord. 08-05 § 1).

2.84.060 Officers – Appointment.

The commission shall elect a chairperson and a vice-chairperson from among its 

members. The chairperson and vice-chairperson serve for a term of one year and until 

the successor of each takes office. The commission shall also appoint a secretary. The 

secretary need not be a member of the commission. (Ord. 08-05 § 1; Ord. 05-01 § 1; 

Ord. 01-3. Formerly 2.56.100).

2.84.070 Officers – Duties. 

A. Chairperson. The chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the commission. He/she 

shall appoint all committees and shall perform the duties necessary or incidental to 

his/her office.

B. Vice-Chairperson. The vice-chairperson is chairperson in the absence of the 

chairperson or in case of the inability of the chairperson to act.

C. Secretary. The secretary shall keep minutes of each meeting, shall record the official 

action taken and perform such other duties as the commission assigns. The secretary 

need not be a member of the commission. (Ord. 08-05 § 1; Ord. 05-01 § 1; Ord. 01-3. 

Formerly 2.56.110).

2.84.080 Powers and duties. 

The commission shall:

A. Conduct design reviews for restoration, remodeling and development projects in the 

historic overlay (H) zones in accordance with Chapter 17.08 BMC and/or Chapter 17.54 

BMC, or which involve city-owned historical buildings. Ensure that restoration, remodeling 

and new development complies with the “Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the 

Treatment of Historical Properties,” the criteria contained in the general plan and the 

criteria in the adopted historic plans for each district. Support decisions by specific 

findings based on the “Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historical 

Properties,” the general plan and the adopted historic plans for each district, as detailed 

in the relevant sections of the Benicia Municipal Code, as they may be amended from 

time to time;
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B. Maintain a program to compile, record and update an inventory of cultural resources 

within the city. The inventory shall be based on comprehensive surveys conducted in 

conformance with state survey standards and procedures;

C. Make policy recommendations to the city council on matters that relate to historic 

preservation and the restoration of designated buildings and districts;

D. Review and certify CEQA documents for projects which require only HPRC approval 

and review CEQA documents and make recommendations for approval to the planning 

commission and city council as appropriate;

E. Each commission member is expected to annually attend an informational or 

educational meeting, seminar, workshop or conference that pertains directly to the work 

of the commission or would be approvable by the State Office of Historic Preservation;

F. Produce an annual report, in accordance with the requirements of certified local 

government, on the activities of the commission;

G. Oversee and establish a program to assist owners of historic homes in lower-income 

areas to apply for low interest loans through community development block grants 

(CDGBs), when available;

H. Oversee the publicizing of opportunities and incentives for historic preservation to 

owners of historic buildings;

I. Oversee the maintenance of a list of historic preservation review commission 

educational materials. These items will have been determined by the commission as 

providing important background information necessary for commissioners to do the work 

of the commission. The commission may modify this list at its discretion. As soon as is 

practicable after appointment, commissioners are required to review the items on this list;

J. Pursuant to the program established by the city council, oversee a program for 

property tax incentives in accordance with the California Mills Act and recommend to the 

city council execution of Mills Act agreements. Provide potential buyers with information 

about the California Mills Act and federal investment tax credits;

K. Maintain a program to coordinate with the California Archaeological Inventory to 

develop and maintain an inventory of existing and potential archaeological sites;

L. Maintain a program to inform title companies that properties in Benicia may be affected 

by historic preservation regulations;

M. Work with Main Street, the Benicia Historical Society, the Benicia Historical Museum 

at the Camel Barns, and other community groups on historic preservation issues;

N. Recommend nomination of properties for the California and National Register;

O. Create, maintain and increase the community awareness of our historic resources;

P. Oversee the administration of the city’s official historic plaque program; and
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Q. Perform other duties as provided by the city council. (Ord. 08-05 § 1; Ord. 05-01 § 1; 

Ord. 01-3. Formerly 2.56.140).

This page of the Benicia Municipal Code is current through 
Ordinance 11-12, passed October 18, 2011.
Disclaimer: The City Clerk's Office has the official version of the 
Benicia Municipal Code. Users should contact the City Clerk's 
Office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited 
above. 

City Website: http://www.ci.benicia.ca.us/ 
(http://www.ci.benicia.ca.us/)  

City Telephone: (707) 746-4201
Code Publishing Company 

(http://www.codepublishing.com/)  
eLibrary 

(http://www.codepublishing.com/elibrary.html) 
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Chapter 17.54 
H HISTORIC OVERLAY DISTRICT

Sections:

17.54.010    Specific purposes.

17.54.020    Applicability and zoning map designator.

17.54.030    Land use and development regulations.

17.54.040    Criteria for establishment of H district.

17.54.050    Criteria for designating landmark buildings.

17.54.060    Conservation plan required.

17.54.070    Application requirements.

17.54.080    Review and approval.

17.54.090    Establishment of H districts and landmark designation.

17.54.100    Demolition and design review procedures.

17.54.120    Maintenance of structures and premises.

17.54.010 Specific purposes.

The specific purposes of the H historic overlay district are to:

A. Implement the city’s general plan;

B. Deter demolition, destruction, alteration, misuses, or neglect of historic or 

architecturally significant buildings that form an important link to Benicia’s past;

C. Promote the conservation, preservation, protection, and enhancement of each historic 

district;

D. Stimulate the economic health and residential quality of the community and stabilize 

and enhance the value of property;

E. Encourage development tailored to the character and significance of each historic 

district through a conservation plan that includes goals, objectives, and design criteria. 

(Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.020 Applicability and zoning map designator. 

The H historic overlay district may be combined with any zoning district. Each H overlay 

district shall be shown on the zoning map by adding an “-H” designator to the base 

district designation followed by the number of the district based on the order of adoption. 

(Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.030 Land use and development regulations.

A. The land use and development regulations applicable in an H district shall be as 

prescribed for the base district with which it is combined unless modified by another 

overlay district; provided, that the requirements of the district conservation plan shall 

govern where conflicts arise.

B. Exceptions for Historic and Architecturally Significant Structures.
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1. The community development director may grant a use permit for an exception to 

the land use regulations of the base district with which an H district is combined 

when such an exception is necessary to permit the preservation or restoration of an 

historic or architecturally significant building, structure or site.

2. Applications for such use permits shall be filed with the community development 

director on a form provided. The community development director shall refer all 

applications for an exception under this section to the historic preservation review 

commission (HPRC) for a report and recommendation. In making a decision, the 

community development director shall make a written finding that shall specify the 

facts relied upon in rendering his decision. A copy of this written finding, together 

with all evidence presented to the community development director, shall be filed in 

the planning department. The written finding and decision shall be mailed to the 

applicant and shall be subject to appeal to the planning commission. Decision-

making authority on such use permits may be deferred to the planning commission 

at the option of the community development director. Upon their decision in such 

instances, an appeal may be made to the city council as prescribed in Chapter 1.44 

BMC. (Ord. 07-59 § 1; Ord. 05-03 § 4; Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.040 Criteria for establishment of H district.

A. A portion of a base district shall be eligible for inclusion in an H district if one or more 

of the following criteria, rigorously applied, are met:

1. The area possesses character, interest, or value as part of the heritage of the 

city.

2. The area is the location of a significant historical event.

3. The area is identified with a person or group that contributed significantly to the 

culture and development of the city.

4. Structures within the area exemplify a particular architectural style or way of life 

important to the city.

5. Structures within the area are the best remaining examples of an architectural 

style in a neighborhood.

6. The area or its structures are identified as the work of a person or group whose 

work has influenced the heritage of the city, the state, or the United States.

7. The area or its structures embody elements of outstanding attention to 

architectural or landscape design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship.

8. The area is related to a designated historic building or district in such a way that 

its preservation is essential to the integrity of the building or district.

9. The area’s unique location or singular physical characteristics represent an 

established and familiar visual feature of a neighborhood.

10. The area has potential for yielding information of archaeological interest.
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11. The area’s integrity as a natural environment strongly contributes to the well-

being of the people of the city.

B. Portions of a base zoning district that do not meet the above criteria may be included 

in an H district if inclusion is found to be essential to the integrity of the district. (Ord. 87-4 

N.S., 1987).

17.54.050 Criteria for designating landmark buildings.

Individual buildings may be designated as historic or architecturally significant landmarks 

if one or more of the criteria set forth in BMC 17.54.040 are met. A landmark so 

designated shall be eligible for the same review procedures as buildings and structures 

within an H district. (Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.060 Conservation plan required.

Prior to filing an application for an H district, the applicant shall prepare an historic district 

conservation plan with the assistance of the planning department. Each conservation 

plan shall contain:

A. A map and description of the proposed district, including boundaries; the age, setting, 

and character of structures; urban design elements and streetscapes; major public 

improvements; and proposed objectives to be achieved;

B. A statement of the architectural or historical significance of the proposed district;

C. A list of specific alterations that should be subject to design review in order to protect 

the architectural or historical character of the proposed district;

D. A set of specific performance guidelines for new construction and alterations 

necessary to preserve the character of the proposed district;

E. Proposed rules and regulations for design review. (Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.070 Application requirements. 

A. Filing of Petition. An application for an H district or landmark designation may be 

initiated by the planning commission or city council, or by filing a petition requesting 

establishment of the district with the community development director, accompanied by 

the required fee. If initiated by petition, the application shall include:

1. The proposed conservation plan for the district as prescribed by BMC 17.54.060;

2. A form bearing the signatures of the owners of 51 percent of the land area within 

the proposed district.

B. Application Contents. An application for a landmark designation shall contain:

1. A map showing the location of the building or structure and building plans or 

photographs of the building exterior;

2. A statement of the architectural or historical significance of the proposed building 

and description of the particular features that should be preserved; and
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3. Except when initiated by the city, the consent of the owner or authorized agent to 

the proposed designation is required. For purposes of this section, each 

condominium owner’s association shall be deemed the property owner of common 

areas. 

Prior to accepting the application as complete, the community development director may 

request additional information, plans or materials deemed necessary to support the 

application. A planning commission public hearing on the petition shall be held within 90 

days of the date the petition is accepted as complete. (Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.080 Review and approval. 

A. Neighborhood Workshop. The planning department shall conduct a neighborhood 

workshop in the proposed district to explain the proposal and the amendment process to 

neighborhood residents. Notice of the workshop shall be given in the same manner 

prescribed for zoning map amendments by BMC 17.120.040. 

B. Notice and Public Hearing. After the neighborhood workshop, the proposed district 

shall be the subject of public hearings before the planning commission and the city 

council. The hearings shall be set, noticed, and conducted as prescribed by Chapter 

17.120 BMC.

C. Contents of Public Notice. In addition to the information prescribed by Chapter 17.120 

BMC, notice of a public hearing for the establishment of an H district or designation of a 

landmark shall include a statement that original petitioners have the right to withdraw 

their support of the district at any time prior to the hearing, and that property owners who 

have not signed the petition have the right to do so prior to the date of the hearing. (Ord. 

87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.090 Establishment of H districts and landmark designation.

A. Required Findings. In addition to the findings required by Chapter 17.120 BMC, the 

planning commission and city council shall find that the proposed district or landmark has 

a significant architectural or historical character that can be preserved and enhanced 

through appropriate controls on new development and alterations to existing buildings 

and landscaping.

B. Adoption of Conservation Plan. An ordinance establishing an H district shall include an 

historic district conservation plan in the form submitted or as revised by the planning 

commission or city council. The plan’s performance guidelines may modify the land use 

and development regulations of the base zoning district, but shall not significantly alter 

the regulations. A performance guideline shall be found to be a significant alteration of 

base district regulations if it substantially prevents property from being used in accord 

with the provisions of the base district, or creates a substantial number of nonconforming 

uses or structures.

C. Effects on Projects Initiated Prior to Effective Date. No provision of this chapter shall 

apply to projects initiated prior to the effective date of an ordinance establishing an H 

district or designating a landmark. Such projects shall be considered nonconforming 

uses, subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.98 BMC. For the purposes of this 
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subsection, a project shall be deemed initiated if an application, plans, and materials for 

concept or development plan review have been filed and accepted as complete.

D. Amendments to Adopted Conservation Plans. Procedures for an amendment to an 

adopted conservation plan shall be initiated in the same manner as an application for a 

zoning map amendment (Chapter 17.120 BMC). (Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.100 Demolition and design review procedures. 

A. In General. Except as modified by an adopted conservation plan, design review in an 

H district or of a proposed alteration, enlargement or demolition of a designated landmark 

shall be conducted as prescribed by Chapter 17.108 BMC. Design review and approval 

shall be the responsibility of the community development director or the design review 

commission, as the case may be.

The building official shall not issue a permit for construction, alteration, enlargement, or 

demolition of a building or structure located in an H district or of a designated landmark 

without the prior approval of the community development director or the design review 

commission. Prior approval of the community development director or the design review 

commission is not required for permit applications of an emergency nature to rehabilitate 

an unsafe building or to demolish the structure for the same reasons.

B. Criteria. In addition to the requirements of Chapter 17.108 BMC, the community 

development director or design review commission, as the case may be, shall consider 

the proposed demolition, new construction, or alteration in the context of the adopted 

conservation plan and the architectural or historical value and significance of the site and 

structure in relation to the overlay district. These considerations shall include the visual 

relationship of proposed architectural design elements to the surrounding area, including 

scale, height, rhythm of spacing, pattern of windows and doorways, building siting and 

relationship to landscaping, roof pitch, architectural style, and structural details, materials, 

colors, and textures.

C. Required Findings. No demolition permit shall be issued for demolition of any historic 

structure within an H district or for demolition of a designated landmark without prior 

review and approval by the design review commission. Demolition permits for nonhistoric 

structures within the H district may be approved by the community development director. 

To assist any evaluation by the design review commission, the community development 

director shall submit a report and recommendation to the design review commission.

1. For Demolitions.

a. If, after review of the request for a demolition permit, the design review 

commission determines that the structure itself has historical, architectural or 

cultural interest or value, the commission may withhold approval for demolition 

for 180 days (from the date of commission action) or until environmental review 

is completed, whichever occurs later.

During the 180 days, the design review commission may direct the planning 

department to consult with recognized historic preservation organizations and 

other civic groups, public agencies and interested citizens; make 
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recommendations for acquisition of property by public or private bodies or 

agencies; explore the possibility of moving one or more structures or other 

features; and take any other reasonable measures.

At the end of the 180-day period, the demolition permit shall be issued if 

environmental review determines there will not be a significant impact on the 

environment and all requirements of this title are met or, if there may be 

substantial environmental damages, that specific economic, social or other 

considerations make infeasible the mitigation measures or alternatives 

identified during environmental review.

b. If, after review of the request for a demolition permit, the design review 

commission determines that the building or structure has no substantial 

historical, architectural, or cultural interest or value, a building permit for 

demolition may be issued.

2. For New Construction or Alterations. The director or the commission shall not 

grant design approval for new construction or alterations unless it finds that the 

proposed new construction or alteration will be compatible with and help achieve the 

purposes of the H district.

3. For Removal or Alteration of Certain Landscape Materials. The director’s or 

commission’s approval shall be required for removal or alteration of landscape 

materials identified as significant resources by the historic district conservation plan. 

Removal or alteration of such landscape materials shall require a finding that the 

proposed removal or alteration will not affect the character of the H district, or that 

the safety of persons or property requires the removal or alteration. No provisions of 

this subsection shall be construed as restricting routine maintenance of landscape 

materials.

D. Economic Hardship Waiver. If an applicant for design concept or design approval 

presents evidence of inability to meet the cost of complying with a condition of approval, 

the director or the commission may grant the approval with the requirement that all 

conditions be met within a period of up to five years. If such conditions are not met within 

five years, the property owner shall be subject to the enforcement provisions of Chapter 

17.128 BMC.

E. Effective Date – Appeals. Decisions of the director or commission shall be final on the 

tenth business day after the date of the decision, unless appealed in accordance with 

Chapter 1.44 BMC. (Ord. 07-59 § 2; Ord. 93-1 N.S. § 5, 1993; Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.54.120 Maintenance of structures and premises.

All property owners in H districts and owners of designated landmarks shall have the 

obligation to maintain structures and premises in good repair. Structures and premises in 

good repair shall present no material variance in apparent condition from surrounding 

structures in compliance with the provisions of this chapter. Good repair includes and is 

defined as the level of maintenance that ensures the continued availability of the 

structure and premises for a lawfully permitted use, and prevents deterioration, 
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dilapidation, and decay of the exterior portions of the structure and premises. (Ord. 87-4 

N.S., 1987).
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Chapter 17.108 
DESIGN REVIEW

Sections:

17.108.010    Purposes.

17.108.020    Applicability.

17.108.030    Sequence of design review.

17.108.040    Scope of design review.

17.108.050    Initiation of design review.

17.108.060    Review responsibilities.

17.108.070    Review process and time limits.

17.108.080    Notice and public hearing by design review commission.

17.108.090    Effective date – Lapse and renewal – Alterations.

17.108.100    Appeals.

17.108.110    Design review guidelines.

17.108.010 Purposes.

Design review is intended to implement general plan policies. More specifically, the 

purposes of design review are to:

A. Ensure that the location and configuration of structures are visually harmonious with 

their sites and with surrounding sites and structures, and do not unnecessarily block 

scenic views from other buildings or public parks or dominate their surroundings to an 

extent inappropriate to their use;

B. Ensure that the architectural design of structures, their materials and colors are 

visually harmonious with surrounding development and with the natural landforms and 

vegetation of the areas in which they are proposed to be located;

C. Ensure that plans for the landscaping of open spaces conform with the requirements 

of this title, and that they provide visually pleasing settings for structures on the site and 

on adjoining and nearby sites and blend harmoniously with the natural landscape;

D. Prevent excessive and unsightly grading of hillsides, and preserve natural landforms 

and existing vegetation where feasible;

E. Ensure the provision of adequate, safe and efficient parking and circulation areas, 

which conform to the requirements of this title;

F. Provide a functional, efficient, and attractive site design which is sensitive to existing 

uses in the area and to the topography and conditions of the site;

G. Ensure that new development is consistent with specific design guidelines developed 

for use within the community, where applicable, and to any specific plan or planned 

development plan. (Ord. 92-9 N.S. § 23, 1992; Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).
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17.108.020 Applicability.

A. In an H Historic Overlay District. Design approval shall be required prior to issuance of 

a zoning permit for all projects that involve demolition, construction, or changes in 

exterior colors or materials, except signs.

B. In All Other Districts. Design approval shall be required prior to issuance of a zoning 

permit for all projects in all other zones, except single-family residences and related 

accessory buildings, that involve new construction or exterior alterations and additions, 

except signs. (Ord. 07-21 § 11; Ord. 01-6 N.S., 2001; Ord. 89-1 N.S. § 49, 1989; Ord. 87-

4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.030 Sequence of design review.

Design review shall consist of two steps:

A. Preliminary consultation between the project sponsor and the community development 

director to discuss design guidelines and establish design criteria applicable to the site 

and use.

B. Design review by the community development director or the design review 

commission, as prescribed by this chapter. Approval shall require the findings prescribed 

in BMC 17.108.040(A). (Ord 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.040 Scope of design review. 

A. Required Findings. Design approval shall require a finding that the design of a project 

is consistent with the purposes of this title.

B. Limits on Conditions Required. Changes in a project required as a condition of design 

approval shall not include use, density, FAR, private open space, parking, or loading 

requirements more restrictive than those prescribed by applicable district regulations or a 

valid use permit or variance. (Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.050 Initiation of design review.

A. Preliminary Consultation. Preliminary consultation shall be initiated by requesting an 

appointment with the community development director or a designated representative.

B. Design Review. Design review shall be initiated by filing the following with the 

community development director:

1. A completed application form; and

2. Six sets of the following:

a. A fully dimensioned site plan showing the locations of existing and proposed 

structures, driveways, walks, walls, fences and open spaces, property lines, 

right-of-way lines, dedications and easements, and the relation of the site to the 

surrounding area;

b. A fully dimensioned landscape plan if required by BMC 17.70.190;
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c. Architectural drawings, renderings, or sketches drawn to scale showing 

elevations of proposed structures and describing exterior materials. Perspective 

drawings or scale models also may be required at the discretion of the 

community development director;

d. Floor plans showing the proposed use and exterior wall openings;

e. Proposed screening of all exterior equipment and electrical equipment;

f. Proposed exterior lighting fixtures using catalog cuts or sketches; and

g. Samples or descriptions of all proposed exterior materials and paint colors, 

including surfacing materials for paved areas.

C. Consolidated Review. An applicant may request simultaneous design review and 

approval of development plans under Chapter 17.112 BMC if:

1. Development plans and materials are submitted in lieu of, or in addition to, plans 

and materials required for design review;

2. All other requirements for a zoning permit have been met; and

3. The applicant acknowledges in writing an understanding of the risk of loss if 

development plans are disapproved or substantial redesign is required. (Ord. 87-4 

N.S., 1987).

17.108.060 Review responsibilities.

A. By the Community Development Director. The community development director shall 

be responsible for design review for projects in the IG, IL, and IW districts, and for 

projects outside the district that involve construction of less than 2,500 square feet of 

floor area.

B. By the Historic Preservation Review Commission. The historic preservation review 

commission shall be responsible for design review in the RS (nonresidential structures 

only), RM, RH, C, OS, PS, PD and the H overlay districts, for projects not subject to 

community development director review. The historic preservation review commission 

shall hold a public hearing, as provided in BMC 17.108.080, and shall approve, 

conditionally approve, or disapprove applications for design approval. Decisions of the 

design review commission may be appealed to the planning commission in accordance 

with Chapter 1.44 BMC. (Ord. 07-67 § 1; Ord. 07-21 § 12; Ord. 01-6 N.S., 2001; Ord. 99-

1 N.S.; Ord. 92-15 N.S. § 20, 1992; Ord. 92-9 N.S. § 24, 1992; Ord. 89-1 N.S. § 51, 

1989; Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.070 Review process and time limits.

A. Prerequisite for Review. Unless an applicant selects consolidated review, as provided 

in BMC 17.108.050(C), review of development plans shall follow design review.

B. By Community Development Director (IG, IL, and IW Districts). The community 

development director shall review plans submitted for design approval within 30 days of 

VIII.A.367



receipt and shall approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove the plans. Within five 

working days after a decision, notice shall be mailed to the applicant.

C. By Design Review Commission (R, C, IP, OS, PS and PD Districts, and H Overlay 

District). After a duly noticed public hearing, the design review commission shall approve, 

conditionally approve or disapprove the plans. Within five working days of a design 

review commission decision, the secretary of the commission shall mail notice of the 

decision to the applicant.

D. Action Required. All decisions shall be based on the findings required by BMC 

17.108.040. Any conditions imposed shall be reasonable and designed to assure 

attainment of the purposes and standards established by this title. (Ord. 01-6 N.S., 2001; 

Ord. 92-9 N.S. § 24, 1992; Ord. 89-1 N.S. §§ 52, 53, 1989; Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.080 Notice and public hearing by design review commission. 

A. Time of Hearing. Within three working days after acceptance of a complete application 

for design review, the community development director shall set a date, time, and place 

for the hearing. A public hearing shall be held within 60 days of receipt of the application, 

unless the applicant agrees to a later date.

B. Notice. Notice of a public hearing required by this chapter shall be given in the 

following manner:

1. Posted Notice. Notices shall be posted at least 10 days prior to the hearing on the 

site of the project.

2. Mailed or Delivered Notice. At least 10 days prior to the hearing, notice shall be 

mailed to the applicant and all owners of property within 300 feet of the boundaries 

of the site, as shown on the last equalized property tax assessment roll.

C. Public Hearing. At the time and place set for the public hearing, the commission shall 

hear comments on the proposed design. The commission may continue a public hearing 

without additional notice. (Ord. 92-9 N.S. §§ 24, 25, 1992; Ord. 89-1 N.S. § 54, 1989; 

Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.090 Effective date – Lapse and renewal – Alterations. 

A. Effective Date. Design review decisions shall become effective on the tenth day after 

the date of the notices of decision required by this chapter, unless appealed as provided 

in Chapter 1.44 BMC.

B. Lapse of Approvals. Design approval shall lapse two years from its effective date 

unless:

1. A building permit has been issued and construction diligently pursued; or

2. An occupancy permit has been issued; or

3. The approval is renewed.
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C. Renewal. The community development director or the design review commission, as 

the case may be, may renew design approval for a period of one year upon determining 

that the findings made remain valid. Application shall be made in writing prior to the lapse 

of the original approval, but no more than 120 days prior to that date.

D. Changed Plans. The community development director or the design review 

commission, as the case may be, may approve changes to approved plans or in 

conditions of approval without a public hearing upon determining that the changes in 

conditions are minor and are consistent with the intent of the original approval. Revisions 

involving substantial changes in project design or conditions of approval shall be treated 

as new applications. (Ord. 07-67 § 2; Ord. 92-9 N.S. § 24, 1992; Ord 89-1 N.S. §§ 55, 56, 

1989; Ord 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.100 Appeals.

A. Rights of Appeal and Review. Design review decisions of the community development 

director may be appealed by any interested party to the historic preservation review 

commission. Design review decisions of the historic preservation review commission may 

be appealed, by any interested party, to the planning commission.

B. Procedures – Public Hearings. Procedures for appeals shall be as prescribed by 

Chapter 1.44 BMC.

C. Limits on Appeals. Appeal decisions of the historic preservation review commission 

shall be final. (Ord. 07-67 § 3; Ord. 92-9 N.S. § 24, 1992; Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).

17.108.110 Design review guidelines. 

The design review commission may adopt guidelines for design review consistent with 

the purposes of this chapter to facilitate the review process. (Ord. 92-9 N.S. § 24, 1992; 

Ord. 87-4 N.S., 1987).
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Heather McLaughlin - Fwd: Planning Commission Meeting notice to H. P . R . C. members 

  
HI!  Yes, the HPRC's decision on the wood windows vs. vinyl will be heard by the Planning 
Commission on Thursday night.  The agenda and packet are available on the City's website.  You may 
attend the meeting and speak as individuals and explain your thoughts and reasoning for your vote.  
One can only speak as a representative of the HPRC if the HPRC authorized it. 
  
Thanks, Heather 
 
>>> Jon Van Landschoot <jonvanland@yahoo.com> 12/5/2011 5:23 PM >>> 
Hi, 
 
The planning Comm. will review the H.P.R.C.'s decision regarding  
replacing wooden windows with vinyl windows on the front face of an historic residence. 
 
We , as the H.P.R.C. , have not had a meeting since that windows decision was made in October. 
I do not want to alert all the members as I feel that would be a violation of the Brown Act. 
 
Can you send out an e-mail to all H.P.R.C. members to notice them  
of the Planning Comm. review of our decision ? 
 
Also, can we as individuals , address the Planning Comm.  
as citizens to explain our individual reasoning and vote ? 
 
Please advise. 
 
your chum, 
jon van 

From:    Heather McLaughlin
To:    Brad Kilger;  Charlie Knox;  HPRC;  Kat Wellman
Date:    12/6/2011 2:31 PM
Subject:   Fwd: Planning Commission Meeting notice to H. P . R . C. members
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CLG Program Q & A 

 

What is the Certified Local Government Program? 

 

The 1980 amendments to the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, provided for 

the establishment of a CLG program to encourage the direct participation of local governments in 

the identification, evaluation, registration, and preservation of historic properties within their 

jurisdictions and promote the integration of local preservation interests and concerns into local 

planning and decision-making processes. The CLG program is a partnership among local 

governments, the State of California-OHP, and the National Park Service (NPS) which is 

responsible for administering the National Historic Preservation Program.  

NPS CLG Information 

Who can apply to become a CLG? 

 

Any general purpose political subdivision with land-use authority is eligible to become a CLG. It is 

the local government that is certified, not simply the preservation commission. 

What is the certification process? 

  

A completed application, signed by the chief elected official of the applying local government, will 

be reviewed by OHP. If the applicant meets the criteria, OHP will forward the application and 

recommend certification to the NPS who makes the final cerification decision. When the NPS is 

in agreement with OHP's recommendation, a certification agreement is signed by OHP and the 

local government, completing the certification process.  

CLG Manual & Application 

What are the requirements to be a CLG? 

 

CLGs must comply with five basic requirements: 

� Enforce appropriate state and local laws and regulations for the designation and protection 

of historic properties;  

� Establish an historic preservation review commission by local ordinance;  

� Maintain a system for the survey and inventory of historic properties;  

� Provide for public participation in the local preservation program; and  

� Satisfactorily perform responsibilities delegated to it by the state. 

 

More 

Why become a CLG? 

 

 What’s in it for the local jurisdiction? Why would you want to associate your local preservation 

program with state and federal programs? Would you be giving up autonomy? 

Answers  

Recommend Be the first of your friends to recommend this.

CA.gov  | PARKS Home Page  | Off-Highway Vehicles  | Site Index

Search

OHP PROGRAMS TOOLS PARTNERS COMMISSION

12/28/2011http://ohp.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=24494
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	AGENDA
	I. CALL TO ORDER (7:00 PM):
	II. CLOSED SESSION:
	III. CONVENE OPEN SESSION:
	A. ROLL CALL
	B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	C. REFERENCE TO THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PUBLIC.

	IV. ANNOUNCEMENTS/APPOINTMENTS/PRESENTATIONS/PROCLAMATIONS:
	A. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	1. Announcement of action taken at Closed Session, if any.
	2. Openings on Boards and Commissions:
	Library Board of Trustees 2  full terms Application Due Date: January 13, 2012
	Planning Commission3 full terms	 Application Due Date: January 13, 2012
	Arts and Culture Commission3 full terms Application Due Date: January 13, 2012
	Community Sustainability Commission 1  full term Application Due Date: January 13, 2012
	Benicia Housing Authority Board of Commissioners 2 full term Application Due Date: January 13, 2012
	Economic Development Board 1 unexpired term Application Due Date:  January 13, 2012
	SolTrans Public Advisory Committee 3 full terms Open Until Filled
	Sky Valley Open Space Committee  1 full term Open Until Filled
	Building Board of Appeals  3 full terms Open Until Filled
	Solano Transportation Authority Pedestrian Advisory Committee 1 full term Open Until Filled

	3. Mayor’s Office Hours: Mayor Patterson will maintain an open office every Monday (except holidays) in the Mayor’s Office of City Hall from 6:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. No appointment is necessary. Other meeting times may be scheduled through the City Hall office at 746-4200.
	4. Benicia Arsenal Update:
	FILES:
	[Benicia Arsenal Update: - Arsenal Update CITY COUNCIL MEETING 010312.doc]



	B. APPOINTMENTS
	C. PRESENTATIONS
	D. PROCLAMATIONS

	V. ADOPTION OF AGENDA:
	VI. OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT:
	A. WRITTEN COMMENT
	B. PUBLIC COMMENT

	VII. CONSENT CALENDAR (7:15 PM):
	A. Approval of Minutes of the special meetings of December 12, 2011 and December 20, 2011. (City Clerk)
	FILES:
	[Approval of Minutes of the special meetings of Dec - SPECIALMINI121211.DOC]
	[Approval of Minutes of the special meetings of Dec - SPECIALMINI122011.DOC]


	B. REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 2011
	FILES:
	[REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE INVESTMENT REPORT FOR - Agenda Report.doc]
	[REVIEW AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE INVESTMENT REPORT FOR - 2011.12 Sept 11 Signed Investment Report.pdf]


	C. ADOPTION OF THE 2012 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING CALENDAR
	FILES:
	[ADOPTION OF THE 2012 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  - Agenda Report.doc]


	D. Approval to waive the reading of all ordinances introduced and adopted pursuant to this agenda.

	VIII. BUSINESS ITEMS (7:30 PM):
	A. REVIEW OF PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION REGARDING THREE VINYL WINDOWS AT 410 WEST J STREET
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